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Chair’s statement
Welcome to this year’s annual report. There has been a great deal of progress and
success to recognise and celebrate through 2014/15. There have also been
significant challenges and pressures on our services this year.
Thanks to the hard work of staff right across the Trust, we have continued
to make progress on a number of fronts.
In July, our regulator Monitor announced that enforcement actions placed on the
Trust in November 2012 were to be lifted due to improvements on waiting times,
patient safety, the effectiveness and governance of our Board and our financial
planning. This announcement was testament to the hard work of our staff in
implementing a clear plan which improved our situation as quickly as possible. I am
sure that our progress has reassured our patients and partners on the quality of
services we provide and that we are all committed to maintaining these high
standards. However, as 2015/16 presents significant financial and performance
challenges to the Trust our focus remains firmly on delivery on our key targets and
standards. The Board is actively working to improve our financial sustainability with
measures both inside the Trust and across the wider health economy.
Our success as a high-quality health care provider stands or falls on the quality of
our staff. Demand for nurses has never been higher, in part due to the impact of
the ‘Francis Report’ into care at Mid-Staffordshire Hospital, and competition
nationally for qualified nurses is fierce. I am pleased that our recruitment
campaigns, which run nationally and internationally, are successfully attracting
highly-skilled applicants from around the world to come and work here in
Cambridge. In fact, we have more nurses in post than ever before. However, we
continue to work hard to recruit and retain even more to make sure we can
consistently staff our wards safely and with enough capacity to support ongoing
training and development.
We have also recruited at executive level to strengthen the Board. David Wherrett
has joined us as director of workforce, Paul James as chief finance officer, and Kate
Lancaster as director of corporate affairs. Fran Cousins, our long-standing chief
operating officer, announced she will be leaving the Trust after many successful
years here to pursue new opportunities and we all wish her well.
In October, our new electronic patient record system – eHospital – was introduced
across the Trust following three years of planning and a quarter of a million hours
of staff training. This is the single biggest investment in improving the quality of
our services in the history of our hospitals, and is the largest deployment of such a
system in the country. As the new system became live and staff began using it in
real-time, the eHospital roll-out did cause some significant performance issues at
the Trust, and for our GP partners. More detail on this major project can be found
in the quality account. I really appreciate the extra effort of staff and the support of
partners as we continue to refine the system and believe any problems are
outweighed by the benefits we are seeing for patients and staff. We should not
forget that eHospital will also help drive breakthroughs in healthcare, providing
researchers with a much richer source of data, and translate research more quickly
to patients. For these reasons, I am proud that the Trust is at the forefront of this
modern approach to healthcare, with all trusts required to have similar systems in
place by 2020.
In February this year, following intensive staff consultation, we launched our
refreshed values, setting out clearly the leadership and cultural behaviour we aspire
to here at the Trust. At the heart of our values is the recognition that we are at our
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best when we work together, to provide safe, kind and excellent care every day for
our patients.
Partnership working is the key to our success, especially in regard to those areas
where social care and health services closely overlap, such as care of the elderly.
We continue to have positive relations with our colleagues in our local councils,
primary care and other NHS organisations to explore how best we can work
together to resolve common issues and improve patient care and experience across
the region. A concrete example of this collaborative approach is the successful joint
bid with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust to provide better care
for the elderly and frail across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough through the new
Uniting Care Partnership. This was secured through the ‘Older People’s Programme’
procurement run by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning
Group.
This year has also been a strong year as a partner in Cambridge University Health
Partners, one of only six academic health science centres in the country. CUHP
coordinated a successful bid on behalf of the east of England to become one of the
Department of Health’s designated genome medicine centres, building on a pilot
scheme already underway here.
We look forward to welcoming new partners onto the Cambridge Biomedical
Campus including AstraZeneca who are relocating their global headquarters and
R&D centre, as well as the new Papworth Hospital and the Heart and Lung Research
Institute.
I would also like to recognise publically the support we receive from charitable
sources and our work with ACT (Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust) in particular,
providing additional resources to support our services through their fund-raising
activities.
The Trust has also, as I said earlier, faced a number of significant
challenges this year.
Our services have faced two big challenges this year, which has put huge pressure
on them and impacted on our ability to meet some national waiting time standards.
First, there has been an unprecedented and sustained demand for emergency care,
which has continued to rise throughout the year, without the expected seasonal
variations.
Secondly, we have a significant and growing number of elderly patients who are
medically fit to leave the hospital but are unable to do so due to lack of available
facilities in the community or at home. This leads to a shortage of beds in the
hospital for both planned and unplanned admissions, leading to longer treatment
times, cancelled operations and poorer experience for our patients. Our staff are
also being stretched for long periods of time. Capacity pressures led us to declare a
major incident for a short period in January, which was a difficult but correct call to
make for patient safety. We are working closely with our primary and community
care partners to mitigate this demand, but there is no quick fix for either of these
issues.
I would like to recognise that in addition to these pressures, staff have also been
acclimatising to the new eHospital system mentioned earlier, which added an extra
challenge for many onto a very busy day job.
Finally, this year we were shocked by the abuse carried out by former doctor Myles
Bradbury which he carried out whilst employed here as a children’s cancer doctor.
Bradbury was jailed for 22 years in December 2014 for offences against children
under his care. The length of his sentence reflected not only his appalling actions,
but Bradbury’s cynical betrayal of the trust placed in him by his patients, their
families and his colleagues. I would like to apologise again on behalf of the board to
our patients and families affected by this case, and we will continue to offer support
where needed.
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Scrutiny of, and comment on, NHS performance, funding and structures has
increased significantly during the year. Such debate is to be expected, given the
important role the NHS has in our society, but it can overshadow the fantastic work
done day in and out by NHS staff. To balance this, I would like to put on record my
thanks for the dedication of everyone who works here at the Trust.
With this in mind, I am committed to even greater public engagement locally,
building on the success of our Annual Members’ Meeting this year. The 250th
anniversary of the Addenbrooke’s Hospital in 2016 is a great opportunity to
highlight its history and positive future as a local hospital for the people of
Cambridge, and the influence we have as a national and international leader in
healthcare for the benefit of patients.
I would like to thank my fellow non-executive and executive director Board
members for their considerable work on behalf of the Trust this year. I will be very
sorry to be saying farewell to Lynne Berry and Dr Pat Troop later this year. Their
contribution to the board and the Trust as a whole, in Pat’s case for nine years, has
been as significant as their passion for the role has been evident. Pat pre-dates my
appointment and her wise counsel as my vice-chair has been most welcome over
the past two and half years. Lynne’s contribution will also be greatly missed she has
worked hard on behalf of the Trust particularly in overseeing our workforce agenda
at a time of great pressure.
As we look ahead, we know that 2015/16 will present significant challenges to CUH,
and that with our dedicated staff and our relentless pursuit of our values of safe,
kind, excellent, we will meet these challenges.

Jane Ramsey
CUH Chair
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2.

Strategic report

2.1

Our history, purpose and vision
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH), comprising both
Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie Hospitals, was one of the first foundation trusts to be
authorised under the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards)
Act 2003, and came into being in July 2004.
Our constitution defines our principal purpose as ‘the provision of goods and
services for the purposes of the health service in England’.
The Trust has its foundation in Addenbrooke’s Hospital which opened in 1766 in
Trumpington Street, Cambridge, as one of the first provincial teaching hospitals in
the country. By the 1950s, the hospital was experiencing difficulty accommodating
the expansion generated by the introduction of the NHS, and moved to Hills Road
and was officially opened by HM The Queen in 1962.
Today, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) has over 1,000
beds and 8,000 members of staff. We are one of the largest and best known trusts
in the country. The ‘local’ hospital for our community, delivering care through its
hospitals, Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie, CUH is also a leading national centre for
specialist treatment; a government-designated comprehensive biomedical research
centre; one of only five academic health science centres in the UK – as Cambridge
University Health Partners (CUHP); and a university teaching hospital with a
worldwide reputation.
Building on these different elements, CUH’s vision is to be the best academic
healthcare organisations in the world.
Our priorities focus on a quality service which is all about people – patients, staff
and partners. Our values – ‘Together– Safe, Kind, Excellent’ – are at the heart of
patient care, defining the way we work and behave.
We are grateful to Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) for its financial support
and the fundraising efforts of everyone within the Trust, and in the wider local
community, to raise charitable funds which help us to provide improved services for
our patients.

2.2

Review of the business
Overview of results for the year
The Trust’s financial results for 2014/15 were £6.8m worse than planned, with a
deficit for the financial year of £16.9m (Plan £10.1m deficit). However, this
headline figure includes the revenue costs of implementing our eHospital
development and once these costs are excluded, the underlying position was a
£1.6m surplus. Our continuity of service risk rating (CSR) was a score of 1 after
eHospital costs, and 3 excluding those costs. The planned CSR was a score of 3.
The Trust’s main challenge during the year was a lack of capacity to service
unprecedented levels of demand. The nature of that demand was also particularly
problematic, with increased emergency admissions, often of the frail elderly, who
tended to have a longer length of stay. This resulted in planned elective work
having to be curtailed in order to make bed space available, but it is this planned
elective work that is most profitable for the Trust and so the underlying impact of
this change in patient mix on the Trust’s finances was negative.
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The implementation of the Trust’s new eHospital system in October 2014 also
resulted in a loss of productivity as staff adapted to the new technology. The Trust’s
profit margins are so tight that any loss of productivity has a detrimental impact on
the bottom line. Realising the benefits of the eHospital implementation (£123m
over 10 years) will remain a key objective for 2015/16 in order to offset the
increased costs (£210m over 10 years).
The adverse financial impact of the capacity constraints was particularly noticeable
in relation to the Trust’s cost improvement programme (CIP) for the year. The
target CIP was £29.8m, but only £21.7m was ultimately delivered. The shortfall
was largely due to planned reductions in length of stay being impossible to achieve
due to the unexpected change in patient mix between elective and non-elective.

Table 01
Cost improvement programme 2014/15

CIP Workstream
Capacity
Contractual Management
Medicines Optimisation
Estates
Financial Governance
Medical Productivity
Nursing Productivity
Optimising Patient Testing
Outpatients
Pathways
Portfolio Strategy
Procurement
Recording Care
Theatres
Other Workforce
Divisional CIPs
13-14 Flowthrough
Non Recurring
Net Total

Year End March 2015
Budget Actual Variance
£m
£m
£m
4.0
0.8
-3.3
0.6
0.2
-0.4
2.1
1.5
-0.6
1.0
1.0
0.0
0.7
0.7
0.0
0.2
0.1
-0.1
0.4
-1.1
-1.5
1.4
1.9
0.5
1.2
0.6
-0.6
2.0
0.6
-1.4
1.8
1.2
-0.7
3.0
2.2
-0.8
3.0
2.4
-0.6
0.2
0.1
0.0
0.7
1.8
1.1
1.7
1.9
0.1
3.0
3.0
0.0
2.8
2.8
0.0
29.8
21.7
-8.2

Each year the national tariff is reduced and therefore the Trust receives less income
for the same amount of work. The resulting disparity means that the Trust has to
become more efficient year on year, either by reducing its costs in real terms, or by
doing more work with the same resources.
Operating income for the year increased by 0.7%, whereas operating expenditure
increased by 1.6%. The Trust also recognised a loss arising from the first year of
trading of the Pathology Partnership in which it is a 25% shareholder.
The need for a financial surplus is driven by the need to invest in the capital
infrastructure of the hospital and therefore the greater the surplus, the more cash
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is available to spend on improving facilities for patients, including medical
equipment. During 2014/15 the Trust invested £35.7m in new and replacement
capital assets (including £20.9m on the implementation of the new eHospital
system). The cash for this investment came in the form of a loan from the
Secretary of State for Health, since the Trust was unable to generate sufficient cash
internally to fund the investment itself.

Significant events after the balance sheet date
There have been no significant events after the balance sheet date.

Statement regarding audit
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the auditors are unaware and the directors have taken all of the steps that they
ought to have taken as directors in order to be aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

Going concern statement
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS
foundation trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the accounts.

2.3

Financial strategy
In line with many NHS acute providers, the Trust is facing a very challenging
financial outlook in 2015/16 and beyond. This is due to a number of factors, both
national and local.
In terms of the national context, there is a continued and increased expectation for
Trusts to make year on year efficiencies, due to a reducing tariff and increasing
costs. This requirement for the year is 3.8% for the Trust, in line with previous
years. The ability to continue to meet this level of efficiencies becomes increasingly
challenging as straightforward efficiencies have been achieved in previous years,
leaving more challenging transformational schemes.
A comparison of the results over the last two years, as shown in notes 2 and 3 to
the accounts, shows some significant changes in the Trust’s finances.
Firstly, elective income has reduced by £11m and has been substituted by nonelective income growth of £1m. This is due to the increased demand in non-elective
work coupled with the longer length of stay of those patients. That shift in activity
is remunerated at a reduced level, due to the marginal rate tariff. The strategic
imperative is for the Trust to return to a payment by results (PbR) income basis
and, at the same time, to rebalance the workload in order to enable it to optimise
elective income.
Secondly, there have been increases in pay and IT costs. The Trust therefore, as a
part of its financial recovery plan, needs to take steps to reduce its spend on both
pay and IT.
The local context is challenging for two reasons; firstly, the Trust is required to
achieve the efficiencies relating to its eHospital implementation. The Trust faces an
increased savings challenge in order to pay for the investment in quality that
eHospital brings. Secondly, the Trust is at full capacity, and needs to invest to be
able to provide all the care it is contracted to do. This investment is not adequately
covered by income, and therefore additional efficiencies are required to cover the
additional outlay.
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As a consequence of these and other pressures, for 2015/16 the Trust is planning
on a £28.7m deficit, after eHospital, and a £5.4m deficit excluding this investment.
In order to achieve this, total recurrent efficiencies of £40.7m are required, and an
additional £26.7m of non-recurring benefits.
The recurring savings are made up of core cost improvement schemes, and those
accruing through the use of eHospital. The Trust has an established transformation
programme, which examines opportunities throughout the organisation through a
number of workstreams relating to capacity, procurement, drugs and workforce
efficiencies. The scale of efficiency required is significantly more challenging than in
previous years, and delivery is high risk, although the Trust is committed to this
level of saving.
The additional non-recurrent benefits relate to a number of programmes, including
benefits accruing to the Trust through the proposed Forum development, an
innovative mixed use development comprising a hotel, private hospital, retail and
an education centre run by the Trust. It is anticipated that this will come to
financial close in year and will accrue significant benefits. There are a number of
other, smaller schemes which are also expected to accrue benefits in year.
The Trust recognises the need to return to a sustainable recurrent financial
position, and as such is developing a medium-term financial strategy to resolve the
underlying issues it faces.
The Trust has also entered into the Uniting Care Partnership LLP, with
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust. Uniting Care (UCP) was
successful in winning the tender to provide older peoples services to the whole of
Cambridgeshire for a five-year period. The Trust holds a 50% stake in the LLP. By
bringing together acute and community care in this way, it is anticipated that both
patient care and operational and financial efficiency can be improved. The
partnership is expected to break-even in year, although the Trust is holding a small
contingency for financial risk within the LLP.
For 2015/16, CUH will continue to act as host for Transforming Pathology
Partnership. The total liability for the Trust is as a 25% stakeholder in the
partnership.

2.4

Future developments and strategy
The short-term challenge
The local health economy’s (LHE) vision
CUH is part of the health and social care system in Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough and through its operational plan 2014/16, reaffirmed through its
membership of the LHE-wide system transformation programme, has committed
itself to operate in an integrated way with other organisations in the health system,
putting people’s best interests at the heart of all decision-making to achieve the
best care outcomes for patients, their carers and the population. By working
together in an open and transparent way, commissioners and providers of care aim
to maximise the wellbeing of the population and provide the safest, highest quality
care outcomes for residents and patients in our system. We jointly aspire to
commission and provide the safest, highest quality care and best service experience
within the resources available. We will also seek to maximise the amount of care
provided outside hospital as close to the person’s home as possible.
Key issues for our population
The joint strategic needs analysis (JSNA) identifies key issues for the Trust in a
number of areas:
children and young people
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older people
alcohol
smoking
gypsies and travellers
people with learning disabilities
Action underway or planned by the Trust is set out in our operational plan 2015/16.

National and local commissioning priorities
Our patients
We provide acute and specialist services to our local population and across the East
of England. Our patients predominantly come from Cambridgeshire, Essex, Suffolk
and Hertfordshire. CUH’s strength lies in the combination of its different roles to
catchment populations of between 500,000 and several million.
Commissioning for NHS funded care is spread across NHS England (NHSE), clinical
commissioning groups (CCGs) and local authorities. For the purposes of CUH our
main commissioners are NHSE and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG.
NHSE directly commissions 143 specialised services in line with national, clinically
set service specifications. However, the levels of growth in spending on specialised
services have now proven to be unaffordable for NHSE. The challenge for
commissioners and providers in the coming year is, therefore, to achieve the best
outcomes possible for patients within the constrained resources available.
NHSE are seeking to work closely with us to identify key areas for disinvestment,
required to fund new obligations and meet the tight funding envelope available. It
will also work collaboratively with all partners where preventive action in upstream
services can reduce pressure on complex care.
During the 2015-16 financial year there will be some services for which the
commissioning will transfer to CCGs. For the majority of the remaining services
NHSE aims to establish co-commissioning arrangements with the CCGs in 2015-16.

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG: commissioning
intentions 2014/15
Cambridgeshire has been identified as one of 11 ‘challenged health economies’
nationally. The CCG’s commissioning intentions for 2015/16 is, therefore,
underpinned by the need to provide a financially and structurally sustainable health
system.
A key action to deliver this has been the creation of a system wide fund to develop
and deliver a system transformation plan to reconfigure the systems services. The
CCG has been working in conjunction with all local providers to develop this over
the past year and work to develop this programme will continue throughout this
year.
The older peoples programme also remains core to the CCGs plans and UnitingCare
Partnership has now been awarded a contract to commission and deliver older
peoples mental health services, adult community care and emergency care for over
65-year-olds.
The ‘Better Care’ fund is also highlighted as a key opportunity for the New Year.
The initiatives developed through it over the next five years will aim to deliver the
following benefits:
a move from acute hospital-centred care to pathways that provide timely and
appropriate care delivered through a variety of service providers and care
givers
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greater emphasis on multi-disciplinary working across health and social care
leading to more effective care planning, early recognition of impending decline
and possible crisis and better co-ordination and targeting of resources tailored
to the service users’ needs
a transition to seven-day working to enable all agencies to respond in a timely
and effective manner
a more holistic approach to commissioning health and social care recognising
the importance of taking into account social, mental health and physical
conditions
greater personalisation of service response to users’ needs
enhanced support and guidance to carers
services which are responsive, timely and pro-active

Service changes at CUH and in the community
The following significant changes to our external environment have occurred in
2014/15:
Impact of unprecedented demand for non-elective care (further details in
section reviewing performance below).
We forecast last year that the debate in relation to Peterborough and
Hinchingbrooke Hospitals would continue into 2015-16, and this is happening.
In January 2015 Circle Healthcare indicated its intention to pull out of its
contract to run Hinchingbrooke Hospital citing funding cuts, increasing A&E
activity and a lack of joined-up reform between health and social services. The
NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA) is now progressing a managed
transition into regular NHS management. The role and position of
Hinchingbrooke creates opportunities across the health and social care system
to create a more effective focus for specific services in appropriate locations
across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.
Papworth NHS Foundation Trust (the UK’s largest specialist cardiothoracic
hospital) has secured permission to build its new 310-bed hospital on the
Cambridge Biomedical campus. Work has already begun on the site, with a
scheduled opening in 2018. The move will benefit the LHE through the joint
integration of services and strengthened clinical and research expertise through
co-location of Papworth with CUH, Cambridge University and pharma.
Changes in the financial treatment of the Pathology Partnership – a financial
remediation plan remains under discussion with the Trust.
CUH has been named as one of 11 genomics medicine centres (GMC) in the UK.
In a programme with an aim of accelerating the translation of outcomes into
mainstream healthcare, the establishment of a GMC on the biomedical campus
will allow researchers and clinicians to work together as part of Genomic
England’s Clinical Interpretation Partnership on whole genome data – an
attempt to map 100,000 patients’ complete genetic codes, paving the way for
new, effective treatments for patients with cancers and rare diseases.

Our strategies
Clinical strategy
New clinical strategies have been produced for each clinical directorate. These set
out proposals to develop services as the basis for future rounds of business
planning.
The clinical strategies have been set out alongside other Trust strategies in a new
internal publication, Our Strategy, as part of the process to ensure effective
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alignment between the clinical service and support services and infrastructure
development. Our Strategy has also been summarised for staff and will be launched
in June 2105.
Workforce strategy
As of 31 March 2015 the Trust employed six directors (four male and two female)
and 7,774.77 FTE employees in total (including directors and senior managers) of
which 2,029.78 FTE were male and 5,744.99 FTE were female.
These figures exclude staff in the Pathology Partnership (TPP), students, staff
group, bank, agency, honorary, capital, endowment and charitable trust funded
staff.
The Trust’s workforce priorities are aligned with the Trust’s vision to be the best
academic healthcare organisation in the world:
excelling in patient care
excelling as a centre for research
excelling as a university teaching hospital
Our priorities are to ensure the workforce is appropriately sized and skilled to meet
service demands, is engaged and motivated to provide excellent patient
care/experience and is affordable.
Further information regarding staff engagement is included in the directors’ report
(section three) and public interest (section seven).

Service changes at CUH and in the community
The Trust Board is committed to the principle of financial, operational and clinical
sustainability. The board progressed a number of strategic initiatives in 2014/15 to
promote sustainability and support system-wide efficiency gains and better
integration of services for patients:
Hosting the Pathology Partnership (TPP) – a joint venture between six
NHS Trusts in the East of England to provide both hospital and community
pathology services. By consolidating pathology services into a network of
laboratories across a wider geographical area, the partnership aims to deliver
significant efficiencies and benefits for patients, hospitals and GP surgeries.
eHospital – a world-class clinical information system driving new ways of
working both within CUH and between CUH and our partners, including as a
platform for the development of integrated care across primary, community
and secondary healthcare (based on its central use of the electronic patient
record) as well as for research and development.
UnitingCare (UCP) – a partnership with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
NHS Trust and MITIE as a member of an NHS-led, limited liability partnership.
UCP will provide improved integrated care for all older people’s healthcare and
adult community services in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough LHE from 1
April 2015 for the next five years.
A Trust-wide transformation programme to deliver a range of service and
cost improvements (CIPs) which will then be embedded as part of normal
business.
Capital funding for two additional operating theatres to provide
additional required operating capacity.
Approval to move to 24/7 consultant led services in the emergency
department in response to rising ED demand and the Keogh safety and quality
initiatives.
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Development of proposals for infrastructure development in cancer,
children and neuroscience. In summary:
o

a cancer diagnosis and treatment centre; and a possible second phase to
include ward accommodation

o

development of a two phase scheme dedicated to the care of children and
young people including realistic contributions from major philanthropic
sources; stressing the critical importance of supporting and continuing to
develop tertiary services for children at CUH

o

a neuroscience development to create a short-term solution to increase
capacity by developing a specialist elective area, refurbishing and enlarging
outpatient clinics for neurophysiology and neurology and expanding these
specialist services to regional catchment. The short term development
proposed will be fulfilled without major capital investment by maximising
use of already existing facilities and rearrange ward spaces

These remain the key strategic initiatives for CUH underpinning our refreshed
strategy.
The Trust is fully engaged with the local health economy system transformation
programme which is aiming to close the gap on the estimated £300m shortfall in
funding that the health economy is expected to face in the next five years.

Teaching and training
CUH is a teaching hospital for medical undergraduates and postgraduates, nurses
and students in other clinical professions. Patient-centred teaching is one of our
core activities and is central to our vision to be one of the best academic healthcare
organisations in the world. We are the teaching hospital for the University of
Cambridge through the School of Clinical Medicine and the Postgraduate Medical
Centre which provide the infrastructure and support to facilitate the education,
training and continuing development of postgraduate professionals in hospital
medicine, general practice and dentistry. Further information on education and
training of our staff is given in the director’s report (section three).

Research and development
CUH works strategically in partnership with other NHS organisations, universities,
research councils, research charities and industry to provide an outstanding
infrastructure that builds research capacity and supports excellence in clinical
research that will benefit patients. Further information on our research and
development activities is given in the directors’ report (section three).

2.5

Risks to short-term stability and resilience
Key risks identified by the Board of Directors using the board assurance framework
(BAF) include insufficient bed capacity, nurse staffing levels and lack of capital.
Further details are set out in the operational plan.
The BAF provides the Board of Directors with assurance that there is in place a
sound system of internal control to safeguard public and private investment, the
Trust’s assets, patient safety and service quality.
The design, content and use of the BAF were reviewed during 2014/15 to ensure
the Board’s attention was focused on its principal risks and on actions in hand to
address gaps in control and assurance.
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Each executive director reviews the risks against their portfolio once per month or
more often if required. Each risk on the BAF is assigned to a Board Assurance
Committee. The review of the BAF risks is included in the terms of reference of the
board assurance committees. Each committee reviews the risks regularly in their
meetings. The BAF is presented each month by the chief executive to the Board of
Directors.
On a rotational cycle the audit committee reviews two of the strategic risks
identified in the BAF with the responsible risk owner to confirm the accuracy and
consistency of the risk rating and to probe the risk owner about the controls and
assurances over that risk. This ensures that the BAF is a living document,
representing the issues of greatest concern to the Board of Directors.
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Table 02
Board assurance framework (BAF)
The top six risks identified in the 2014/15 BAF as reviewed by the Board of
Directors on 8 April 2015 were:

Risk Theme 1
Insufficient bed and theatre capacity to deliver required clinical activity resulting in a poor
care environment for patients (eg outliers): lack of isolation facilities, a poor patient
experience, missed targets and reduced income.
Vulnerability heightened by population growth, an ageing demographic and limited control
over community provision. Major Incident declared – 6 to 9 January 2015.

Key Controls

Board Assurance

Capacity programme in place with
fortnightly programme boards, reporting
to senior management team weekly and
transformation fortnightly.
24/7 active management of capacity and
activity through the ops centre and on-call
management team.
Escalation calls with the CCG and local
system as required.
Activity plans five years’ ahead developed
by divisions and co-ordinated through
business planning. Capacity requirement
forecasting in place.

Winter-readiness plan approved by
the Board of Directors in Sept 2014.
Monthly integrated board report on
relevant indicators and other targets
affected by capacity pressures.
Reviewed by Finance and
Performance Committee and Quality
Committee.
Emergency care intensive support
team – review and further advice
received in July 2014 further review
undertaken in Feb and March 2015 –
final report awaited.
Work commissioned on increasing
community rehabilitation capacity,
re-ablement and continuing care.

Winter plan in place.
Escalation ward available subject to
staffing levels.

Returning 25 beds to clinical use
underway.

CCG-led development of system-resilience
plans.
UnitingCare Partnership aiming to reduce
admission and length of stay.
System-wide plans in place for the
management of the urgent care pathway,
including the management of NHS 111 –
reviewed weekly in system-wide taskforce.
Five-year capacity paper discussed at
board in January 2015 – two further ward
developments approved (Rosie & Lewin).
Discussed at Board every month Nov 2014
to March 2015, and audit in July2014.
Escalation policy discussed at Quality
Committee Sept 2014

19

Creating 20 beds on the Lewin
underway.
Creation of additional paediatric
beds on C2 and C3 being
investigated.
Capacity programme in place.
Consideration of significant builds
scheduled for Board April 2015.
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Risk Theme 2
Unable to maintain safe nurse staffing levels because of increased activity, reduced nurse
staffing levels with use of contingency wards, and inability to recruit nurses.
Major Incident declared – 6-9 January 2015.

Key Controls

Board Assurance

Rostering system in place, standards
are set on nursing hours per patient
day and new nurses recruited.
Establishment control mechanisms
to ensure accurate vacancy data.
Nursing recruitment strategy in
place.

Integrated report to the public Board
of Directors.
Twice-yearly report on nursing and
midwifery numbers, acuity
dependency tools assess and
benchmark the Trust with similar
organisations.

Divisional reviews of vacancies and
corporate overview monthly.

Monthly reports on gaps in safe
staffing levels to the public Board of
Directors.

Tools to measure nursing levels
include birthrate+ for midwives and
the safe nursing care tool.

Bi-monthly reports to Workforce and
Education Committee re nursing
recruitment and retention.

Midwifery safe staffing levels
escalation policy in place.
Safety issues as a result of staffing
are detected through daily
monitoring, incident reporting,
investigated and actions taken.
Weekly meeting to review following
week’s rota fill across all wards /
divisions.
Weekly summary to the taskforce
group of red RAG wards (wards with
insufficient staffing levels postmitigation).
Increased visibility of nurse
education colleagues at monthly
senior nurse meetings (Nursing &
Midwifery Executive Committee).
Standing item on weekly senior
management team agenda and
bimonthly Workforce Committee,
and reported to Board of Directors
monthly.
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Risk Theme 3
The age of the hospital and its buildings, the historic under-investment in planned
maintenance and non-availability of spare capacity to enable the release of areas for
significant refurbishment is making it increasingly difficult to meet the NHS Constitution
requirement to ensure that ‘services are provided in a clean and safe environment that is fit
for purpose, based on national best practice’, and compliant with relevant health and safety
requirements.
It also leads to increasing unpredictability in the demands on the response maintenance
and capital budgets.

Key Controls

Board Assurance

Planned preventative maintenance
programme (c. £5m pa).
Budget for reactive maintenance (c.
£2.5m).
Deep-clean programme.
Estates return information returns
(ERIC) provide information on the
quantum of maintenance needs.
Quality monitoring against new
cleaning standards.
Head of compliance oversees estates
and facilities statutory compliance
and ensures the necessary policies,
procedures and governance
arrangements are in place.
Condition appraisal report produced
– March 2014 Finance and
Performance Committee and April
2014 Board of Directors.
Director of strategy, policy &
planning working to develop a more
strategic approach and timeframe to
capital development.
Capital projects approved by Board
of Directors in Nov2014.
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Patient-led assessments of the care
environment reporting regularly to
the council of governors on the
cosmetic appearance and cleanliness
of the infrastructure.
Statutory inspections take place
regularly (eg monthly fire safety)
giving assurances on compliance,
evidenced by the monthly report and
quarterly estates and facilities
update to the Board of Directors.
Health and Safety Executive have
powers to audit but generally are
reactive in response to reportable
incidents.
Internal audit of all aspects of
statutory compliance.
Condition appraisal report to go to
the Board of Directors annually.
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Risk Theme 4
TPP (Pathology Partnership) joint venture fails.

Key Controls

Board Assurance

TPP Board in place with chair, nonexecutive directors and chief
executive.
CUH executive group monthly
oversight meetings established.

Regular reporting to Finance and
Performance Committee including
attendance from representatives of the
partnership management.
Establishment project management
structure supporting the project.

Risk Theme 5
Lack of capital to invest in medical equipment, resulting in increasing failure rates and the
inability to invest in new service developments.
It also leads to increasing unpredictability in the demands on the response maintenance
and capital budgets.

Key Controls

Board Assurance

Medical Equipment Committee
meets quarterly and oversees the
assessment of demand, prioritises it
and ensures relevant documentation
and training is maintained.
Prioritisation process in place based
on risk, overseen by the monthly
Capital Advisory Board, results of
which are reported to the
operational executive and the Board
of Directors.
Process for considering emergency
bids on a case-by-case basis.
New service developments
considered by capital advisory
board, and in some cases the
Business Development Committee.
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Monthly capital update to operational
executive summarises the residual
risks.
New strategy considered by senior
management team and operational
executive in Dec 2014 and Feb 2015.
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Risk Theme 6
Failure to further reduce the incidence of healthcare-acquired infections leading to
unnecessary harm to patients.

Key Controls

Board Assurance

Infection control policies and
protocols such as hand-washing,
screen, isolation.

Regular compliance audits of infection
control protocols reporting to the
Infection Control Committee.

Infection control team in place and
dedicated staff dealing with infection
control.

HCAIs recorded and reported to
divisional directors, clinical directors,
operational executive, Quality
Committee and Board of Directors
monthly with benchmarking against
other trusts regionally and nationally.

All healthcare-acquired infections
undergo root cause analysis and
investigation.
All healthcare-acquired infections
investigated to identify potential
incidences of intra-hospital infection.

Regular healthcare-acquired infections /
divisional prevention of infection control
meetings.
Governor involvement in hand hygiene
audits.

Isolation facility.
Daily review of high risk infectious
patients by infection diseases team
(in particular MRSA and C.diff).
Cleaning policies and deep clean
programme.
New drug chart to deal with
antibiotic prescribing.
Limited list of anti-microbials.
Trust-wide antibiotic prescribing
programme reported to operational
executive.
Appeal process for all incidences of
C.diff with the CCG.
Additional infection control staff in
place.
Standing item at monthly Quality
Committee meetings.
Reported in monthly integrated
report.
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Trust vice-chair led review of infection
control policies in 2014.
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Quality
Quality strategy
With input from the council of governors, the Board of Directors agreed a five-year
quality strategy in 2013 which aims to ensure every patient receives the safest,
highest quality care personalised to their needs.
The focus is on ensuring that our patients have the best clinical outcomes, delivered
with compassion in a safe environment, resulting in the best possible experience.
The quality strategy outlines the approach everyone in our hospital will take to
improve quality between now and 2018. It builds on our strengths and
complements our governance, risk and safety infrastructure, but also addresses
those areas where we know we could improve. It outlines our priorities, and sets
out what success will look like in 2018, together with the framework for delivery
and the methodology for measuring our progress.
Details of our quality performance in 2014/15 and the aims which we have
established for 2015/16 are given in our quality report at section 9. This also
includes the detail of external reviews and audits of our services.

2.7

Productivity, efficiency and CIPs
The Trust’s transformation programme comprises a number of work streams to
deliver a range of service and cost improvement programmes (CIPs) which will then
be embedded as part of normal business. eHospital is also part of our overall
transformation agenda.

2.8

Other issues
Social, environmental community and human rights issues
The activities of CUH in the areas of social, environmental, community and human
rights issues are outlined in section 7 (public issues); section 10 (equality and
diversity report) and section 14 (sustainability and climate change).

2.9

Declarations
The Board of Directors, approved the strategic report at its meeting on 20 May
2014.
The accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by Monitor under the
National Health Service Act 2006.

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive

Jane Ramsey
CUH Chair

24

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

3.

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

The directors’ report
The directors’ report is presented in the name of the following directors who
occupied Board positions during the year.

Table 03
CUH directors in Board positions during 2014/15

Name

Title

Dr Jag Ahluwalia

Executive Medical Director

Ms Lynne Berry

Non-Executive Director

Mrs Frances Cousins

Chief Operating Officer

Mr Richard Eley

Interim Chief Financial Officer until 28 July 2014

Ms Ann-Marie Ingle

Chief Nurse

Mr Paul James

Chief Finance Officer from 28 July 2014

Dr Michael Knapton

Non-Executive Director

Prof Patrick Maxwell

Non-Executive Director

Dr Keith McNeil

Chief Executive

Dr Michael More

Non-Executive Director

Ms Jane Ramsey

Chair

Dr Andrew Richards

Non-Executive Director from 7 May 2014

Dr Peter Southwick

Non-Executive Director

Dr Pat Troop

Non-Executive Director

Mr David Wherrett

Director of Workforce

Further information on the directors appears in section 5.

3.2

Important events since the end of the financial year
affecting CUH
Since the end of the financial year the Trust has been inspected by the Care Quality
Commission. The outcomes of the inspection will be reported later in 2015.

3.3

Disabled employees
The Trust is a ‘Positive about Disabled People’ (‘Two Ticks’) disability symbol-user
and each year is assessed for reviewing the disability symbol commitments.
The Trust is a signatory of the ‘Mindful Employer Charter for Employers’ who are
‘Positive about Mental Health’.

3.4

Staff engagement
A quarterly programme of surveys has been introduced in the Trust to support
compliance with the mandatory surveys required of all NHS organisations, namely
the new quarterly ‘Staff Friends & Family Test’ introduced in 2014 and the longstanding national staff survey; as well as enabling a planned approach to additional
local initiatives, which includes the Trust’s own engagement survey. All staff are
invited to participate in the Trust’s surveys with the results acting as a vital
barometer of staff engagement, motivation and morale. The results from the
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comprehensive range of surveys informs the Trust’s target areas to support
improved staff engagement and experience; with all activity monitored by the
Workforce Experience Committee, chaired by the director of workforce.
Further detail is provided in the separate staff survey report (section 11).
We have in place a range of reward and recognition schemes which support CUH’s
refreshed values of ‘Together – Safe, Kind, Excellent’:
You Made a Difference Awards: our patients, the public and staff are invited
to nominate individuals who have been outstanding and made a difference to
them. Each month two members of staff are selected from the nominations to
receive an award from the chief executive and chair. All 24 monthly winners
are put forward for an annual award. Presentations are also made to those
teams who have been nominated and selected as quarterly winners.
Divisional Excellence Awards: an annual scheme to reward one team in
each division that has achieved an outstanding performance over the year, fully
supporting the Trust values and priorities.
Sheila Adams Leading by Example Awards: a scheme to recognise leaders
of any level in the Trust who have been nominated by their teams for their
excellence and selected as one of five annual winners.
‘Our Way’ annual award ceremony: an annual event, now in its sixth year,
celebrating the hard work and achievement of individual staff members and
teams hosted by the chief executive and chair.
Long Service Awards: one of the Trust’s long-standing schemes recognising
staff with service at CUH ranging between 10-40 years.
The Trust is committed to working in partnership with staff-side representatives of
the various professional bodies and trade unions recognised within the organisation.
The aim is to enhance effective communication and consultation to achieve greater
participation and involvement of all members of the Trust. Positive and effective
professional relationships are fostered through a number of groups including the
joint negotiating committee, management staff forum, equality, dignity and
diversity steering group and related sub–groups.

3.5

Staff engagement and awareness of financial position
CUH uses a variety of ways to provide employees with the information they need
about our activities, including our clinical, economic and financial performance.
Meetings of the management staff forum take place regularly throughout the year.

3.6

Strategic relationships and partnerships
Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) and academic health
science centre
Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) was re-designated for a three-year
period as an academic health science centre (AHSC) by the Department of Health in
April 2014, following a successful re-application process led by Regius Professor of
Physic and CUHP director, Professor Patrick Maxwell.
CUHP is a partnership with Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, the University
of Cambridge, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust, and
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. It is one of only six centres
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in England to be recognised as globally competitive due to the strength of its
translational research, clinicians and academics.
CUHP’s aim is to support world-class excellence in healthcare, research and clinical
education; and to improve health for people locally, nationally and internationally.
As part of the designation process for AHSC status, CUHP reviewed and refocused
its strategic vision to focus on six main programmes to support our vision:
supporting translational research
development of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus
medical informatics
educating and training tomorrow’s workforce
service innovation and improvement
philanthropy
Governance structures are in place to drive forward progress on these programmes
and they report to the CUHP Board of Directors. The service innovation and
improvement programme has been devolved to the Eastern Academic Health
Science Network and the medical informatics programme is being driven forward by
CUH via the eHospital programme.
The chair and the chief executive of CUH are ex officio directors of CUHP, as are the
chair and chief executive of Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, the vicechancellor of the University of Cambridge, the University Registrary and the Regius
Professor of Physic. There are also three further directors with both clinical and
academic responsibilities, one linked with each of the NHS trusts. The chairman of
the board is Baroness Helene Hayman, who took up her post in September 2014.
The executive director is Professor Patrick Maxwell, Regius Professor of Physic.
CUHP employs a small core team and the cost of this is shared equally between the
four partners. In 2014/15, the CUH contribution to cost of running CUHP was
£103,300.
The constitution of CUHP reserves a range of matters to the members or the Board
of Directorsas a means of ensuring that its activities are directed towards its objects
at all times and that members are not exposed to any unanticipated risks through
participation.
In extending and developing the successful CUHP model, there are plans to enlarge
the partnership with the inclusion of major organisations as associate members
which will include Cancer Research UK (part of the University of Cambridge); the
new Laboratory of Metabolic Science (LMB2) and other biomedical and biotechnical
enterprises that will form the Cambridge Biomedical Campus as it develops over the
next five years.
CUHP's work to achieve its vision and support its partners over the past year, has
led to AstraZeneca establishing a new global research and development centre on
the campus in 2016 followed by the Papworth Hospital moving to brand new facility
on the campus in 2018. Two partners, CUH and CPFT, successfully developed a
joint bid as the UnitingCare Partnership (UCP), to provide better care for the elderly
and frail across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough following a tender by the
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group.
CUHP also successfully led a coordinated bid to become one of the Department of
Health’s designated genome medicine centres, building on a pilot scheme already
underway here; and provided sponsorship of the University Technical College,
which welcomed its first students in September 2014, providing science education
to 14-19 year olds inside an impressive purpose-built building.
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Education and training
One strand of our tripartite mission is our activities in the field of education and
training, which supports excellence in the care which our staff provide for patients.
We work closely with the University of Cambridge to train the next generation of
doctors through the University Clinical School. The Postgraduate Medical Centre
(PGMC) continues to deliver the Health Education East of England Learning
Development Agreement (LDA). The centre has expanded its activities to deliver
over 350 days of training which is primarily for postgraduate medical education,
including a practice nurse education programme, GP primary care programme, and
a dental programme. The High-Fidelity Medical Simulation Centre run by PGMC
continues to deliver multi-professional and team based training and has been
successful in attracting funding for training programmes in many of the acute
specialties from Health Education East of England. Last year 1,154 delegates
attended the simulation centre for their multi-professional training. The PGMC
manage the Evelyn Cambridge Surgical Training Centre which is a state-of-the-art
facility providing advanced education to health professionals. The centre has
reached its second year of activity, and has delivered 46 courses attracting 826
national and international attendees. PGMC have conducted a number of
postgraduate exams on behalf of the royal colleges, and will continue to do so in
the future.
The high standard of healthcare education and training is evidenced by the recent
report to the Trust from Health Education East of England following their multiprofessional quality and performance visit to CUH. At the recent Health Education
East of England Performance Visit, CUH was congratulated on a number of areas of
notable practice. These included: strong and effective leadership for education and
training in a wide range of professional groups, the medical academic training
programme, excellent clinical supervision and excellent training programmes in
pharmacy and radiography.
The education quality assurance framework demonstrates the provision of excellent
multi-professional student and continuing professional development at CUH as
evidenced by the robust processes in place, evaluations of programmes, and
student and staff feedback.
The Trust is committed to the training and development of over 600 preregistration students including nurses, midwives, radiographers, physiotherapists,
dieticians, occupational therapists, operating department practitioners and
healthcare scientists whilst on clinical placements at CUH, to ensure they meet the
needs of the future workforce and patient care.
Healthcare support workers (HCSW) form an integral part of clinical teams and are
trained using a programme that meets national ‘Care Certificate’ standards and
utilises a competency-based approach. The Trust is working with Health Education
England to pilot a programme to provide prospective nursing students with a year
programme as a HCSW.
Bands 1 to 9 continuing education is managed via a plan agreed with Health
Education East of England and supports the provision of safe and effective patient
care, the development of new and existing services and developing leadership
capability across all staff. Many speciality programmes are well regarded and
delivered by Trust experts using blended learning and simulation approaches.
Unlocking the potential of existing staff in Bands 1–4 as well as bringing in new
talent via apprenticeships continues to underpin the Trust’s commitment to deliver
high quality, safe patient care whilst increasing the diversity and opportunities to
enable people to improve and progress within and beyond Bands 1-4.
The Trust continues to provide a range of leadership and management development
programmes and interventions as well as encouraging our leaders to access to
national and regional development programmes.
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The Trust has a multi-professional education and training group that provides a
forum for the development of strategic priorities to support excellent in education
and training with membership from the post-graduate medical education centre,
and representatives from professional groups and services.

3.8

Commercial partners – encouraging innovation
The Trust sits at the centre of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus and with our
partners in Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) seeks to develop the
campus as a centre of clinical, education and research excellence. To this end final
approvals have been reached enabling Papworth Hospital to relocate to the campus
in 2018 and in February 2015 Cambridge City Council granted planning approval for
AstraZeneca’s new global research and development centre and corporate
headquarters to be located on the campus, with the new site becoming operational
in 2016/17.
For its part the Trust is working with John Laing Investments Ltd to develop the
Forum, a mixed education and commercial development which will include an
education centre, hotel and conference centre, private hospital, car park and retail
units. Completely funded by private investors, the development is now being
considered for approval by the Treasury with financial close planned to be achieved
by 30 June 2015. On this basis it should be possible for the new development to
become operational towards the end of 2017. All of these developments will
support the objective of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus becoming a vibrant,
clinical, academic and research centre, competing with the very best biomedical
centres in the United States of America and Europe.
One of the purposes of the Cambridge Biomedical Campus is to better encourage
and support the identification, adoption and diffusion of innovative ideas, practices
and products, as set out in the NHS innovation strategy entitled ‘Innovation Health
and Wealth’ published by the Department of Health in 2011. As a consequence the
Trust has developed our own innovation strategy, with the objectives of improving
our performance in this area and providing better support and access to funds for
innovators and those individuals with good ideas who are employees of the Trust.
The focus has been very much on creating the culture and environment which
inspires and encourages innovation, from which commercial opportunities and value
will flow. Specific themes being addressed include:
• sharing best practice and encouraging an innovative culture
• developing effective partnerships
• supporting the Trust priorities
• utilising resources effectively and contribute to the financial health of the Trust
• creating and implementing a joint innovation funding stream with Addenbrooke’s
Charitable Trust
• using of appropriate metrics to demonstrate progress
• supporting the development of the University ‘Ideas Space’ on the Cambridge
Biomedical Campus
Good progress is being made and efforts going forward will be very much focused
on developing partnerships on the Cambridge Biomedical Campus and within the
wider city which will drive forward patient benefit locally, nationally and globally.

3.9

Research and development
CUH works strategically in partnership with other NHS organisations, universities,
research councils, research charities and industry to provide an outstanding
infrastructure that builds research capacity and supports excellence in clinical
research that will benefit patients. Strengths in biomedical science are harnessed
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and translated into clinical research through the National Institute for Health
Research (NIHR) Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) and Biomedical
Research Unit (BRU) in Dementia; partnerships between CUH, and the University of
Cambridge. Through Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP), CUH works
closely with Cambridge and Peterborough Foundation Trust, Papworth Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust and university of Cambridge to support research across all areas.
Support for clinical trials is provided by the Cambridge Clinical Trials Unit,
established in 2010 and gaining full registration with the NIHR Clinical Research
Network in 2013.
Outstanding facilities for experimental and clinical research exist within the
Addenbrooke’s Clinical Research Centre, which consists of the NIHR/Wellcome Trust
Clinical Research Facility (CRF), operating 24/7 with overnight accommodation
together with a day-time/five day per week Clinical Investigation Ward. Uniquely,
the CRF contains metabolic measurement technologies, including a 3-Tesla
Magnetic Resonance scanner dedicated to magnetic resonance spectroscopy, an
appetite laboratory and a nutrition resource. The Clinical Investigation Ward
includes a research endoscopy suite and an area dedicated to intravenous
treatment including cancer chemotherapies.
During 2014 / 2015 CUH has provided leadership for a number of national research
programmes. The NIHR BioResource a national recallable resource of over 50,000
volunteers from the general population and patients who have provided samples
and information that allows them to be recalled for research studies according to
their physical characteristics or genetic makeup. In parallel the NIHR BioResource Rare Diseases is collecting blood samples and clinical data from patients with rare
diseases and their close relatives. This provided the infrastructure for the pilot for
Genomics England Limited’s 100,000 genomes project, led by the Cambridge
Biomedical Research Centre in partnership with Illumina, which during 2014
sequenced 4,000 whole genomes from patients with rare diseases and their
relatives ahead of target. Through CUHP a partnership between Cambridge,
Nottingham, Leicester and Norwich successfully applied to be within the first wave
of Genomic Medicine Centres, established to now roll out the 100,000 genomes
project.
To support the physical characterisation (phenotyping) of patients with rare
diseases the Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre is leading, with the Newcastle
Biomedical Research Centre, the establishment of a Rare Diseases Translational
Research Collaboration to better define rare diseases through a national
infrastructure.
Partnerships continue to be strengthened. The move of Papworth Hospital to the
Cambridge Biomedical Campus will considerably enhance cardiovascular and
respiratory research. A partnership agreement with the MRC relating to shared
infrastructure has been put in place; a fellowship scheme with the European
Molecular biology Laboratory/European Bioinformatics Institute has been
established; joint research programmes with GlaxoSmithKline are in progress; new
approaches to working with Astra Zeneca are being pursued ahead of their move to
the campus: all providing tremendous opportunities to translate world-leading
research into benefit for patients.
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4.

Council of Governors

4.1

The Council of Governors
Since its inception in shadow form in March 2004, the Council of Governors has
developed into and continues to be a highly effective body which carries out a
number of statutory duties and brings the views of our patients, the public and our
staff to the forefront of the organisation’s direction of travel.

4.2

The composition of the Council of Governors
The council of governors is composed of 19 elected governors (eight patient, seven
public and four staff), nine appointed governors and up to four advisors. The
council is chaired by the Trust Chair, Ms Jane Ramsey and for the period covered by
this report Mrs Judy Ewer was Lead Governor until 30 June 2014, and was
succeeded by Mr Daryl Brown.

Elected governors
Table 04
Patient governors, representing and elected by the patient members of
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Mr Daryl Brown

elected in 2012 for a three-year term

Mr Tony Coad

elected in 2014 for a three-year term

Mrs Jane Coston

re-elected in 2012 for a three-year term

Mrs Elizabeth Howe

elected in 2013 for a three-year term

Mr Fred Jacobsberg

re-elected in 2014 for a three-year term

Mrs Georgina Pharaoh

re-elected in 2013 for a three-year term. Resigned in
June 2014

Ms Jane Ridley

elected in 2013 for a three-year term

Mr Tony Roberts

re-elected in 2010 for a three-year term. Term of
office came to an end on 30 June 2013. After a year’s
absence he was re-elected in July 2014

Mr Brian Walker

elected in 2012 for a three-year term

Ms Bev Woolmer

elected in 2011 for a three-year term. Stood down in
2014
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Table 05
Public governors, representing and elected by the public members of
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Miss Helen Burchmore

elected in 2011 for a three-year term. Stood down in
2014

Mr Tom Bygott

elected 2012 for a three-year term

Mrs Judith Ewer

re-elected in 2012 for a three-year term. Resigned in
June 2014

Mrs Gill Francis

re-elected in 2011 for a three-year term. Maximum
term of office came to an end in 2014

Mrs Anna Gallop

elected 2014 for a three year term

Mrs Wendy Menon

re-elected in 2013 for a three-year term

Mr Eric Revell

re-elected in 2012 for a three-year term

Mr Carlos de la Riva

elected 2014 for a three year term

Prof Patrick Smith

elected in 2012 for a three-year term

Mr Lorne Williamson

elected in 2014 for a three-year term

Table 06
Staff governors, representing and elected by the staff members of
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Mrs Christina
Champion

elected in 2013 for a three-year term. Resigned in
November 2014

Mrs Liz Hunt

elected in 2013 for a three-year term

Mr Peter Lester

re-elected 2014 for three-year term

Ms Ciara Moore

elected in 2012 for a three-year term

Following the resignation of Mrs Christina Champion, the Council of Governors
agreed on 3 December 2014 to defer the appointment of a replacement staff
governor until the scheduled elections in May 2015.
Three patient governors, one staff governor and three patient governors were
elected in 2014 for a three-year term by members of the NHS Foundation Trust
from the Trust’s tenth main elections, which closed at noon on Wednesday 11 June
2014. The elections in 2014 were ‘first past the post’, and the Electoral Reform
Services acted as returning officer and independent scrutineer.
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Table 07
Governor election turnout by constituency 2013 and 2014
2014

2013

Patient Constituency

37.5%

34.9%

Public Constituency

30.2%

29.1%

Staff Constituency

15.9%

16.5%

Partnership governors
Table 08
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) governors
Ms Maureen Donnelly

appointed by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
in June 2013 for a term of three years

Table 09
Local authority governors
Cllr Robert Dryden

appointed by Cambridge City Council in July 2014 to
replace Cllr Jean Swanson until the next Annual
Council meeting (May 2015)

Cllr Roger Hickford

appointed by Cambridgeshire County Council in June
2013 to replace Cllr Tony Orgee for the remainder of
the life of the Council (to May 2017)

Cllr Jean Swanson

re-appointed by Cambridge City Council in May 2013
until the next Annual Council Meeting (June 2014)

Table 10
University/ Clinical School governors
Professor David
Humber
Professor Andrew
Lever

re-appointed by Anglia Ruskin University and
Cambridge Regional College in August 2013 for a
three-year term. Resigned from the Council in July
2014
re-appointed by the School of Clinical Medicine,
University of Cambridge, in July 2010 for a threeyear term. Re-appointed again in July 2013 for a
further three year term until 2016

Dr Jonathan Nicholls

re-appointed by the University of Cambridge in May
2013 until June 2016

Professor Ruth Taylor

appointed July 2014 for a three-year term to replace
Professor David Humber
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Table 11
Other partnership governors
Mr Keith Spencer

Mr Stephen Leogold

Professor John
Wallwork
Dr John Wells

appointed as partnership governor in October
2013 for three years to represent Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust.
Replaced by Mr Stephen Leogold in February 2015
appointed as partnership governor in February
2015 for three years to represent Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough NHS Foundation trust to
replace Mr Keith Spencer
appointed as partnership governor in February
2014 for three years to represent Papworth
Hospital NHS Foundation
appointed by Cancer Research UK to represent
research organisations on the biomedical campus
site in July 2013 for a three-year term

Advisors
The Board of Directors can select up to four advisers and recommend them to the
Council of Governors for appointment. The Council of Governors shall make the
final decision whether to appoint those recommended. Advisers have no voting
rights and act in an advisory capacity only when carrying out their functions
relating to the Trust.
Advisors are individuals who are appointed by the Board of Directors with the
agreement of the Council of Governors to advise the Council of Governor. Advisors
don’t have voting rights.

Table 12
Advisors
Mr Roger Quince

4.3

re-appointed as an advisor representing West Suffolk
NHS Foundation Trust in January 2014 for a threeyear term

Register of governors’ interests
All governors are asked to declare any interests on the register of governors’
interests at the time of their appointment or election. This register is reviewed and
maintained by the Trust secretary. The register is available for inspection on the
Trust website. Any enquiries should be made to the Trust secretary at the following
address:
Trust secretary, Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust,
Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ or telephone
01223 256256.

4.4

Governors’ expenses
Governors participating in events like council meetings and whose expenses are not
paid by another organisation are entitled to claim expenses. Expenses are
reimbursed at rates agreed by the Council of Governors, who have adopted HMRC
approved amounts.
Expenses to be reimbursed include:
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Travel by car, motor cycle or bicycle; public transport on a like for like basis on
provision of a receipt; receipted costs for caring arrangements at rates up to £10
per hour; expenses for a companion required to enable the individual to participate;
costs for interpretation.
Details are available in the remuneration report in section 7.
The full policy is available from the Trust secretary (address above).

Table 13
Attendance at Council of Governors’ meetings 2014/2015
Name

Title

Ms Jane Ramsey

Trust Chair

Mr Daryl Brown

Lead/Patient Governor

4 out of 5

Miss Helen Burchmore

Public Governor

1 out of 1

Mr Tom Bygott

Public Governor

2 out of 5

Ms Christina Champion

Staff Governor

1 out of 3

Mr Anthony Coad

Patient

2 out of 3

Ms Jane Coston

Patient Governor

4 out of 5

Mrs Maureen Donnelly

Partnership Governor

2 out of 5

Cllr Robert Dryden

Partnership Governor

2 out of 4

Mrs Judy Ewer

Public Governor

1 out of 1

Ms Gill Francis

Public Governor

1 out of 1

Mrs Anna Gallop

Patient Governor

4 out of 4

Cllr Roger Hickford

Partnership Governor

4 out of 5

Mrs Elizabeth Howe

Patient Governor

Prof David Humber

Partnership Governor

0 out of 1

Ms Elizabeth Hunt

Staff Governor

4 out of 5

Mr Fred Jacobsberg

Patient Governor

4 out of 5

Mr Peter Lester

Staff Governor

4 out of 5

Prof Andrew Lever

Partnership Governor

4 out of 5

Mrs Wendy Menon

Public Governor

4 out of 5

Mrs Ciara Moore

Staff Governor

4 out of 5

Dr Jonathan Nicholls

Partnership Governor

4 out of 5

Mrs Georgina Pharaoh

Patient Governor

1 out of 1

Mr Roger Quince

Advisor

3 out of 5

Mr Eric Revell

Public Governor

2 out of 5

Ms Jane Ridley

Patient Governor

4 out of 5

Mr Carlos de la Riva

Public Governor

3 out of 4

Mr Anthony Roberts

Patient Governor

3 out of 4

Prof Patrick Smith

Public Governor

3 out of 5

Mr Keith Spencer

Partnership Governor

2 out of 4

Cllr Jean Swanson

Partnership Governor

1 out of 1

35

Attendance
(out of five
unless stated)
5

5

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Prof Ruth Taylor

Partnership Governor

2 out of 4

Mr Brian Walker

Patient Governor

Professor John Wallwork

Partnership Governor

1 out of 5

Dr John Wells

Partnership Governor

4 out of 5

Ms Bev Woolmer

Patient Governor

1 out of 1

Mr Lorne Williamson

Public Governor

3 out of 4

5

There were five meetings of the Council of Governors during 2014/15.
Dr Keith McNeil, Chief Executive, attended three out of five Council of
Governors’ meetings. Non-executive directors and executive directors also
attended.

4.5

Governors’ activities
As a direct result of the task-force and communications group set up to review how
governors’ contribute to, and engage with, the public could be strengthened, the
three previously existing governor/director working groups were disbanded and
replaced by two groups named:
scrutiny and performance
communications and engagement
The groups continue to ensure that the views of the members and the wider
patients and public are brought directly to the directors and also to ensure that
governors are up-to-date on key issues of concern and interest.
All governors and directors are invited to attend either or both of these groups.
Governors can access papers and information through the governors’ extranet. The
secure governors’ extranet has streamlined many of the routine communications
between governors and the Trust and has enabled the use of forums for interaction
between governors as well as easy and instant access for governors to Trust
documents, calendars and both local and national health-related news. In addition a
weekly ‘Governors’ Digest’ is emailed to all governors to update governors on
hospital news, national policy initiatives of relevance to governors, forthcoming
diary dates and press coverage for the preceding week. It is issued on a Thursday
and contains links to further information on the extranet.
Governors also seek information on issues of current interest and concern to the
public during their visits to community groups throughout the local area and by
speaking to patients and visitors at focus groups, during ward visits or via the
governors’ mailbox. This year governors have taken part in five focus groups
ranging from clinical subjects such as Emergency Theatres and Physiotherapy, to
other organisational issues such as picture menus, site landscape design and public
art.
The governors attend any event where their presence or input is requested. They
have worked hard during the year to develop their engagement with members and
the public, speaking to a number of council and community groups. They have
hosted successful ‘Medicine for Members’ lectures dealing with dementia care,
osteoporosis, post traumatic stress disorder and palliative care.
Governors also have access to different community-based groups via contact with
the Cambridge Forum of Disabled People, the Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum,
Cambridgeshire Older Peoples’ Enterprise (COPE) and both formal and informal
contact with members of Healthwatch.
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The senior independent director (SID) is key to ensuring open interaction and
dialogue between members, governors and directors, and the lead governor and
the Trust’s SID work closely. Governors meet quarterly with the non-executive
directors and also separately with the chief executive in order to be briefed directly
at the highest level on Trust issues, priorities and developments as they arise.
Governors have been actively involved in the development of the annual plan and
the Trust’s quality account (see section 9).
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5.

Board of Directors

5.1

Board of directors
The Board of Directors comprises full-time executive and part-time non-executive
directors, the latter chosen because of their knowledge, areas of relevant expertise,
and experience. The role of the Board is to provide effective and proactive
leadership of the NHS Foundation Trust; to set the strategic aims of the Trust,
ensuring the quality, safety and effectiveness of the services provided and ensuring
that the Trust is well-governed in every aspect of its activities.
The description below of each of the current director’s expertise and experience
demonstrates the balance, completeness and relevance of the skills, knowledge and
expertise that each of the directors bring to the Trust.
The Board of Directors met 17 times during the year under review.

5.2

Board and committee effectiveness
The performance of the Board of Directors is reviewed collectively as part of an
independent board evaluation process; and individually, with each board director
undertaking performance appraisal with either the chief executive (executive
directors) or chair (chief executive and non-executive directors). The chair is
appraised by the senior independent director and the lead governor.

5.3

Non-executive directors
Ms Jane Ramsey – CUH Chair
Areas of special interest/responsibility: strategic planning and liaison with
external bodies
Jane became chair of CUH in November 2012. A lawyer by profession with
experience at all levels of the NHS – local, regional and national – Jane is one of the
country’s most experienced NHS non-executives.
In her role as chair, Jane leads the Board of Directors and is responsible for
ensuring that patients receive the best care. With the chief executive she also
oversees the strategic direction of the Trust looking at how services should develop
for the future. Jane is chair of the CUH Council of Governors, working closely with
them so the views of the Trust’s membership – staff, public, patients and partners
– are at the heart of our work at CUH. She joined the Trust from University College
London Hospitals (UCLH) where she was vice-chair.
Jane was chair of Lambeth Primary Care Trust for five years. She was also a nonexecutive member of the Department of Health Audit and Risk Committee for six
years and has undertaken a range of non-executive roles including lay member of
the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain; chairing a local housing
association; and vice-chair of Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham Health Authority.
During her time as an associate board member of the NHS in London, Jane was
appointed to provide support and challenge to NHS boards as they prepared to
apply to become foundation trusts.
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Ms Lynne Berry – Non-executive Director – Senior Independent Director (SID)
Areas of special interest / responsibility: chair of workforce and education
committee, member of audit and remuneration & nomination committees and
governor/director working group on communications and engagement
Lynne is chair of the newly created Breast Cancer Research Charity (Merger of
Breakthrough Breast Cancer and Breast Cancer Campaign), chair of the
Commission on the Voluntary Sector and Ageing, deputy-chair of the Canal and
River Trust and a Professor at Cass Business School, City University, London. She
has held five chief executive posts: Women’s Royal Voluntary Service, the General
Social Care Council, the Equal Opportunities Commission, the Charity Commission
and the Family Welfare Association. She has served on many government board of
directors including the Office of Civil Society Advisory Board, the Social Action Fund
and several Better Regulation Task forces. She has wide non-executive experience
in the public and voluntary sectors.
Lynne was appointed as senior independent director with effect from 01 April 2013.

Dr Michael Knapton – Non-executive Director
Areas of special interest / responsibility: chair of business development
committee, member of quality, remuneration & nomination and workforce and
education committees and governor/director working group on communications and
engagement, NED lead for sustainability
Michael has in-depth knowledge of primary and community healthcare having spent
30 years working as a GP in Cambridge. He has held many key roles in primary
care including chairman of Cambridge City Primary Care Group. He is also associate
medical director of the British Heart Foundation. In the late 1990s Michael worked
in the cardiology department at Addenbrooke’s and trained as to be a doctor at
University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke's from 1977 to 1982.

Professor Patrick Maxwell – Non-executive Director
Areas of special interest/responsibility: director of Cambridge University
Health Partners (CUHP); chair of quality committee; member of audit committee
and remuneration & nomination committee
Patrick undertook postgraduate clinical and research training in nephrology and
general medicine at Guy's Hospital and in Oxford. He was appointed as university
lecturer and then Reader at the University of Oxford. In 2002 he moved to the
professorship of nephrology at Imperial College, followed by the chair of medicine
at University College London in 2008. He was appointed Regius Professor of Physic
and head of the School of Clinical Medicine of the University of Cambridge in 2012.
Patrick has served on a number of national grant committees and holds a Wellcome
Trust senior investigator award.
Patrick was elected a fellow of the Academy of Medical Sciences in 2005. He is
currently chair of the Medical Research Council’s Molecular and Cellular Medicine
Board.
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Dr Michael More – Non-executive Director
Areas of special interest / responsibility: chair of audit committee, member of
finance & performance, remuneration & nomination, workforce and education, and
business development committees, member of governor/director working groups on
scrutiny and performance
A Cambridge resident, and an experienced non-executive director, Michael was the
chief executive of Westminster City Council from April 2008 to 31 December 2013,
having previously been the chief executive and director of resource management of
Suffolk County Council. He has a strong background in public finance and audit,
having started his career in the National Audit Office and undertaken roles in audit
and finance at Cambridgeshire County Council.
Michael’s non-executive roles included non-executive director on the Joint Venture
Board for the University Campus Suffolk and chair for the Prince’s Trust. Michael
also held a representative role on the Olympic Games Transport Board, overseeing
the overall transport consequences of hosting the Games in London.

Dr Andrew Richards – Non-executive Director
Areas of special interest / responsibility: member of finance and performance
committee; member of business development and remuneration & nomination
committees, and governor/director working group on communications and
engagement
Andrew was appointed to the Board in May 2014. His experience in business and
healthcare innovation, which coupled with his well-established links within
Cambridge, is a significant support to the Trust in realising its ambition as a global
healthcare leader.
A Cambridge graduate with a PhD in chemistry, Andrew is currently chair of Ixico
plc, Congenica, Novacta, Abcodia, Cambridge Temperature Concepts and the British
Science Association. He is a director of IESO Digital Health, Arecor, Cancer
Research Technology (commercial arm of CR-UK) and Babraham Bioscience
Technology.
His early career spanned positions with ICI (now AstraZeneca) and PA Technology,
and he was a founder and executive director of Chiroscience. Since 1999 he has
founded and invested in new mainly Cambridge-based healthcare companies, with
more than 20 innovative ventures over the last 14 years. These include companies
such as Vectura, Arakis, Cambridge Biotechnology Ltd and Geneservice. Andrew is
also a founder member of the Cambridge Angels investors’ group

Dr Peter Southwick – Non-executive Director
Areas of special interest/responsibility: chair of finance and performance
committee; member of audit, quality and remuneration and nomination
committees, and governor/director working group on scrutiny and performance,
NED lead for security
Peter is former corporate director of quality and development at Mittal Steel. He
holds a MA in natural sciences and a PhD in metallurgy from the University of
Cambridge. Peter held various management positions with Inland Steel Company
from 1980 before being promoted to vice-president, quality and strategic planning
in 1992 and subsequently vice-president of operations in 1996. When the company
joined Ispat International in 1998 he became executive vice-president of operations
and was promoted to president and CEO in 2000 of the US subsidiary, and joined
the Board of Ispat International.
Peter’s current non-executive roles include chairman of Hills Road Sixth Form
College and board member of the Nanosteel Company. His former non-executive
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experience includes non-executive director of NHS Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough, board member of H2Gen Innovations and steel companies in
Canada, USA and Germany.

Dr Pat Troop – Vice-chair
Areas of special interest/responsibility: member of quality committee,
governor/director working groups on scrutiny and performance, remuneration &
nomination, trust constitution committee, clinical ethics forum, equality, dignity and
diversity steering committee; NED lead for the elderly, safeguarding adults and
infection control
Pat is vice-chair of CUH. She brings an in-depth knowledge of health across local
and national organisations from her 40-year career in public health and healthcare
including five years as deputy chief medical officer of England and five years as
chief executive of the Health Protection Agency. She also held regional and
academic posts in public health and was chief executive of Cambridge Health
Authority and Cambridgeshire Family Health Services Authority.
Pat retired in 2008 and since then has carried out a number of reviews, both in the
UK and internationally and chaired a number of national committees.
Pat was appointed vice-chair with effect from 01 April 2013.

5.4

Executive directors
Dr Keith McNeil – Chief Executive
Areas of responsibility include: accounting officer, responsible for running the
Trust’s business, ensuring its obligations and targets are met within a framework of
prudent and effective systems of internal control
An internationally recognised expert in the fields of lung transplantation and
pulmonary vascular disease, Keith was appointed as chief executive in November
2012. He joined CUH from one of the largest health services in Australia – Metro
North Health Service in Brisbane – where he had been chief executive since 2008.
As CUH Chief Executive, Keith oversees how the Trust is managed, ensuring
patients receive high quality safe care. His role also means that he is accountable
for the financial management of the Trust and for its strategic development.
Keith spent two years as a senior transplant fellow at Papworth Hospital and a
further five years working jointly at Papworth and CUH as a cardio-pulmonary
transplant and respiratory physician and director of the pulmonary vascular disease
unit. During this time, Keith was pivotal in establishing the UK’s centre for
pulmonary endarterectomy at Papworth and was an adviser to the Department of
Health on pulmonary hypertension.
Keith began his chief executive career in 2007 in his native Australia at the Royal
Brisbane and Women’s Hospital, a 980-bed teaching hospital, one of the largest
teaching hospitals in the southern hemisphere. In 2008 he was appointed professor
of medicine at the University of Queensland.
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Dr Jag Ahluwalia – Executive Medical Director
Areas of responsibility include: clinical governance; patient safety and quality;
infection control; clinical networks; GP liaison; undergraduate education; postgraduate education
Jag has worked for the NHS since 1986. He was appointed as a consultant
neonatologist in 1996.
Jag was elected senior officer of the British Association of Perinatal Medicine, 2003
to 2009, and was associate medical Director from 2004 until being appointed as
medical director in April 2008. He is currently chair of Monitor's Medical Advisory
Group for acute trusts and co-chair of the East of England Medical Directors' Forum.

Mrs Frances Cousins – Chief Operating Officer
Areas of responsibility include: clinical and operational services, performance
management; informatics, eHospital programme, transformation programme and
emergency planning
Frances joined the NHS as a member of the graduate management training scheme
in 1995. She worked in operational management in London and at Addenbrooke’s
Hospital, prior to joining the Prime Minister’s Office of Public Service Reform as a
policy advisor in 2002. Frances managed the Trust’s successful application for
foundation trust status and was appointed as an executive director of the newly
formed Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in 2004. In 2008 she
became the executive director for informatics and in 2013 the chief operating
officer.

Mr Richard Eley – Interim Chief Financial Officer (until 28 July 2014)
Richard was appointed as the interim chief financial officer on 2 September 2013.
Further details of his expertise and experience can be found in our annual report
2013/14.

Ms Ann-Marie Ingle – Chief Nurse
Areas of responsibility include: nursing and midwifery strategy and standards,
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults, allied health professionals, patient
experience, and leading the Trust response to the Francis Inquiry
Ann-Marie joined the Trust in March 2014 as chief nurse. She has over 25 years’
experience in the NHS and a background in critical care and nurse education.
Ann-Marie spent five years as director of nursing at Papworth Hospital from 2008 to
2013. She has spent many years in senior nursing and management roles, and nine
years in nurse education. Since qualifying as a registered general nurse, her clinical
practice focused on cardiothoracic medical and surgical nursing, with a special
interest in intensive care.

Mr Paul James – Chief Finance Officer (from 28 July 2014)
Areas of responsibility include: overseeing the financial management of the
Trust including managing contracts, commercial development, procurement and
estates
Paul James took up his executive position as chief financial officer (CFO) in July
2014 joining the Trust from NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde, the largest of
Scotland’s health boards, where he was director of finance.
Paul is a chartered accountant. After qualifying in 1978 he spent several years in
industry and consultancy. During his career Paul has worked with both central and
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local government and public sector organisations. He has held finance director
positions in both the private and public sectors and he has also been a partner in
two professional firms.
Paul brings a significant amount of experience of financial leadership as well as a
very strong understanding of the complexity and broader context of an organisation
like CUH. His focus will be to ensure a sound financial footing for the Trust as it
progresses its ambitious plans for the future. His commercial background will help
to generate support for the services and care we provide for patients and add value
to CUH’s future.
Paul’s has held previous roles at the Ministry of Defence, the Department of Health,
the Metropolitan Police, a London council and a primary care trust. Paul brings this
breadth of experience to his role at CUH.

Mr David Wherrett – Director of Workforce
Areas of responsibility include: human resources (including medical staffing);
organisational development and design, health and safety, recruitment, employee
relations, occupational health, pensions and voluntary services
David joined the Trust in April 2014 and leads on all aspects of the Trust’s
workforce agenda including human resources, staff health and wellbeing, medical
staffing, learning and development, temporary staffing and volunteering.
David has worked in human resources for over 20 years in various organisations.
He has spent the majority of his recent career in the NHS, working primarily in
provider organisations. His primary focus is to ensure that CUH supports its staff to
deliver excellent care for patients and carers.

5.5

Board advisors
Ms Kate Lancaster – Director of Corporate Affairs (from 2 September 2014)
Kate Lancaster, director of corporate affairs took up post in September 2014 to
cover a wide portfolio including corporate governance, compliance, public
engagement, legal services, and communications and also contributes to the
formulation of strategy, policy and delivery of corporate and statutory objectives.
Kate has experience in corporate governance, communication, stakeholder
engagement and change management in highly complex environments having
worked in the NHS in both Scotland and England for more than 20 years. Kate
joined the Trust from the specialist Trust, Papworth Hospital where in addition to
the corporate services portfolio she led the hospital’s charity and undertook two
additional roles namely, director of communications for the Eastern Academic
Health Science Network and director of corporate services for Cambridge University
Health Partners.

5.6

Appointment of chair and non-executive directors
Process for appointment
The Council of Governors has the responsibility for appointing the chairman and the
other non-executive directors in accordance with the constitution and in line with
relevant legislation.
Candidates are nominated by the Council of Governors’ Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, who (except in the case of the Regius Professor of
Physic) select and approve non-executive directors.
This committee must comprise one public, one patient, one staff and one partner
organisation governor. It is chaired by the chair of the Trust for non-executive
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director appointments only, and by a governor for all its other functions including
the appointment of the Trust chair.
Non-executive director appointments are for a term of three-years. Following this
term and subject to satisfactory appraisal, a non-executive director is eligible for
consideration by the Council of Governors for a further uncontested term of office of
three-years. Following that period, and as long as the individual’s term as a nonexecutive director has not exceeded nine-years, they are able to apply for a further
three-year term of office through a process of open competition.
When undertaking its nomination responsibilities, the committee reviews the
structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience)
required of the Board of Directors compared to its current position and makes
recommendations for change when appropriate.
The removal of a non-executive director requires the approval of three-quarters of
members of the Council of Governors. Details of the criteria for disqualification from
holding the office of a director can be found in paragraph 10.12 of the constitution.
Disclosures of the remuneration paid to the chair, non-executive directors,
executive director and senior managers are given in the accounts. Please also see
the remuneration report (section 7).

5.7

Register of interests
At the time of their appointment, all directors are asked to declare any interests on
the register of directors’ interests.
This register is reviewed on a monthly basis and maintained by the Trust secretary.
The register is available for inspection by members of the public. Anyone who
wishes to see the register of directors’ interests should make enquiries to the Trust
secretary at the following address:
Trust secretary, Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust,
Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ or telephone
01223 256256.

5.8

Non-executive directors’ expenses
CUH is committed to reimbursing expenses incurred on Trust business to the chair
and non-executive directors at rates set by the Council of Governor. Travel by car,
motor bicycle or bicycle is reimbursed at the HMRC approved amount for mileage
payments. If travelling by public transport, the cost of travel will be met and chairs
and non-executives directors are expected to take advantage of any reduced fares
available. Subsistence allowances are payable if non-executives directors have been
away from home on Trust business for more than five hours, except where meals
and refreshments were provided. The full policy is available from the Trust
Secretary (address above).
Meeting dates: 09 April 2014; 14 May 2014; 21 May 2014; 11 June 2014; 09 July
2014; 16 July 2014; 03 September 2014; 10 September 2014; 08 October 2014;
22 October 2014; 12 November 2014; 10 December 2014; 14 January 2015; 04
February 2015; 11 March 2015 and 25 March 2015.
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Table 14
Attendance at Board meetings 2014/15
Name

Title

Attendance*

Dr Jag Ahluwalia

Executive Medical Director

15

Ms Lynne Berry

Non-Executive Director

11

Mrs Frances Cousins

Chief Operating Officer

16

Mr Richard Eley

Interim Chief Financial Officer until 28
July 2014

6 out of 6

Ms Ann-Marie Ingle

Chief Nurse

13

Mr Paul James

Chief Finance Officer from 28 July
2014

10 out of 11

Dr Michael Knapton

Non-Executive Director

16

Prof Patrick Maxwell

Non-Executive Director

10

Dr Keith McNeil

Chief Executive

17

Dr Michael More

Non-Executive Director

14

Ms Jane Ramsey

Chair

16

Dr Andrew Richards

Non-Executive Director from 7 May
2014

8 out of 14

Dr Peter Southwick

Non-Executive Director

14

Dr Pat Troop

Non-Executive Director

14

Mr David Wherrett

Director of Workforce

17

* Out of 17 unless otherwise stated

5.9

Audit Committee
Membership of this committee is made up of non-executive directors and was
chaired by Dr Michael More.
The committee held five regular and one special meeting during the year. The
committee’s primary role is to oversee the governance and assurance process and
the effectiveness of risk management systems and the control environment,
including the Trust’s financial systems and annual financial statements. It considers
any matters concerning the external auditors, and also the adequacy of our internal
audit arrangements.

Table 15
Attendance at audit committee meetings 2014/15
Name

Title

Attendance

Ms Lynne Berry

Non-executive Director

5 out of 6

Prof Patrick Maxwell

Regius Professor of Physic

3 out of 6

Dr Michael More

Non-executive Director
(Chairman)

6 out of 6

Dr Peter Southwick

Non-executive Director

6 out of 6
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The Trust chair was in attendance for 2 out of 6 meetings and the Trust vice-chair
was in attendance for 5 out of 6 meetings. Dr Michael Knapton attended 1 meeting
as an observer.

Meeting dates
02 April 2014, 21 May 2014, 10 July 2014, 16 July 2014, 15 October 2014 and 26
January 2015.

Significant issues
The Audit Committee met on 20 May 2015 to consider financial statement for the
period for the period 2014/15. The Audit Committee reviewed the financial
statements and identified no significant issues with the statements.

External auditors
KPMG LLP, CUH’s external auditor, reports to the council of governors through the
audit committee. KPMG LLP's accompanying report on the financial statements is
based on its examination conducted in accordance with the audit code for NHS
foundation trusts as issued by Monitor, the independent regulator of Foundation
Trusts. Their work includes a review of our internal control structure for the
purposes of designing their audit procedures.
The external audit process is subject to annual review by the Trust in terms of
competency efficiency and the relationship between the Trust and its auditors. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditor without any Trust employees
(including executive directors) present at every meeting, to improve its knowledge
of their contribution.
During 2012/13 following a tender process, the council of governors re-appointed
KPMG for a further three years. The Council agreed that at the end of that period
there will be a competitive tender for a successor, to ensure that the auditors
remain independent of the Trust.
Non-audit work may be performed by the external auditors where the work is
clearly audit-related and the external auditors are best placed to do that work. For
such assignments the Audit Committee approved protocol is followed which ensures
all such work is properly considered. The processes in place ensure auditor
objectivity and independence is safeguarded.

Audit fees
The statutory audit fee, including quality account and whole of government
accounts is £82,000 and non-audit services amounted to £146,000 for other work.

Internal auditors
Baker Tilly, CUH’s internal auditors, are responsible for undertaking the internal
audit functions on behalf of the Trust. The head of internal audit reports to each
meeting of the Audit Committee on the audit activity undertaken.
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of
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those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically.

5.10

Remuneration and nomination committee of the Board of
Directors
The work of the remuneration and nomination committee is described under section
8.1
There is also a Governors’ Nomination and Remuneration committee which
identifies and nominates non-executive directors. This committee is chaired by a
governor, except when appointing non-executive directors, when it is chaired by
the chair of the Trust.
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6.

Membership

6.1

The membership

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

The membership of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is split
into three constituencies: public, patients and staff. Any person aged 16 or over
who lives within our membership area (below) is eligible for public membership.

Figure 01
Public membership area

6.2

The public membership
The public membership area contains all electoral wards within the jurisdiction of
Cambridge City Council, East Cambridgeshire District Council and South
Cambridgeshire District Council and selected wards within the jurisdiction of
Uttlesford District Council (Ashdon, Clavering, Littlebury, Newport, Saffron Walden
Audley, Saffron Walden Castle, Saffron Walden Shire, The Chesterfords, The
Eastons, The Sampfords, Wenden Lofts, Wimbish and Debden, Thaxted), East
Hertfordshire District Council (Buntingford, Braughing, Mundens and Cottered),
North Hertfordshire District Council (Ermine, Royston Palace, Royston Meridian,
Royston Heath), St Edmundsbury Borough Council (Withersfield, Haverhill North,
Haverhill South, Haverhill East, Haverhill West, Kedington), Forest Heath District
Council (All Saints, Exning, Severals, St Mary’s) and Braintree (Bumpstead).
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The patient membership
Any individual who has been a patient at any of the Trust’s hospitals from 05 July
1948, or who has been a carer of a patient who meets that criterion, is eligible for
patient membership regardless of where they live, as long as they are aged 16 or
over.

6.4

The staff membership
All staff at CUH with contracts of at least 12 months, or contracts with no fixed
term, are automatically members unless they choose to opt out. The Trust greatly
values the contribution that employees of other companies on campus make to the
organisation and for this reason staff membership includes all employees of
companies based on the campus who provide services to CUH, once the employees
have worked on site for 12 months.

6.5

Membership numbers
At 31 March 2015 there were 21,193 members (2014:19,459): 5,237 (5,462)
patients, 5,777 (6,231) public and 10179 (8,044) staff members, comprising 9458
staff and 721 volunteers.
The staff membership increased significantly during the reporting period due to the
transfer of Pathology Partnership staff to the Trust, as CUH hosts the partnership.

6.6

Membership strategy
Our membership strategy was produced in support of our application for NHS
foundation Trust status in March 2004. It set out our vision for a representative,
active and engaged membership.
The current membership focus is clearly contained within the annual plan and
within both the communications and engagement plan and our policy for governor
communication with member of the public. The latter is signed by all governors on
appointment/election The emphasis is on encouraging interaction, listening and
capturing views, speaking on behalf of members and thereby being able to
influence opinions and decisions before feeding back to members and the public
with ‘you said – we did’. Communication has again been a high priority this year.
With the re-organisation of the three former governor/director working groups into
two, namely: scrutiny and performance plus communications and engagement, it is
hoped that the focus on maintaining and improving communications between
governors and the membership, as well as between governors and the board of
directors, and between governors themselves can be further improved.
The introduction of a weekly ‘Governors’ Digest’ sent as an e-broadcast is helping,
in addition to the governors’ extranet, to maintain a high standard of
communications between the membership office and the governors in terms of
press releases, news items pertaining to the NHS both locally and nationally,
calendar events and other notices that need to be brought to their attention.
Members are informed of opportunities to meet with governors and/or directors at
various public sessions throughout the year. These are advertised in the annual
newsletter, on the main website and at various Trust events and each activity is
linked to the Council of Governors’ annual business cycle.
Governors and members have also participated in the monthly mini patient-led
assessments of the care environment inspections, patient experience focus groups,
chaired by a governor, have covered a wide ranging list of topics and are seen as
an effective way of obtaining qualitative feedback from patients, the public and
members. Increasingly they are being used as a resource for trialling new systems
or when considering potential research projects. Some of the meetings which have
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taken place this year include discussions on emergency theatres, physiotherapy,
the psychiatric service within the emergency department and art/landscaping
around the site. Members also continue to contribute to a reader panel to check all
Trust information leaflets are clear, informative and succinct from a patient
perspective.
The membership office invites new and existing members who wish to have more
regular contact with the Trust and to be more personally involved in some of the
initiatives taking place to join our ‘active members’ list. This ensures that they are
first to be contacted for events or focus groups etc where member volunteers are
required. During the annual election process, a ‘Meet the candidates’ session held
prior to one of the well attended ‘Medicine for Members’ lectures, enables members
to meet and talk to governor candidates prior to casting their vote.
The new initiative last year for staff governors to hold monthly ‘surgeries’ in the
staff area of the concourse to enable staff members to interact with governors has
continued with some success. Staff feedback is given to the Board of Directors for a
response which is then posted on the staff intranet and put on posters at the
following surgery.
ACTIVE (our young people’s board) have helped improve services for children this
year with involvement in a range of projects involving improving clinical areas,
waiting areas, experiences of transit to theatre, hospital sustainability, child friendly
feedback and review of information for research with children. In response to staff
requests to better to entertain children waiting in outpatient areas with ‘child
friendly’ information on plasma screens – ACTIVE members widely shared jokes,
trivia and ideas with the Trust patient information officer. These images are now
entertaining children in paediatric day unit, clinic 6, clinic 1 and the emergency
department.
ACTIVE had key involvement in the pilot for the ‘Friends and Family Test’ for
children that is now being implemented with a selection of inpatients on children’s
wards has been particularly rewarding as the young people had raised this as an
important topic and worked at length during meetings on methods to engage
children. Following this we have implemented message books in several areas for
children’s free expression about their experiences in hospital. With the FFT for
children this is the first time a general survey that is age appropriate has been
implemented with children and coupled with ACTIVE meetings, free expression
messages staff are now getting a clearer idea of children’s feedback and views than
ever before.
The ACTIVE meetings continue to attract very good support from the local
community, following a mail out to 200 recent patients we have a membership of
44 and around 20 young people attending each of the eight meetings per year and
a leadership of four young people who plan and deliver the meetings with the
ACTIVE co-ordinator and a regular volunteer.
Work from the ‘the teens in hospital’ has now been shared on the NHS England 6
C’s Live website as an example of good practice.
Members wishing to make contact with governors can do so by contacting the
Foundation trust membership office:
Email: governors@addenbrookes.nhs.uk or foundation.trust@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
Telephone: 01223 256256
By post: NHS Foundation Trust Membership Office, Box 146, Cambridge University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road,
Cambridge, CB2 0QQ
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7.

Public interest

7.1

Staff as partners
Recruitment and retention
To support our recruitment and retention strategy the following is in place:
• work/life balance schemes to offer opportunities for part time hours and flexible
working along with comprehensive childcare facilities (two on-site nurseries and
access to a local discounted holiday play scheme)
• ‘Advantage’ salary sacrifice scheme offering a wide range of options for staff to
make tax and NI savings: including on-site nursery fees, childcare vouchers,
professional/regulatory Board of Directors’ fees, bicycles for work, work-related
training, car lease scheme, on-site car parking, laptops, phones
• annual leave purchase scheme
• eldercare/family support schemes
• NHS pension scheme
• a range of on-site facilities – leisure and social centre (Frank Lee Centre)
• comprehensive range of staff engagement surveys and many joint working
initiatives with staff and trade unions
• occupational health service and ‘Care First’ counselling service
• onsite shopping and eating services
• range of leadership and employee development opportunities along with
continuous professional development
• relocation assistance to provide financial support for nurses who move home to
work at CUH
• employee referral scheme which offers a monetary incentive for employees to
refer potential nursing candidates who are successfully employed by CUH
• exit questionnaire in which leavers are contacted and given the opportunity to
feed back so that we can improve our employees’ experience at work
• deposit loan scheme of up to £3,000 of all staff Bands 1–6 to cover the first
month’s rent and deposit for a new property, open to both starters and existing
staff

Our role as a local employer
CUH is an important local employer and always looks for ways to develop its role
and to work with the local community to develop pathways into employment for
disadvantaged groups. We offer a range of schemes: work experience, traineeships,
voluntary worker schemes, apprenticeships and work with the long-term
unemployed including the Prince’s Trust. We continue to provide a comprehensive
apprenticeship scheme and are committed to maintaining this.
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Equality and diversity
The Trust is using the NHS equality delivery system (EDS2) as a tool to use as
evidence of compliance with the public sector equality duty (PSED) to engage with
the public and staff and agree equality objectives. The Trust’s equality performance
was rated as ‘Green achieving’ by a community EDS rating panel on 24 March
2015. Our patient profile and workforce equality monitoring, EDS2 rating summary
report and EDS improvement plan is published on the Trust’s website.
The Trust is not only committed to fulfilling its legislative requirements but to go
beyond what is legally required and to be an exemplar of best practice.

Information about staff sickness
.

The sickness absence rate remains low and stable at 2.97% for the last 12 months.
This is well below the national NHS benchmark of 4.05% for acute teaching
hospitals set in June 2013 for NHS organisations by the Department of Health. CUH
manages both short-term and long-term sickness absence in accordance with best
practice and legislative requirements. We are in the top 10 acute trusts for
managing absence.

7.2

Health and safety
In October 2014 responsibility for the health and safety policy and arrangements
moved from the medical director to the director of workforce. As a result, a new
head of health and safety was recruited and a health and safety department formed
and aligned with Cambridge Health at Work (occupational health service).
The Health and Safety Committee continued to oversee health and safety in
2014/15. It identified five priorities for the year. These are outlined below together
with progress made against them.
Health and safety management – the health and safety policy was reviewed
and rewritten detailing new arrangements for health and safety in the
organisation.
Display screen equipment (DSE) – with the implementation of e-hospital
the DSE policy was updated to provide assessments on the new workstation on
wheels and handheld devices. A number of information leaflets were also
produced providing staff with information on how to work safety with display
screen equipment in order to reduce the risks of injury and ill-health from their
use.
Safer sharps – a new implementation group was formed and a gap analysis
carried out to identify gaps in compliance with the health and safety (Sharp
Instruments in Healthcare) regulations. Although a lot of work has already been
done to comply with the regulations, more work will be needed in 2015/16 to
ensure all medical sharps are reviewed.
Psychological ill-health from work – a new stress policy group was formed
to look at the way in which the Trust manages work-related stress. Work is
ongoing and will continue next year to ensure that there is a robust process for
the management of work-related stress in the organisation.
Hand dermatitis – it was identified that further work is needed to reduce the
risks of hand dermatitis in the organisation. Work is ongoing to ensure that
information and training is available to staff on hand care and the prevention of
hand dermatitis.
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Occupational health
Cambridge Health at Work provides a full range of occupational health services to
CUH staff and private and public sector companies in the local area. We are very
proud that we continue to meet stringent standards of our SEQOHS (Safe Effective
Quality Occupational Health Service) accreditation. The department continues to
strive to improve service quality and effectiveness working with teams and
specialities across the organisation. Over the last year, Cambridge Health at Work
has increased the external fee-paying activity, continuing to expand our provision
of services to local companies, either as a one-off service or on a contractual basis.
We provide the occupational health service for West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust,
working closely with their HR team and leadership. Other sectors we are delighted
to serve include agriculture, biotechnology, housing, light engineering,
pharmaceuticals, research and development, education, and software, as well as to
local councils. Our focus is on ensuring the health, safety and wellbeing of those we
care for. Over the coming year we aspire to provide enhanced health promotion and
wellbeing initiatives to CUH colleagues as part of the Trust’s Health & Wellbeing
strategy.

7.4

Improvements in patient and carer information
In 2014/15, we continued to manage the process of review and approval of patient
information leaflets and procedure specific consent forms with several related
projects to focus on, such as:
The accessible information standard: In Spring 2014, the Trust tested the
accessible information standard which is being developed by NHS England. The
standard is being developed for the health and adult social care system. It will
ensure that patients with accessible information and/or communication support
needs relating to a disability have their needs met. For example, a patient with
sight difficulties may require information in Braille, a patient with hearing difficulties
may require a British sign language interpreter to support their communication.
Having fed back and evaluated the draft standard, the Trust was successful in
gaining a place to pilot the standard between February–April 2015. Our focal points
for the pilot were:
to explore how our patients needs are recorded and highlighted to staff on our
electronic patient record system
how we consequently support patients needs
monitoring the effectiveness of the new ward picture menu
Ward picture menu: January 2015 saw the implementation of the new ward
picture menu which is now used across the Trust for all patients. This enables
patients to make their own menu choice at the start of each day with the aid of
helpful images and fewer words. Feedback from the Trust’s reader panel, staff and
patients has been very positive. Staff recording daily menu orders have reported
that patients with communication difficulties are more empowered to make their
own decisions, which are now understood by staff.
Hospital communication book: An updated version of the hospital
communication book – produced by ‘The Clear Communication People Ltd’ – was
developed in late 2013. In 2014 the Trust linked to this from our internal website.
Our Trust staff can therefore now refer to this resource to help them communicate
with patients who may benefit from it, for example, patients with learning
disabilities.
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Patient information network: At the start of 2015, the patient information team
began to look at revising our network of clinical leads for patient information in
order to regularly monitor the availability of patient information leaflets in clinical
areas. To assess the current situation, many clinical areas were visited by our
patient information team to determine what information is given to patients and to
remove out of date information from circulation. This work will continue during
2015/16 with a view to creating a patient information steering group.

7.5

Information on complaints handling
In 2014/2015 CUH received 523 formal complaints. This is a 12% increase on
2013/14 (465 complaints). It is noted that the rise in complaints received occurred
over the latter half of the reporting period: complaints received from October 2014
to March 2015 were significantly higher than the equivalent period in 2013/14; this
reflects the operational and capacity challenges the Trust faced during this time.
Our response rate (formal complaints responded to within 25 working days or with
an agreed extension) was 88%, which is a 3% fall from 91% in 2013/14.
There has been a small increase in PALS activity over the year of 2%: 8,846
enquiries were received compared to 8,697 enquiries in 2013/14.
12 cases were referred to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman
(PHSO) in 2014/15, a 40% decrease on the 20 cases referred in 2013/2014. All of
these cases were initially received by the Trust in 2013. Five PHSO investigations
led to recommendations being made to the Trust, and in each of these action was
taken by the Trust to remedy the deficits identified by the PHSO.
The increase in activity continues to challenge the department in terms of resources
available. There are plans in place to increase staffing and introduce new data
recording and analysis software in order to address this.

7.6

Counter fraud policies
CUH has taken all reasonable steps to comply with the requirements set out in the
code of conduct for NHS managers, and has a named individual nominated to
provide the lead local counter fraud specialist function, who is an accredited counter
fraud specialist. When that specialist is absent, arrangements have been made to
ensure that specialist assistance is available.
CUH fully complies with the requirements of the Care Quality Commission and
Secretary of State directions for countering fraud in the NHS.

7.7

Standards of business conduct and the Bribery Act
The Bribery Act 2010 has been in force since July 2011. This Act creates the
offences of offering, promising or giving a bribe, requesting, agreeing to receive or
accepting a bribe, bribing a foreign public official and the corporate offence of
failing to prevent bribery. We have a clear standard of business conduct policy,
which includes our zero-tolerance approach to bribery and was reviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors during 2013/14. Our stance is equally
strong and clear in relation to those associated with or contracting with the Trust,
and we avoid doing business with any individuals and organisations who fail to
demonstrate their commitment to operate fairly, openly and honestly. Doing
business transparently and preventing bribery is important in safeguarding the
proper use of public money and resources, and a clear stance also provides
patients, other customers, potential contractors and business partners as well as
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our governors and members with confidence that we will act in a transparent and
fair way. This in turn protects our trusted position within our community and our
reputation as a leading national and international centre for specialist treatment,
education and research.
CUH has in place a number of procedures for the prevention of bribery, including a
clear whistle-blowing policy and procedure, and a local counter-fraud specialist. In
addition, we keep a publicly-available register of interests for directors, governors
and staff as well as a hospitality register. All staff have a role to play, but
individuals with specific responsibility for implementing bribery-prevention
procedures include the board of directors, the Trust secretary, and our managers,
both clinical and non-clinical.
We work closely with colleagues both within and outside the NHS to support a
concerted effort to promote fair, honest and open operations and to prevent
bribery, for the ultimate benefit of the patients and public we serve.

7.8

Working with partners
Consultations with local groups and organisations
Throughout the year, CUH has attended a number of council meetings. Governors
and local Healthwatch were consulted on the content of the quality report.

Other public and patient involvement activities
Governors’ activities on behalf of members are reported under the council of
governors’ section. A number of focus groups have been held throughout the year,
where members and/or recent patients/carers are invited to attend and provide
their opinions on key issues relating to either the organisation broadly, or specific
departments.
The Patient Experience Committee, which monitors the activities relating to patient
experience, has governor representation to ensure that the views of members and
the public are heard.
ACTIVE (the children and young people’s board) continues to meet every six weeks.
The activities of ACTIVE are reported in detail under section 6.6.
The Patient Experience Committee reviews the quarterly patient experience data.
This includes complaints & concerns, local & national patients survey results, focus
group activity, and other sources of feedback that have happened in the quarter.
The aim is enable easy identification of themes, along with areas for improvement
and put in place a plan to address these so we continue to improve our patients
experience.
The Friends and Family recommender score has in the last year been rolled out to
include outpatients and children’s services.

7.9

Cost statement
CUH has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements as set out in
HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information guidance during 2014/15.

7.10

Income statement
CUH has met the requirement of Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended
by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) that the Trust’s income from the provision
of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England must be
greater than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other
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purposes. Other income which the Trust has received has had no impact on its
provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England.

7.11

Better Payment Practice Code
Table 16
2014/15 performance – non-NHS invoices
Number of Invoices paid in Year
106,408
Number of Invoices paid within 30
65,490
days
%Paid within 30 days

61.55%

NHS Invoices

3,341
1,471

Number of Invoices paid in Year
Number of Invoices paid within 30
days
%Paid within 30 days

7.12

44.03%

Never events
Introduced by the Department of Health, a ‘never event’ is defined as serious,
largely preventable incidents that should never happen if the right measures are in
place. As with all serious incidents these events need prompt reporting and a
detailed investigation. During this reporting time 2014/15, the Trust had three
never events, as a consequence a detailed action plan has been created and are
monitored by the patient safety team.

7.13

Information on serious incidents (SIs) involving data loss or
confidentiality breach
Information regarding serious incidents (SIs) involving data loss or confidentiality
breach can be found in the Annual Governance Statement (section 10).

7.14

Compliance with the NHS foundation Trust code of governance
The Trust has reviewed our compliance with the NHS foundation Trust code of
governance. As a result of this review, we consider that CUH complies with the
main and supporting principles of the code of governance. This includes the issue of
whether or not all of the NEDs are independent in accordance with code provision
B1.1. The Board of Directors has determined that all of the NEDs are independent
in character and judgement. This includes the appointed representative of
University of Cambridge, Professor Patrick Maxwell, the Regius Professor of Physic,
notwithstanding the Trust’s relationship during this reporting period with the
University of Cambridge School of Clinical Medicine and with Cambridge University
Health Partners.
In relation to the more detailed provisions of the code of governance, CUH is
compliant with the provisions with the following exceptions:
B.1.3 The chair holds a position of partner governor of Papworth Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust and the chair of Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a
partner governor of the CUH Council of Governors. During the reporting period the
deputy chief executive of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust
was also a partner governor of the CUH Council of Governors. With effect from the
March 2015 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust are
represented by the Director of People and Business Development.
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7.15

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Statement of compliance with the NHS constitution
Based on a review of evidence to support compliance, the Board of Directors is able
to provide reasonable assurance that it is compliant with the rights and pledges
within the NHS Constitution and has had regard to the NHS Constitution in carrying
out its function.

7.16

Statement on corporate social responsibility
Our Way – for good citizenship
Social responsibility is defined in the International Standard ISO 26000 Guidance on
Social Responsibility published in 2010 as ‘the responsibility of an organisation for
the impacts of its decisions and activities in society and the environment, through
transparent and ethical behaviour that contributes to sustainable development,
including health and welfare of society; takes into account the expectations of
stakeholders; is in compliance with applicable law and consistent with acceptable
norms of behaviour and is integrated throughout the organisation and practised in
its relationships’.
Social responsibility is the keystone for all we do, as the information which we have
given in our directors’ report, and in this section on public interest demonstrates.
Our separate reports focusing on quality, our staff survey, sustainability and
climate change, and equality and diversity, give more detail on our commitment to
fulfilling our role as a good corporate citizen in all our activities.

Addenbrooke’s Abroad
Staff at CUH have a wealth of skills and experiences and through Addenbrooke’s
Abroad, a scheme funded by the Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust, we share this
knowledge with hospitals overseas, particularly those in developing countries.
For more details of how CUH is striving to be a good corporate citizen see our
website – www.cuh.org.uk
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8.

Remuneration report

8.1

Remuneration and nomination committee
Membership of the committee comprises non-executive directors and the chair with
the chief executive in attendance for nomination responsibilities only.
The committee is chaired by the Trust chair and met three times during 2014/15.
The role of the committee is to:
Review the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and
experience) required of the Board of Directors compared to its current position
and makes recommendations for change when appropriate. It also considers
succession planning arrangements for directors and other senior executives and
is responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval of the board,
candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise. (Nomination
Responsibility).
Review the remuneration, allowances and other terms and conditions of office
of executive directors. It also sets the objectives for executive directors and
reviews their performance as part of the appraisal process. (Remuneration
Responsibility).

8.2

Membership of the committee
Ms Lynne Berry – current
Dr Michael Knapton – current
Professor Patrick Maxwell – current
Dr Michael More – current
Dr Andrew Richards – from 7 May 2014
Ms Jane Ramsey – current
Dr Peter Southwick – current
Dr Pat Troop – current

Table 17
Attendance at committee meetings
Name

Title

Attendance out of 3
unless otherwise
stated

Ms Jane Ramsey

Trust Chair

3

Ms Lynne Berry

Non-executive Director

2

Dr Michael Knapton

Non-executive Director

2

Professor Patrick Maxwell

Non-executive Director

0

Dr Michael More

Non-executive Director

1

Dr Andrew Richards

Non-executive Director

2

Dr Peter Southwick

Non-executive Director

3

Dr Pat Troop

Non-executive Director

1
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Remuneration and performance conditions
To determine Board of Director level salaries the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee may use one or more of the following:
benchmarking data surveyed confidentially amongst CUH’s peer group
NHS Partners’ annual salary survey of NHS chief executives and executive
directors
IDS NHS boardroom pay report and other benchmark information
NHS and other relevant advertised jobs databases
the prevailing market position, including the ability to recruit and retain
individuals
Other than for the medical director, amendments to annual salary are decided by
the remuneration and nomination committee on the basis of the size and
complexity of the job portfolio. Annual salary is inclusive of other payments such as
bonus, overtime, long hours, on-call, standby, etc additional payments do not
feature in executive directors’ remuneration. The Trust has no plans to introduce
performance related pay. The medical director’s salary is in accordance with the
terms and conditions of service of the consultant contract 2003 plus a responsibility
allowance determined by the committee payable for the duration of office.
Pay awards agreed nationally for other staff groups working at CUH, including staff
on agenda for change contracts and medical and dental staff are determined by the
Department of Health/NHS Pay Review Body, which looks at salaries and pay
conditions across the NHS.
The inflationary pay award for CUH executive directors in 2014/15 set by the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee was a non consolidated, non pensionable
amount reflecting the position for senior staff in the NHS in England covered by
national AfC pay negotiations (i.e. 1%).
In 2014/15, in light of the various changes to the executive team, the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee requested a review of the salaries of the
Trust’s executive directors. This was commissioned from an external expert in the
field. The results of this review were considered in March 2015 and the committee
is in the process of reviewing/implementing the expectations set out on the report.
The chief executive and executive director performance is measured against
objectives set at the beginning of the financial year and agreed by the committee.
The actual remuneration of the highest-paid director in Cambridge University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in the financial year was £262,600 (year ended 31
March 2014, £260,000). This was 11.7 times (year ended 31 March 2014, 11.6) the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £22,509 (year ended 31 March
2014, £22,636).
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Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments
Table 18
Executive director contractual terms
Executive director
Chief Executive
Chief Nurse
Chief Operating Officer
Medical Director
Chief Finance officer
Director of workforce

Date in post
18.02.13
01.03.14
01.04.04
01.04.08
28.07.14
01.04.14

Unexpired term
Permanent
Permanent
Permanent
5 years
Permanent
Permanent

Notice
Six months
Six months
Six months
Six months
Six months
Six months

There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination
of executive directors’ contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy is
subject to the normal provisions of the Agenda for Change: NHS terms and
conditions of service handbook (section 16); or, for those above the minimum
retirement age, early termination by reason of redundancy or ‘in the interests of
the efficiency of the service’ is in accordance with the NHS Pension Scheme.
Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination
by reason of early retirement are subject to the normal provisions of the NHS
Pension Scheme. Please also see the accounts for further information on salary,
pensions and allowances.

8.5

Director’s single figure remuneration table
Disclosure statements regarding director’s single figure remuneration are included
in the accounts.

8.6

Off-payroll arrangements
Disclosure statements regarding off-payroll engagements.

Table 19
Off-payroll arrangements
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than
£220 per day and that last longer than six months
No. of existing engagements as of 31 march 2015
0
Of which:
No. that have existed for less than 1 year at the time of reporting
0
No. that have existed for between 1-2 years at the time of reporting
0
No. that have existed for between 2-3 years at the time of reporting
0
No. that have existed for between 3-4 years at the time of reporting
0
No. that have existed for 4 or more years at the time of reporting
0
No. that have existed for less than 1 year at the time of reporting
0

60

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six
months in duration, between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, for
more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months
No. of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015
No. of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and national
insurance obligations
No. for whom assurance has been requested
Of which:
No. for whom assurance has been received
No. for whom assurance has not been received
No. terminated as a result of assurance not being received

1
1
0
-

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April
2014 and 31 March 2015
No. of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior
1
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial
year
No. of individuals that have been deemed Board members and/or
6
senior officials with significant financial responsibility. This figure
includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements.
Details of the off-payroll engagement of Board members, and/or
senior official with significant financial responsibility
Richard Eley – Interim Chief Financial Officer, until permanent CFO was
appointed in August 2014
Length of time of this engagement: 11 months to July 2014

8.7

Statement of directors’ and governors’ expenses
Directors and governors are reimbursed for expenses incurred on Trust business in
accordance with agreed Trust policies. Where applicable, these are subject to
income tax and national insurance in accordance with HMRC legislation and
guidance.
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Table 20
Directors’ expenses received 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

Name

Mileage

Rail
Travel

Taxis

Hotel
Accomm

Meals &
Subsis
& Parking

ehospital
flights &
accomm

Other

Total
2014/15

Total
2013/14

Jag Ahluwalia

£57.96

£793.40

£31.00

£311.66

£125.35

£0.00

£0.00

£1,319.37

£1,017.75

Lynne Berry

£0.00

£175.65

£50.80

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£226.45

£1,934.55

Frances Cousins

£0.00

£63.40

£375.86

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£439.26

£504.50

Richard Eley

£0.00

£40.20

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£40.20

£40.85

Ann-Marie Ingle

£139.32

£430.00

£24.80

£508.00

£8.20

£1,752.00

£0.00

£2,862.32

£106.80

Paul James

£0.00

£47.50

£31.75

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£79.25

N/A

Mike Knapton

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Keith McNeil

£0.00

£1,907.60

£291.85

£675.40

£918.49

£3,925.00

£1701.22

£9,419.56

£5,635.93

Patrick Maxwell

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Mike More

£0.00

£145.50

£12.90

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£158.40

£0.00

Jane Ramsey

£0.00

£3,027.20

£1,220.38

£152.00

£110.00

£0.00

£0.00

£4,509.58

£4,094.45

Andy Richards

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

N/A

Peter Southwick

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£490.55

Pat Troop

£0.00

£0.00

£5.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£5.00

£0.00

David Wherrett *

£7.28

£852.70

£72.80

£157.50

£184.30

£1,752.00

£0.00

£3,026.58

N/A

* NHS Employers provide a stipend to cover the expenses detailed above that relate to that role
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Table 21
Governors’ expenses received 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
Name

Mileage
(Car/Cy
cle)

Rail/bus
Travel

Taxis

Conference
fees

Other

Total
2014/1
5

Total
2013/14

£0.00

Meals/
Subsist
&
parking
£0.00

Daryl Brown

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£62.10

Helen Burchmore

£0.00

Tom Bygott

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£59.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Christina Champion

£134.45

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Tony Coad

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Jane Coston

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Carlos de la Riva

£0.00

£40.70

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£40.70

£0.00

Maureen Donnelly

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Robert Dryden

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Judith Ewer

£0.00

£446.69

£0.00

£175.65

£0.00

£0.00

£622.34

£1,570.05

Gill Francis

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Anna Gallop

£219.60

£35.50

£12.00

£59.80

£0.00

£140.00

£466.90

£0.00

Elizabeth Howe

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Roger Hickford

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

David Humber

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Liz Hunt

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Fred Jacobsberg

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£7.00

£0.00

£0.00

£7.00

£45.50

Peter Lester

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Andrew Lever

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Wendy Menon

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£126.40

Ciara Moore

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Jonathan Nicholls

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Georgina Pharaoh

£327.60

£0.00

£0.00

£35.70

£0.00

£0.00

£363.30

£1,018.35

Roger Quince

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Keith Spencer

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Jean Swanson

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Eric Revell

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£316.80

Jane Ridley

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Tony Roberts

£86.40

£51.00

£0.00

£19.50

£0.00

£0.00

£156.90

£0.00

Patrick Smith

£364.50

£0.00

£0.00

£88.75

£0.00

£0.00

£453.25

£779.50

Ruth Taylor

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Brian Walker

£203.40

£0.00

£0.00

£72.40

£0.00

£0.00

£275.80

£204.35

John Wallwork

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

John Wells

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Lorne Williamson

£161.10

£44.60

£0.00

£82.40

£20.00

£0.00

£308.10

£0.00

Bev Woolmer

£27.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

£27.00

£136.60

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive
Cambridge University Hospitals
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9.

Quality report

9.1

Statement of quality from the chief executive
‘Quality has to be the fabric of the organisation, not part of the fabric.’
As chief executive, nothing is dearer to me than the quality of services of care and
services we provide to our patients. I made quality the absolute priority for the
Trust on taking up my appointment and last year’s quality report set out the
progress and action taken by the Board and staff. I am delighted that once again,
we are able to demonstrate another strong year of performance on this vital area.
The decision by Monitor in the summer of 2014 that we had met their concerns and
were no longer in ‘breach’ of our operating licence was testament to our dedication
to improving the quality of our organisation. I would like to thank everyone who
works here at the hospital for continuing to focus on driving up quality, despite the
many other challenges we face day-to-day.
Quality runs through everything we do, through every interaction with a patient,
from the start to the end of their treatment. An important way of improving, and
monitoring, quality is having efficient systems in place. This year, we introduced
eHospital, our largest ever single investment in quality in the Trust’s history. This
electronic patient record improves quality in a number of ways. It provides all
members of a patient’s care team with instant access to real-time notes and
information, reducing delays and duplication. It flags up important safety issues
around medication and allergies. As importantly, it provides us with far more data
than the systems it replaced which will be a huge help in further understanding how
we can drive up quality.
The implementation of such a large scale investment has been a real challenge for
the Trust, but the quality gains are already being seen in many areas and will grow
as the system becomes fully optimised. I am pleased that the Trust took the
decision to implement eHospital, as this proved our long-term commitment to
improving quality, outweighing other short-term considerations.
Following engagement with our staff, we have refreshed and re-launched our
corporate values, which focus on working together to provide safe, kind and
excellent care. The additional emphasis on placing ‘safe’ first reflects the view that
whilst there are many components that make up quality care, ultimately, it starts
and ends with the safety of our patients.
Refreshing the values has also provided an opportunity to reinforce many of our
key policies and procedures which underpin quality care, including new statutory
obligations such as the ‘Duty of Candour’. This builds on the work of the Francis
steering group which has been hugely effective in driving the quality agenda across
the Trust.
Like other Trusts, our inspection by the Care Quality Commission offers an
opportunity for external scrutiny of the quality of our services, care and leadership.
I am looking forward to the inspection report as it will provide valuable feedback on
areas of outstanding practice, and areas where we will need to improve.
Overall, we maintain our position as one of the strongest performers in the Shelford
Group (a group of 10 leading teaching hospitals) on many quality metrics, including
hospital acquired infections and death rates. The quality of many of our specialist
services are rightly recognised regionally, nationally and internationally as best in
class. We continue to invest in retaining and recruiting highly skilled and dedicated
clinical and nursing professionals from across the globe to support our vision to be
one of the best healthcare providers in the world.
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Last year, I ended this introduction by saying that I give permission to every
member of staff to put quality front and centre. This has not changed and nor
should it. It is what the public expects, and it is the reason I and the staff here at
CUH work for the NHS.
To the best of my knowledge the information in this document is accurate.

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive
Cambridge University Hospitals

65

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

9.2
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Introduction
Cambridge University Hospitals in context
CUH is many things: a teaching hospital for a world-famous university; a centre for
international research; a specialist centre for treatment and most importantly to
our patients it is the district general hospital for Cambridge and the surrounding
area through our hospitals – Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie. These combined
strengths offer our community the benefits of international care on their doorstep
as we translate work from the laboratory directly into new treatments and therapies
in clinics, theatres and wards.
In October 2014, eHospital, our largest ever investment in improving healthcare
quality, went live. On a daily basis now, the system is used by approximately 3,000
staff members to care for each and every one of our patients. Working through the
immediate post go-live period and beyond has been challenging for our staff, not
least because of the simultaneous demand and capacity issues experienced by the
Trust, who collectively have worked extremely hard and conscientiously to make
the deployment of the system a success. There are currently nine stabilisation work
streams working across the hospital to further refine, stabilise and optimise the
system to support our staff in delivering high quality care and realising the benefits
that a true hospital- wide electronic healthcare system can bring.
We recognise that communication with external partners particularly GPs has been
difficult through this period. We apologise for this and are working hard to address
these issues, meeting with GPs to hear their views and act on their continuing
concerns.
In relation to the 3 referral to treatment (RTT) targets, we have been transparent
in discussions with our regulator Monitor about the impact of our Electronic Patient
Record, and the challenges in reconciling all our reporting in the new system. Since
eHospital go-live RTT monthly submissions continue to reflect the challenges with
data accuracy, and we continue to see variances in monthly clock stops, and an
inflated incomplete pathways position. The figures continue to be unreliable as an
assessment of the Trust's current performance against these standards, but
compared to the initial November submission we have seen continued progress with
a reduction in incomplete pathways and an increase in non-admitted pathway clock
stops.
We have a continued focus on this issue through a formal programme of work with
our suppliers, and are taking action to rectify it as soon as possible. Additional
validation resource has been recruited to support these ongoing efforts. Our lead
CCG attends a weekly assurance meeting where the programme to rectify the
situation is discussed. We are also considering the engagement of external
expertise and now had a second meeting with Cymbio, who have also reviewed our
current validation process and are due to make recommendations as to the cost
benefit that can be achieved by engaging their expertise.
Our ability to track and expedite cancer pathways has been impacted by our
eHospital implementation, but patient tracking list reporting meetings having been
running well since the start of the year.
Our aim is to provide quality healthcare and a first-class service through
collaboration with research, academic and healthcare colleagues and engagement
with the community, families, carers and patients.
As well as our staff, we are proud of our strong relationships with our stakeholders:
the involvement of patients through focus groups, surveys questionnaires and
comment cards, the public, governors, our local Healthwatch, and health system
partners is central to how we provide care and how we develop services for the
future.
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For an explanation of terms please see the glossary set out in 9.31.

9.3

2014/15 activity
During 2014/15 we treated more patients than ever before; the following table sets
out key activity numbers.

Table 22
Patients treated: comparison of 2013/14 and 2014/15
For year
2013/14
no of visits to outpatients

For year
2014/15

Increase or
decrease

575,087

592,288

3.0%

5,764

5,716

0.8%

118,855

116,360

2.0%

63,707

61,400

3.4%

(15,540)

(12,361)

20.4%

emergency > 85 years old

(5,241)

(5,694)

8.6%

emergency < 85 years old

(35,032)

(35,628)

1.7%

(7,894)

(7,717)

2.2%

102,670

105,804

3.1%

866,083

881,568

1.8%

no of births
day cases
total inpatients
elective

maternity
A&E attendances
Total

The increase in the total number of patients seen has and will continue to challenge
us in terms of having sufficient beds and staff to deliver the quality of care we
aspire to provide. The acuity of patients has increased, and as can be seen from
table 01 there has been a significant increase in the number of patients aged 85 or
older admitted as emergencies. This in turn has had an effect on our ability to
deliver elective activity.
We have robust systems and processes to manage peaks in demand, but recognise
these will be put to the test in the coming 12 months.

9.4

Working together to monitor quality
Our governors are involved throughout the year in monitoring and scrutinising our
performance and discuss this in detail with directors in a joint working group on
quality and public engagement. There is also strong governor representation on our
patient experience committee.
The governors demonstrate their commitment to fulfilling their role as elected
representatives of patients, public and staff through their direct activity in the
community.
During the year, we have continued to work with our commissioners GPs,
Cambridgeshire and Suffolk Healthwatch, and other stakeholders. Trust
representatives regularly attend and participate in meetings on subjects important
to the community’s health in all the relevant fora. Concern about the number of
patients whose discharge is delayed awaiting social or health care provision in the
community have continued this year, and integrated care remains a priority.
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The creation of UnitingCare, responsible for providing all older people’s healthcare
and adult community services throughout Cambridgeshire and Peterborough from 1
April 2015 is a positive step.

9.5

‘Never events’
Introduced by the Department of Health, a ‘never event’ is defined as serious,
largely preventable incidents that should never happen if the right measures are in
place.
As with all serious incidents these events need prompt reporting and detailed
investigation. During 2014/15, the Trust had three never events, these all being in
the wrong implant / prosthesis category. Two involved the use of incorrect eye
lenses and one an incorrect hip prosthesis.
Detailed investigations were completed for each of the ‘never events’, actions taken
to minimise recurrence with the actions being monitored by the patient safety team
to ensure they are implemented and remain effective.

9.6

Priorities for improvement in 2015/16 and beyond
Our vision and priorities
In October 2013 the Trust Board approved the Trust’s first five-year quality
strategy; this was formally launched in January 2014 and a full copy of the quality
strategy is available at www.cuh.org.uk/quality-strategy
Our aim is simple: all patients treated at CUH will receive the safest, highest quality
care, personalised to their needs, in a hospital that compares well with the best in
the world and has a strong academic approach to improving quality. To achieve
this, we have identified five key priorities:
•
•
•
•
•

improving the experience of our patients – person-centred care
improving staff engagement – workforce as partners
improving safety and eliminating avoidable harm – harm-free care
improving the reliability of care – delay-free care
providing clinically effective care
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The five priority areas are inter-linked and interdependent, and we will only achieve
our ambition if all five domains are present equally and simultaneously. Delivering
just one or two in isolation will not be good enough.
Achieving our quality vision to be one of the best academic healthcare organisations
in the world is something that will require leadership, staff engagement and a
willingness to innovate. A key part of this strategy will be the establishment
of a quality and safety academic unit at CUH.
We want to measure up against the best nationally, and aim to be in the upper
decile for all key performance indicators used by our regulators. Going beyond that,
we will start to set our standards and measure our performance using global
comparators. By 2018 we will have submitted CUH for an external
assessment through, for example, Joint Commissioning International (JCI)
or an equivalent detailed assessment programme. We will work to gain
membership of Dr Foster global comparators, seeking to benchmark our
performance against other leading medical institutions and looking beyond national
boundaries to international standards of leading clinical practice.

9.7

How will we measure our success?
Some aspects of our success will be qualitative, whilst others will have quantitative
measures. Both are important in assessing the progress we are making and to
know whether the strategy has been successfully implemented. A simple test of
whether we have improved quality will be whether the right thing to do, is always
the easiest thing to do.
We will measure progress against:
each of the five priorities identified in the section above, and quality
indicators within these domains
national quality indicators as mandated by regulators and NHS England
national standards and targets, for example on waiting times
CQUINs (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) agreed with
Commissioners (increasingly we will seek for these to be aligned as closely as
possible to our over-arching quality priorities)
accreditation – achievement of JCI or equivalent
establishment of an academic quality and safety unit

9.8

Priorities and targets
centred
Every patient is treated as a person, not a number, with dignity and respect, and is
fully involved in their treatment and care. “No decision about me without me.”
Placing the individual at the centre of any discussion about quality is crucial. Each
patient we treat is unique, with their own experience of their health, illness and
care, and a key partner in shared decision-making. Increasingly patients manage
their own health and illness through support and access to information for them,
their families and carers. Successfully keeping the person at the heart of all we do
means providing care that is responsive to individual personal needs, preferences
and values, and assuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions.
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We want patients to consistently report that the care they received, met, or was
above their expectations. That said, we always welcome compliments, constructive
feedback and complaints, as these help to identify areas where we can improve and
are one indication of the level of quality we are providing. Seeking and receiving
feedback on how we are doing is a very important component of the continuous
improvement culture we want to strengthen.
In 2015/16 our priorities are as follows:
(i) 90% of inpatients rate their experience as at least 7/10
(ii) 88% of outpatients would recommend our clinics
(iii) Our ‘Friends and Family Test’ score to be greater than 65
• Complaints to be less than 0.1% of patient contacts
(i) 90% of staff are aware of the trust’s values and behaviours
(ii) An increasing proportion of staff feel they are able to deliver the Trust’s values
and behaviours in their work
A detailed explanation of each measure is included in 9.26.

Workforce as partners
A fully engaged, skilled, trained and competent workforce delivering care of the
highest quality. An organisation that is well-led at all levels with clear and
effective communication.

Investment in our workforce is investment for the future: allowing for turnover,
over two thirds of the people who will deliver our services in 2018 are working here
already. Recruiting the new third will involve a national and international
recruitment programme. Individual patients and their families rely upon staff
working in teams to provide high quality care. We are committed to developing all
our staff, listening to and learning from their experiences, and investing inthe
leaders of today and tomorrow as described in the Berwick Report CUH will make
an explicit commitment to provide education and training opportunities for all staff
which will include specific training in quality. An engaged, motivated and welltrained workforce is key to providing high quality care. We will continue to be an
organisation that our staff are proud to work for and would recommend to their
families and friends.
We want to be an organisation where there is a single and shared understanding of
what we mean by quality, with all staff, irrespective of their role, behaving in a
safe, kind, excellent way.
In 2015/16 our priorities are as follows:
(i) Improve the Trust’s staff engagement score in the NHS staff survey
(ii) An increasing proportion of our staff recommend us as a place to work
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(iii) An increasing proportion of our staff recommend us as a place to receive
treatment
(i) An increasing proportion of staff have confidence in the people who lead CUH
(ii) An increasing proportion of staff have confidence in the people who lead their
area of work
(i) Deliver a maximum vacancy rate of 5% and 8% for registered nurses and
HCAs respectively
(ii) Have a plan in place to mitigate the risks regarding junior doctor rotas
A detailed explanation of each measure is included in 9.26.

Harm-free
Patients will suffer no avoidable harm.
Patients will suffer no avoidable harm.
Patients rightly expect CUH to be a safe place and that the healthcare we provide
will help them. We must protect our patients from unintentional harm whilst they
are in our care. This includes hospital-acquired infections, medication errors,
surgical infections, pressure ulcers and other unintended injuries resulting from, or
contributed to by clinical care (including the absence of indicated treatment or best
practice). In addition, we aim to provide an appropriate, clean and safe
environment for all patients at all times. For 2015/16 we want to improve how we
share learning from incidents.
In 2015/16 our priorities are as follows:
(i)

care measured by the Safety Thermometer audit to be 98% or above

(ii)

less than 0.2% of patient contacts should result in an incident report where
patient harm is recorded

(iii)

we will strive for no avoidable infections. There will be zero hospital acquired
MRSA bacteraemia and the number of cases of hospital-acquired Clostridium
difficile will be less than the agreed ceiling of 49
HSMR to be less than 85 in aggregate for the Trust
a monthly programme of safety and quality learning to commence by June 2015

A detailed explanation of each measure is included in 9.26.

Delay-free
Care delivered on time and to time cost efficiently, meeting or exceeding all
national standards in relation to providing timely care.
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We all dislike having our time wasted, and in a clinical environment treating
patients promptly and appropriately can positively influence outcomes for individual
patients. Consistently providing reliable, timely care also improves the experience
of patients. This includes reducing avoidable cancellations of appointments or
surgery and at the end of a patient’s hospital stay ensuring there are no delays to
their discharge from hospital caused by factors within our control. These things will
only happen when we treat our patients’ time as more valuable than our own.
In 2015/16 our priorities are as follows:
(i) 95% of patients who attend our emergency department are seen within four
hours. We have agreed a recovery trajectory with our clinical commissioning
group to return to this performance level by August 2015
(ii) 92% of our patients waiting on a referral to treatment pathway will have waited
less than 18 weeks. We have declared to Monitor that we will return to this
performance level by Quarter 4
(iii) 85% of patients are treated within 62 days of their GP urgent cancer referral
we have agreed a recovery trajectory with our clinical commissioning group to
return to this performance level by Quarter 2
the number of operations cancelled on or after the day of admission is less than
1%
the number of bed days lost to assessment for patients medically fit to leave,
to be less than 20 per week
A detailed explanation of each measure is included in 9.26

Clinically Effective
Care that achieves the best outcome possible for each patient and which is
delivered using the latest evidence-based techniques.
As the local hospital for our community, a national centre for specialist treatment, a
comprehensive biomedical research centre, a major teaching hospital and one of
only five academic health science centres in the UK, CUH prides itself on providing
evidence-based medicine, soundly grounded in academic research. We want all care
we provide to be clinically effective care, following national and international best
practice, with each patient receiving the most appropriate treatments,
interventions, support and services. Reducing avoidable variations in practice will
not only improve outcomes for patients, but will also allow us to use scarce NHS
resources optimally.
In 2015/16 our priorities are as follows:
Trust patient-related outcomes (PROMS) to be above the national average
at least 85% patients aged 75 and over admitted as emergencies have a
Clinical Frailty Score screen performed within 72-hours of admission
improve the identification and treatment of patients with sepsis with at least
90% compliance with the sepsis antibiotic bundle
A detailed explanation of each measure is included in 9.26.

72

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

9.9

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Statement of assurance
The Board of Directors
The priorities and targets in our quality account were identified following a process
which included the board of directors, clinical directors and senior managers of the
Trust and have been incorporated into the key performance indicators reported
regularly to the Board of Directors as part of the performance monitoring of the
Trust’s corporate objectives and which are produced within the Trust’s data quality
policy, framework and standards.
Scrutiny of the information contained within these indicators and its implication as
regards patient safety, clinical outcomes and patient experience takes place at the
quality committee.
The Board of Directors reviews the Trust’s integrated quality, performance, finance
and workforce report each month. Reviews of data quality and the accuracy,
validity and completeness of Trust performance information fall within the remit of
the audit committee, which is informed by the reviews of internal and external audit
and internal management assurances.

Review of services
During 2014/15 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust provided
and/or sub-contracted 117 relevant health services.
The Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data
available to them on the quality of care in all 117 of these relevant health services.
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2014/15
represented 99% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant
health services by the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for
2014/15.

Participation in clinical research
CUH continues to work strategically in partnership with other NHS organisations,
universities, research councils, research charities and industry to provide an
outstanding infrastructure that builds research capacity and supports excellence in
clinical research that will benefit patients.
Strengths in biomedical science are harnessed and translated into clinical research
through the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Cambridge Biomedical
Research Centre (BRC), a partnership between CUH, and the University of
Cambridge. Support for clinical trials is provided by the Cambridge Clinical Trials
Unit (CTU), established in 2010 and now a fully accredited CTU with the NIHR
Clinical Research Network.
Outstanding facilities for experimental and clinical research also exist within the
Addenbrooke’s Clinical Research Centre.
CUH is keen to ensure that patients and the public are both kept informed of and
able to engage in research activities. Our website has a page dedicated to public
involvement and engagement in research see www.cuh.org.uk/research, and
includes details of how to become a member of the patient and public involvement
panel.
A unique opportunity for the public to participate in research is provided by the
Cambridge BioResource, which now includes almost 15,000 local volunteers who
have provided clinical information and samples that allow them to be invited
according to their genetic makeup for clinical research studies; see
www.cambridgebioresource.org.uk
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The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided by or
subcontracted by CUH in 2014/15 that were recruited during that period to
participate in research approved by a Research Ethics Committee was 12,966
compared with 11,205 in 2013/14.

Education and training
One strand of our tripartite mission is our activities in the field of education and
training, which support excellence in the care which our staff provide for patients.
We work closely with the University of Cambridge to train the next generation of
doctors through the University Clinical School. The Postgraduate Medical Centre
(PGMC) continues to deliver the Health Education East of England Learning
Development Agreement (LDA). The centre has expanded its activities to deliver
over 350 days of training which is primarily for postgraduate medical education,
including a Practice Nurse Education Programme, GP Primary Care Programme, and
a Dental Programme. The High Fidelity Medical Simulation Centre run by PGMC
continues to deliver multi-professional and team based training and has been
successful in attracting funding for training programmes in many of the acute
specialties from Health Education East of England (HEEoE). Last year 1,154
delegates attended the Simulation Centre for their multi-professional training. The
PGMC manage The Evelyn Cambridge Surgical Training Centre which is a state-ofthe-art facility providing advanced education to health professionals. The centre has
reached its second year of activity, and has delivered 46 courses attracting 826
national and international attendees. PGMC have conducted a number of
postgraduate exams on behalf of the royal colleges, and will continue to do so in
the future.
The high standard of healthcare education and training is evidenced by the recent
report to the Trust from HEEoE following their multi-professional quality and
performance visit to CUH. At the recent HEEoE Performance Visit CUH was
congratulated on a number of areas of notable practice. These included: strong and
effective leadership for education and training in a wide range of professional
groups, the medical academic training programme, excellent clinical supervision
and excellent training programmes in pharmacy and radiography.
The Education Quality Assurance Framework demonstrates the provision of
excellent multi professional student and continuing professional development at
CUH as evidenced by the robust processes in place, evaluations of programmes,
and student and staff feedback.
The Trust is committed to the training and development of over 600 preregistration students including nurses, midwives, radiographers, physiotherapists,
dieticians, occupational therapists, operating department practitioners and
healthcare scientists whilst on clinical placements at CUH, to ensure they meet the
needs of the future workforce and patient care.
Healthcare support workers (HCSW) form an integral part of clinical teams and are
trained using a programme that meets national ‘Care Certificate’ standards and
utilises a competency based approach. The Trust is working with Health Education
England to pilot a programme to provide prospective nursing students with a year
programme as a HCSW.
Bands 1 to 9 continuing education is managed via a plan agreed with HEEoE and
supports the provision of safe and effective patient care, the development of new
and existing services and developing leadership capability across all staff. Many
speciality programmes are well regarded and delivered by Trust experts using
blended learning and simulation approaches.
Unlocking the potential of existing staff in bands 1–4 as well as bringing in new
talent via apprenticeships continues to underpin the Trust’s commitment to deliver
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high quality, safe patient care whilst increasing the diversity and opportunities to
enable people to improve and progress within and beyond bands 1-4.
The Trust continues to provide a range of leadership and management development
programmes and interventions as well as encouraging our leaders to access to
national and regional development programmes.
The Trust has a multi-professional education and training group that provides a
forum for the development of strategic priorities to support excellent in education
and training with membership from the post graduate medical education centre,
and representatives from professional groups and services.

Participation in national confidential enquiries
During 2014/15 2 national confidential enquiries covered NHS services that CUH
provides. CUH participated in both of these.

Table 23:
Participation in national confidential enquiries
Numbers to

Confidential enquiry title

Numbers submitted
(100% unless
otherwise stated

submit
Medical and Surgical Clinical
Outcome Review
programme – National
Confidential Enquiry into
patient outcome and death

Lower Limb
Amputation

31 cases were forwarded,
7 were selected for
detailed review.

Tracheostomy

60 cases were submitted,
2 were requested for
further review.

Sepsis

Maternal, Infant & Newborn
Clinical Outcome Review
Programme (MBRRACE-UK)

4 patient records were
requested for review.

Gastrointestinal
Haemorrhage

38 cases were submitted,
about 5 were reviewed.

all deaths that fit
criteria

34

Participation in clinical audits
During 2014/15 42 national clinical audits covered NHS services that CUH provides.
CUH participated in all of these.

Table 24:
Participation in clinical audits
Audit title

Numbers to submit

Adherence to British
Society for Clinical
Neurophysiology (BSCN)
and Association of

1 service questionnaire

75

Numbers
submitted
(100% unless
otherwise
stated)
1 questionnaire
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Neurophysiological
Scientists (ANS)
Standards for Ulnar
Neuropathy at Elbow
testing – ORGANISATION
Adherence to British Society
for Clinical Neurophysiology
(BSCN) and Association of
Neurophysiological Scientists
(ANS) Standards for Ulnar
Neuropathy at Elbow (UNE)
testing - CLINICAL DATA
Head & neck cancer
(DAHNO) national audit 2014

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

All Ulnar neuropathy patients

2562

All new diagnoses with
procedures

181

HQIP & BSR Rheumatoid
and Early Inflammatory
Arthritis Clinical Data
2013/14
HQIP Adult UK Inflammatory
Bowel Disease Organisation
Audit 4th Round 2013 to 14
HQIP Cardiac Rhythm
Management Audit (Cardiac
Arrhythmia) 2014 to 15
HQIP Elective Surgery Patient Reported Outcome
Measures (PROMs) 2014
HQIP Gastrointestinal
Haemorrhage 2013/14 by
NCEPOD Clinical Data
HQIP Gastrointestinal
Haemorrhage 2013/14 by
NCEPOD Organisational Data
HQIP MINAP - 2014/15
(Myocardial Ischemia
National Project)
HQIP National Audit of
Dementia 2014 :
Organisational Data
HQIP National Audit of
Dementia 2014 : PART A Clinical Data
HQIP National Audits - Bowel
cancer 2015

All patients with REIA
treated

HQIP National COPD
Discharge 2014 to15 Secondary Care Clinical data
HQIP National COPD
Discharge 2014 to15
Secondary Care Organisation
Data
HQIP National Diabetes
Inpatient Audit - 2014 to 15
NADiA

19 patient records

1 service questionnaire

1 questionnaire

All

62

All seen

67

30

38

1 service questionnaire

1 questionnaire

All MINAP patients

247

1 service questionnaire

Pending

Pending

Pending

All BC patients seen in
period

215

All COPD seen in period

80

1questionnaire

1 questionnaire

All inpatients on audit day

134
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HQIP National Heart Failure
Audit 2014 to 15

All Heart failure patients
seen

466

HQIP National Hip Fracture
Database FFFAP 2015

All Hip Fractures in the year

460

HQIP Transfusion in Children
and Adults with Sickle Cell
Disease
HQIP Transfusion in Children
and Adults with Sickle Cell
Disease (ADULTS)
HQIP: Sentinel Stroke
National Audit Programme
(SSNAP) 2014 to 15 Organisation data
HQIP: Sentinel Stroke
National Audit Programme
for Clinical Data (SSNAP)
2014 to 15
Intensive Care National audit
& Research Centre (ICNARC)
Case Mix Programme 14/15
Initial Management of fitting
Child (Care in Emergency
Departments)
MBRRACE UK Maternal and
Perinatal Mortality 2014

All sickle Cell patients

Pending

All sickle Cell patients

Pending

1questionnaire

1 questionnaire

All stroke patients treat in
the period

168

All admissions in the audit
period

1995

40 to 50 treated cases

41

All maternal & perinatal
deaths

36

Mental Health (Care in
Emergency Departments)

all MH patients seen in ED

29

National BTS Adult
Community Acquired
Pneumonia Audit 2014 to 15
National Clinical Audit &
Patient Outcomes
Programme: (HQIP) National
lung cancer audit (NLCA)
2014
National Comparative Audit
of Blood Transfusion Patient Information &
Consent (2013-14)
(Haematology)
National Diabetes Foot Care
2014
National Neonatal Audit
Programme (NNAP) 2014

Minimum of 20 pneumonia

50

All patients seen in audit
period

63

National Oesophago-gastric
cancer Audit 2014
National Paediatric diabetes
audit 2014-15 NPDA

All diagnosed patients in the
year.
all children seen in
paediatric diabetes clinics
(up to age of 24yrs)
All Renal patients treated in
the year

National Renal Registry UK
2014

All patients given
consenting information.

240

All diabetes patients seen in
clinic
All Neonates treated in the
year

On-going

77

936 babies
145
281

4016
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Older People (Care in
Emergency Departments)

All older people treated in ED

PICANet Annual Performance
Audit 2014/5
Provision of Mental Health
Care in Acute Hospital :
2015 NCEPOD
Renal Transplantation
(NHSBT UK Transplant
Registry) 2014
The British Thoracic Society
Pleural Procedures 2014
Clinical Data

All paediatric intensive care
admissions in the year
All MH patients treated in
the year

681

All renal transplant patients

250

The British Thoracic Society
Pleural Procedures 2014
Organisation Data
The Trauma Audit &
Research Network (TARN):
2014 audit of Orthopaedic
Injuries
The Trauma Audit &
Research Network (TARN):
2014 audit of Thoracic,
Abdominal and Shocked
patients
The Trauma Audit &
Research Network (TARN):
2014 Head Injuries
UK Inflammatory Bowel
Disease Audit 5th round (4rd
for paeds) IBD 2014-2016
National Prostate Cancer
Audit

BTS: National Adult Non
Invasive Ventilation Audit
2015
NCEPOD Sepsis
National Joint Registry
National Cardiac Arrest Audit
(NCAA) 2014/15

National Vascular Registry
(NVR): A National

Minimum of 20 procedures
undertaken between June
and July 2014, of which at
least 8 should be chest
drains.

101

Starts April 2015

23

1 Organisation
Questionnaire
All Traumatic Orthopaedic
Injury patients in the year

735 (still entering)

All trauma Thoracic, Abdo &
shocked injury patients

680 (still entering)

All trauma head injury
patients received for
treatment in Addenbrooke’s
All or 50 Paediatric IBD
patients admitted for over
24 hours in Jan to Dec
period
I organisation Questionnaire
& All newly diagnosed and
radical prostatectomy
(procedure), prostate cancer
patients.
Postponed to 2016 by BTS

750 (still entering)

4 patients that is identified
as having sepsis in May 2014
All patients who had joint
replacement procedures in
the year
All individuals receiving
chest compressions and/or
defibrillation and attended
by the hospital-based
resuscitation team or
equivalent in the year.
All vascular surgery patients

78

8

1 Organisation
questionnaire

Postponed to
2016 by BTS
4
602
115

289
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Prospective Audit 2013/14

The reports of 31 national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust in 2014/ 15
and CUH has taken a number of actions to improve the quality of healthcare
provided. Examples include:
Lower limb amputation NCEPOD study 2014
The Trust now has two consultants who provide liaison services for frail elderly
surgical patients upon request and a team of specialist nurses to provide liaison
work and expertise to ward staff in the surgical areas – the SAFE team.
Pre-operative assessment clinics have now been initiated for frail older adults
and are holding two multi-disciplinary clinics weekly. Many amputees who may
be appropriate to attend such a clinic can now be seen as part of a PRIME pre-op
assessment.
The Trust now has in place, in addition to the diabetes foot clinic team, a
diabetes outreach team to see every patient with diabetes within 24 hours of
admission. They are contacted whenever glucose control becomes an issueeither hypoglycaemia or persistent hyperglycaemia. This is a team of diabetes
educators lead by a consultant physician.
A specific Diabetes and Insulin Safety Board has been set up to take a hospital
wide view of insulin prescribing. With the recent introduction of eHospital, a
separate working group has been set up to ensure the previously embedded safe
practice crosses over in to e-prescribing.
National adult non-invasive ventilation procedures audit
Training has been offered to the East Anglia Ambulances Service teams and the
emergency department to address previously identified over oxygenation of
patients. Regular monitoring through use of incident forms with discussion at
quarterly COPD & clinical governance meetings has been imbedded into the
Trust’s practice in the respiratory specialty.
A new pathway now being used with the respiratory support and sleep centre
and introduction of temporary home mechanical ventilation have helped in
addressing the previously identified prolonged length stay.
National bowel cancer audit
• Funding for the post of data clerk post was secured and the position filled as a
way of ensuring that data accessed from EPIC is developed for submission and
fit for purpose.
• Access to emergency theatre and perioperative care has been improved by
securing a morning emergency list in the new build, in addition to the regular
general emergency list.
National diabetes inpatients audit
• There is now a consultant in post to lead the diabetes outreach team, (DOT).
This has transformed the ability of the team to deliver an appropriate and
targeted service. This was done as part of reviewing the referral process for
patients requiring the diabetes team and how the whole inpatient service is
structured.
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A protocol for assessments of inpatients with foot risk in now in place and
through the DOT, there is now a way of ensuring that all patients coming with
diabetes have their feet checked.

National paediatric diabetes audit
• The paediatric diabetes transition team has now been expanded to include an
additional half time nurse plus half time dietician for transition with pending
allocation of adult consultant time (1PA).
• Through maintaining a key worker system by developing a more structured
education package – especially for the transition age group which has the
highest HbA1c – the paediatric diabetes team is now handling admissions more
proactively for stabilisation and involving relevant agencies.
National falls and fragility audit
• A national osteoporosis peer review exercise was undertaken in 2014 and the
Osteoporosis Steering Committee Group set up is currently working on plans to
develop the fracture liaison service.
• Hip fracture patients at CUH now being assessed and commenced on treatment
unless a DEXA is required. All DEXA results and management plans are being
sent to primary care as part of the metabolic bone service
National sentinel stroke national audit programme
• Therapy time to assessment is now being correctly documented in patient
records if patient is not suitable for therapy as a shared responsibility between
the medical and therapy teams.
• Funding for the acute nurse bleep which was recommended in 2009 by the royal
colleges in a peer review – without which the service cannot manage, has now
been secured.

Use of the CQUIN payment framework
The CQUIN framework is a national framework for locally agreed quality
improvement schemes. 2.5% of CUH income in 2014/15 was conditional upon
achieving the CQUINS agreed with NHS Cambridgeshire for the provision of NHS
services. The potential CQUIN income available if the Trust had met all its targets
across all commissioners’ contracts was £11,191,448. CUH received a CQUIN
payment in 2014/15 of £10.438m. The corresponding CQUIN value for 2013/14
was £11,021,485, with the Trust achieving £10,634,225.
Full details of each CQUIN and the performance achieved during the year are set
out in 9.28.
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Care Quality Commission registration and compliance
The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its
current registration status is registered without any compliance conditions. The
Care Quality Commission has not taken any enforcement action against CUH during
2014/15.
CUH has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the Care
Quality Commission during the reporting period.
The Trust continues to monitor compliance against all of the CQC essential
standards of quality and safety on an ongoing basis. The Board of Directors and the
Quality Committee are updated monthly via the integrated quality report.
A CCQ planned inspection of CUH took place in April 2015 and their written report is
awaited.

Data quality
Data quality refers to the information recorded by the hospital on computerised
systems about patients. This includes:
•

name, date of birth, address

•

GP information

•

attendance at clinics

•

related specialties

•

procedures undergone

We undertake regular audits to make sure that data held on the system is accurate.
The hospital follows national guidelines about how this data are collected and
stored, and we carry out regular audits to ensure we are compliant with what is
expected.
We also share data with partners as appropriate, for example clinical commissioning
groups (CCGs). This data are used to plan and review the healthcare needs of the
area.
Part of data quality is the use of the NHS Number. This is the only national unique
identifier which is a strictly safe way of sharing information about a patient with
other clinicians and healthcare staff, especially across organisational boundaries. It
is therefore essential that the data quality work within CUH incorporates this
number.
CUH submitted records during 2014/15 to the secondary uses service for inclusion
in the hospital episode statistics which are included in the latest published data. The
percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid NHS
number was 99.2% for admitted patient care, 99.9% for outpatient care, and
96.4% for accident and emergency care. The percentage of records in the published
data which included the patients’ valid general practitioner registration code was
100% for admitted patient care, 100% for outpatient care and 99.9% for accident
and emergency care.
The following tables show this, and additional information.
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Table 25
Information governance – clinical information assurance
Data Quality Results
Admitted Patient Care
Outpatients
A&E
Births
Delivery Events
Other Birth Events
Other Delivery Events
Maternity Data Quality Score
Adult Critical Care
Paediatric Critical Care
Neonatal Critical Care

All SHAs

EOE SHA

95.8
95.8
97.0
91.3
95.0
93.3
96.5
1.013
98.6
98.9
97.5

94.1
94.2
97.8
97.3
97.7
97.6
97.9
0.991
99.0
99.8
99.9

Addenbrooke’s
95.6
91.2
96.8
94.6
95.0
97.3
97.9
1.013
98.2
99.8
99.8

Table 26
Data quality report
Data Quality Results
Registered GP Practice:
Admitted Patient Care
Outpatients
A&E
NHS Number:
Admitted Patient Care
Outpatients
A&E

All SHAs

EOE SHA

Addenbrooke’s

99.9
99.9
99.2

100.0
100.0
99.9

100.0
100.0
99.9

99.2
99.3
95.2

99.4
99.4
97.8

98.1
99.3
93.0

Information Source: NHS Information Centre – data quality dashboards
Based on SUS April–March 14/15 data at the month 10 inclusion date.

Information governance toolkit attainment levels
All NHS organisations are required to comply with the information governance
toolkit, this covers standards on data protection, confidentiality, information
security, clinical information and corporate information. Acute trusts are assessed
against 45 requirements and can achieve a level score of between 0-3. All trusts
must reach a ‘level 2’ in all requirements, which is then assessed as a satisfactory
score.
The CUH information governance assessment report overall score for 2014/15 was
84% (113 out of 135) achieving a level 2 or 3 against all requirements and was
graded a satisfactory green rating.

A&E clinical coding
CUH was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2014/15
by the Audit Commission.
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Independent assurance report
Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of Cambridge
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on the quality report
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Cambridge University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement
in respect of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s quality report
for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the ‘quality report’) and certain performance
indicators contained therein.
Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2015 subject to limited assurance
consist of the national priority indicators as mandated by Monitor:
•
•

percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete
pathways at the end of the reporting period
emergency readmissions within 28 days of discharge from hospital

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’.
Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the quality
report in accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures,
on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:
•

the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual

•

the quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources –
specified in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports

•

the indicators in the quality report identified as having been the subject of
limited assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material
respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for
External Assurance on Quality Reports

We read the quality report and consider whether it addresses the content
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.
We read the other information contained in the quality report and consider whether
it is materially inconsistent with:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

board minutes for the period April 2014 to May 2015
papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2014 to
May 2015
feedback from commissioners dated May 2015
feedback from governors dated May 2015
feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated May 2015
feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated May 2015
the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local
Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, 2014/15
the 2014/15 national patient survey
the 2014/15 national staff survey
Care Quality Commission intelligent monitoring report
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the 2014/15 head of internal audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control
environment

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the
‘documents’). Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency
requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
(ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant
subject matter experts.
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of
Governors of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to
assist the Council of Governors in reporting Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the
disclosure of this report within the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2015,
to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their
governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in
connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a
body and Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this
report save where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.
Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements
other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued by the
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited
assurance procedures included:
•

evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for
managing and reporting the indicators

•

making enquiries of management

•

testing key management controls

•

limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator
back to supporting documentation

•

comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual to the categories reported in the quality report

•

reading the documents

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance
engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance
engagement.
Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than
financial information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the
methods used for determining such information.
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows
for the selection of different but acceptable measurement techniques which can
result in materially different measurements and can impact comparability. The
precision of different measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the
nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the
measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may change over time. It is
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important to read the quality report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or nonmandated indicators which have been determined locally by Cambridge University
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.
Conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2015:
the quality report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
the quality report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources
specified above
the indicators in the quality report subject to limited assurance have not been
reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Botanic House, 100 Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 1AR
21 May 2015
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Reviewing performance against last year’s priorities for
improvement
An overall summary of performance against our priorities for improvement is set
out in 9.27.

9.12

Improving safety and reducing harm – harm-free care
Our goal was that care delivered would be safe and harm-free, measured by the
following indicators

Safety Thermometer
The Safety Thermometer, a nationally mandated method of assessing the safety of
care provided in hospitals. It uses an audit of every inpatient once a month to
assess four elements of care to determine how many patients have received ‘harm
free care.’ The four elements are:
•

the existence of pressure ulcers

•

urine infections in patients with catheters

•

falls within the last 72-hours

•

a venous thromboembolism

Our aim was that care, as measured by the monthly audit should be 98%
harm-free.
Did we achieve our aim in 2014/15?
Yes, we achieved an aggregate 98.4% harm free care, 0.1% higher than 2013/14.
The rate excluding old harm (where the patient had the harm prior to coming under
our care) has been greater than 98.3% over the year.
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Harm rates
The hospital has in place a well developed incident reporting process which requires
staff to report incidents, irrespective of whether harm occurred. We recognise that
the system does rely on identifying that an event which is reportable has taken
place, and reporting it, however around 10,000 patient-related incidents were
reported in 2014. Good reporting is viewed as an indication of a positive safety
culture. We measured the rate of harm as a percentage of patient contacts each
month. Patient contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day
case and Emergency Department attendances.
Our aim was that less than 0.2% of patient contacts should result in an
incident report where patient harm is recorded.
Did we achieve our aim in 2014/15?
Yes, aggregate for the year was 0.14%, 0.01% lower than 2013/14. In 2014/15 a
total of 10,562 patient safety incidents were reported, compared with 10,368 in
2013/14. The actual number of incidents reported each month where some degree
of harm was reported ranged between 96 and 156.

Minimising infection
We committed to reduce the number of all avoidable infections and the harm they
cause and in particular to keep the number of patients who acquire C. difficile or a
MRSA bacteraemia in hospital to a minimum. By reducing the numbers of affected
patients to a minimum, we reduced the need for a prolonged length of stay,
surgery or admission to an intensive care unit as a result of the infection. During
2014/15 we focussed on environmental cleaning standards, isolation, antibiotic
prescribing, hand hygiene and staff education as part of the programme to help
reduce and prevent healthcare associated infections. In 2015/16 we will continue t
to ensure we achieve high standards in the prevention of infection control including:
effective screening, environmental cleaning, hand hygiene and isolation, alongside
the judicious use of antibiotics and monitoring of all aspects of infection control
performance via regular audits, monthly performance reports whilst also developing
the ability to fully utilise the benefits of eHospital.
Our aim was to minimise the number of avoidable hospital acquired
infections and to meet our contractual ceilings for these infections during
2014/15. The ceiling for hospital acquired MRSA bacteraemia was zero and
61 for hospital-acquired Clostridium difficile cases.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
MRSA: Yes, in 2014/15 there were no MRSA blood stream infections compared to
four in 2013/14,
C. Difficile: Yes, in 2013/14 there were 54 cases of C. Difficile infection, compared
to 50 in 2013/14, although we are disappointed that this is 4 above the 2013/14
number.
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Improving the reliability of care – delay-free care
Our goal was that care delivered by the hospital would be reliable and timely,
measured by the following indicators. 2014/15 has been a challenging year for the
NHS in terms of patient demand and CUH is no exception, we have treated a
greater number of patients than ever before. Similar demands have been made on
our partners in Social Care and this has contributed to our inability to discharge
patients who no longer need medical care.
In October 2014 we implemented eHospital, one of the largest IT projects of its
kind in the NHS that will, once fully optimised improve the quality and safety of the
care we provide to our patients. The implementation, as we had planned, did
disrupt the smooth running of the hospital.

Emergency department waiting time
In excess of 102,000 patients attended the emergency department at
Addenbrooke’s in 2014/15. There is a nationally mandated target to see 95% of
patients within four hours.
Our aim was to meet this target each quarter.
Did we achieve our aim in 2014/15?
No, we did not meet the target in any quarter, the average for the year was 83.7%,
a significant reduction on the 94.7% achieved in 2013/14.
admissions via the emergency department were up 2% (690 patients)
attendances for 2014/15 up by 3.1% (3134 patients)
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We continue to look at ways in which we can improve our performance so that we
can meet the 4 hour target. These include the design of the Emergency
Department, the GP out of hour’s service, and redesign of our triage processes.
We have appointed a further two consultant posts and continue to try and recruit
additional Band 7 nurses, although finding suitable applicants remains challenging.

Admission within 18 weeks of GP referral
We recognise the importance for patients to be admitted in a timely manner
following referral by their GP.
Our aim was that 90% of our patients who require admission would be admitted
within an 18-week timeframe.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
No, we achieved this standard at Trust level for 6 of the 12 months of the year, the
aggregate score being 87.3% compared with 10 of the 12 months and 93% in
2013/14.
Non Admitted

Admitted

Target

Jan 15

Feb 15

Dec 14

Oct 14

Nov 14

Sep 14

Jul 14

% <18wks

Aug 14

Jun 14

Apr 14

May 14

Feb 14

Jan 15

Feb 15

Dec 14

Oct 14

Nov 14

Sep 14

Jul 14

Aug 14

Jun 14

Apr 14

May 14

Feb 14

Mar 14

% <18wks

Mar 14

100%
98%
96%
94%
92%
90%
88%

100%
95%
90%
85%
80%
75%
70%
65%

Target

Treatment within 62 days of an urgent cancer referral
We recognise the importance for patients of being treated in a timely manner
following urgent referral by their GP where cancer is suspected.
Our aim is that 85% of patients are treated within 62 days of referral.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
No, we achieved this standard for 2 out of the 12 months of the year, the
aggregate score being 79.9% (excluding any agreed re-allocations from latereferring trusts).
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62 day cancer waits - standard urgent referrals
90%
85%

80%
75%

70%

Breaches
Month performance

Mar 15

Feb 15

Jan 15

Dec 14

Nov 14

Oct 14

Sep 14

Aug 14

Jul 14

Jun 14

May 14

Apr 14

65%

Breaches

35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

Target
Quarterly av

Cancelled operations
Once a date is set for an operation, we will do our best to ensure that date is kept
to, while recognising there will be occasions when emergencies impact on routine
operating.
Our aim was that the number of operations cancelled on or after the day of
admission was less than 1%.
Did we achieve our aims in 2013/14?
No, we just missed our target, the aggregate score for the year was 1.34%,
compared with 1.02% in 2013/14.

90

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

9.14

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Improving the experience of our patients – person-centre care
Our goal was that care delivered by the Trust would be a positive experience and
not result in the need to raise a formal complaint, measured by the following
indicators

Inpatient experience
We surveyed patients each quarter using a questionnaire to seek views of the care
received. The questions covered topics that include infection control, cleanliness,
privacy, safety, nursing and medical care received, being informed and involved in
the care provided, and food.
Our aim was that 90% of patients who respond to the surveys answer
questions as ‘yes,’ ‘met expectations’ or ‘above expectations’.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
Yes, the aggregate score for the year was 94.6%.

Outpatient experience
We surveyed patients who attend outpatients twice during the year using a 23 point
questionnaire to seek views of the care received. The questions covered the quality
of experience pre, during and post appointment. Topics include timeliness,
information provided and clarity about next steps.
Our aim was that 90% of patients who respond to the surveys answer
questions as ‘strongly agree’ or ‘agree’.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
Partially, outpatient surveys were undertaken in July 2014 and February 2015. The
results of the July 2014 survey gave a score of 89.7%, with the February 2015
survey recording 90%.

Friends and Family Test
This is an NHS wide initiative to gather feedback about patients’ experiences. In
simple terms it is seeking to answer the question ‘is the care I received good
enough for my friends or family?’
Our aim was to improve the 2013/14 score by 10% and achieve a score of
greater than 57/100.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
Yes, under the new scoring system 61.1% of our patients told us they would
recommend our services if they had friend and family who required similar care and
treatment.
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The Department of Health changed the scoring system during the course of the
year. Patients are now asked to rate a hospital on a 5 point scale ranging from
extremely likely to extremely unlikely. They are also given the option of don’t know.
During the course of the last year we have rolled out iPads that enable our patients
to give real time feedback. These are now in the majority of inpatient wards and
are starting to be placed within the clinics. We also have the surveys on our website
for outpatients to access when they get home should they prefer. In the year ahead
we will be intruding the surveys into children’s & young adults services and aim to
improve the way we seek feedback form our patients who attend one of our day
units or day or surgery units. We aim to make real time feedback quick and easy
for our patients, whenever they wish to give us feedback. We aim to maintain our
high score.

Patient complaints
We always embrace complaints as these help identify areas where we can improve
and are a way of measuring the level of quality we are delivering.
We measured the complaint rate as a percentage of patient contacts, patient
contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day case and
emergency department attendances.
Our aim was that the number of formal complaints received should be less
than 0.1% of patient contacts.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
Yes, the monthly rate as a percentage of patient contacts ranged between 0.04%
and 0.08%. In 2014/15 a total of 523 formal complaints were received, compared
with 465 in 2013/14.

9.15

Providing clinically effective care
Our goal was that care delivered by the Trust would be effective, in simple terms it
delivers what it says it will, measured by the following indicators

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR)
This is a nationally calculated ratio prepared by Dr Foster where a score of 100
would mean actual deaths were in line with expected. An HSMR of less than 100
indicates fewer patients than expected died, a figure of greater than 100 indicated
more than expected died.
Our aim was to have an HSMR that placed the hospital in the top 10% of
our peer group and have an aggregate hospital HSMR of less than 90.
Did we achieve our aims in 2014/15?
Yes, the HSMR for the latest 12 months available (to December 2014) was 84.8,
compared with 77.7 in 2013/14. The graph below sets out HSMR performance, note
however that data is always 3 months in arrears.
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Patient-related outcome measures (PROMS)
These are nationally mandated and provide a patient perspective of the
effectiveness of the care they received; in simple terms the health gain or loss
following the procedure. They cover surgery undertaken in respect of hips and
knees, groin hernia and varicose veins. The information is collated nationally and
therefore data for 2012/13 has only recently been made available.
Our aim was that for 2014/15 our results 2012/13 are above the national
average.
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
Partially, the information so far available in 2014/15 identifies an improvement on
2013/14 and the results are above the national average in one out of the three
measures, where sufficient procedures were undertaken at CUH. The Trust did not
undertake enough varicose vein procedures to submit data.
The Trust was above the national average for hernia, but below for hip and knee
surgery.

Clinical frailty score for patients aged 75 or above
Care of the frail elderly: The Trust is seeing and admitting an increasing number of
frail elderly patients (those aged 75 and over). We recognised that developing
services to better serve this group of patients is central to improving both quality of
care and developing sustainable services for the future.
A key element of their admission is that they undergo a proper screening using the
clinical frail score tool within their first 72 hours in hospital to identify their
treatment requirements.
Our aim was that in 2014/15 at least 85% of patients aged 75 and over, admitted
as emergencies had a CFS screen performed within 72 hours of admission.
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
Yes, we achieved a CFS screening rate of 86.5%.
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Staff as partners
Our goal was that all our patients would receive high quality care, provided by an
engaged, motivated and well trained workforce, measured by the following
indicators.

Staff turnover
Staff turnover is measured for each staff group on a monthly basis and is calculated
using the number of leavers and joiners as a percentage of the workforce
Our aim was to reduce average staff turnover by 10% during 2013/14.
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
No, the annualised staff turnover rate for the year has varied between 12% and
13%. Whilst our turnover rate is in line with the national average it is higher that
we would have wished for. The last 12 months have been extremely challenging for
all staff groups and all areas of the Trust with sustained levels of higher than
planned activity and the implementation of eHospital. We will continue to focus on
retention and recruitment in 2015/16 and a Retention Plan has been agreed with
the aim of reducing the turnover rate.

Staff appraisal
We believe it is important that all staff who work for the Trust should have an
annual appraisal meeting with their manager to discuss objectives, performance
and any other issues relating to their employment.
Our aim was to ensure that over 90% of staff had an annual appraisal in
2014/15.
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
Yes, 96.5% of staff had an appraisal during the year. This was a significant
achievement.

Staff engagement
Having an engaged workforce is something we want to achieve. The Trust
undertakes its own internal staff engagement survey each year and we set
ourselves an ambitious target for 2014/15.
Our aim is to improve staff participation in the survey to 55%
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
No, only 25% of staff took part in the 2014 national staff survey which we want to
improve on in 2015/16. In 2014 we changed from issuing the questionnaire to a
sample of staff (approx 800) to issuing it to all staff. Therefore although the
response rate was lower we have feedback from significantly more staff,
approximately 2000 staff, than in previous national staff surveys. The survey was
undertaken during the critical go-live period for Epic which undoubtedly will have
had an impact on the response rate.
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Sickness absence
Reducing and keeping sickness absence low is an NHS wide challenge. CUH’s rate is
already below the NHS national average, however we want to make sure it is as low
as possible.
Our aim was to have an overall Trust sickness absence rate of 2.85%
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
No, the overall rate was 3%. The aim was ambitious given the Trust’s already
relatively low sickness absence rate. We have comprehensive policies, processes
and support mechanisms in place and will continue in 2015/16 to support staff to
have excellent attendance at work.

Staff ‘Friends and Family’ test
One of the key elements of the national ‘Friends and Family’ test is to ask staff their
views regarding the care delivered at the hospital in which they work. In simple
terms is its good enough for them or their family.
Our aim was to implement the test during the year in line with national
guidance
Did we achieve for 2014/15?
Yes, the staff ‘Friends & Family Test’ was introduced successfully to the Trust in
2014. We integrated it into the Trust’s staff engagement surveying cycle. In
Quarter 1 (June) and Quarter 2 (September) the Trust achieved a 90% score for
staff who would recommend the Trust as a place for treatment (exceeding the
national average score); and the Trust achieved 61% scores for staff who would
recommend the Trust as a place for work (matching the national average score). All
trusts are exempt from Quarter 3 and the Trust is awaiting results for Quarter 4
(March 2015).

9.17

Reviewing and setting local and national indicators and targets
As well as us setting our own priorities for improvement, shown in section 6, there
are a number of mandated requirements and indicators set for the NHS as a whole.
These are as follows:

National quality indicators
NHS England mandated that all organisations providing NHS commissioned care
review their performance against a common set of measures across the new NHS
Outcomes Framework.
Where data is available from the Health and Social Care Information Centre, a
comparison has been included of the numbers, percentages, values, scores or rates
of each of the Trust’s indicators with:
the national average for the same
those NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts with the highest and lowest of the
same
Full details of each national indicator and the performance achieved during the year
are set out in 9.26.
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CQUINs
The CQUIN framework is a national framework for locally agreed quality
improvement schemes. 2.5% of CUH income in 2014/15 was conditional upon
achieving the CQUINS agreed with NHS Cambridgeshire for the provision of NHS
services. The potential CQUIN income available if the Trust had met all its targets
across all commissioners’ contracts was £11,191,448. CUH received a CQUIN
payment in 2014/15 of £10.438m. The corresponding CQUIN value for 2013/14
was £11,021,485, with the Trust achieving £10,634,225.
Full details of each CQUIN and the performance achieved during the year is set out
in 9.28.

National targets
Set by the Department of Health, these targets reflect the NHS Operating
Framework which sets out the main planning framework, key financial assumptions
and national targets for the NHS across all areas of activity.
Full details of each national target and the performance achieved during the year is
set out in 9.29.

9.18

Feedback on the quality report and accounts
If you would like further information contained within this report, please write to:
Trust Secretary
PO Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust,
Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ
Or email: trust.secretary@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
This document is also available on request in other languages, large print and audio
format – please phone 01223 274648.

9.19

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the quality
report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the ‘National Health
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations’ to prepare quality accounts for each
financial year.
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements)
and on the arrangements that foundation trust boards should put in place to
support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.
In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy
themselves that:
the content of the quality account meets the requirements set out in the ‘NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual’ 2014/15
the content of the quality account is not inconsistent with internal and external
sources of information including:
board minutes and papers for the period April 2014 to March 2015
papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2014 to
March 2015
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feedback from commissioners dated 14/05/2015
feedback from governors dated 14/05/2015
feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 21/05/2015
the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the ‘Local
Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009’, dated
27/05/2015
latest national patient survey dated 02/12/2014
latest national staff survey dated 24/02/2015
the head of internal audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment
dated 20/05/2015
CQC ‘Intelligent Monitoring Report’ dated December 2014
The quality account presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s
performance over the period covered the performance information reported in the
quality account is reliable and accurate there are proper internal controls over the
collection and reporting of the measures of performance included in the quality
report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working
effectively in practice the data underpinning the measures of performance reported
in the quality account is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality
standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review
and the quality account has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual
reporting guidance (which incorporates the ‘Quality Accounts Regulations’) as well
as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the quality account.
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied
with the above requirements in preparing the quality report.
By order of the Board:

Dr Keith McNeil

Jane Ramsey

Chief Executive

CUH Chair
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Governors’ statement on the quality account 2014/15
The Council of Governors greatly values the opportunity which governors have to
be involved in the development of the Trust’s quality priorities for the coming year,
and to comment on the quality account for 2014/15.
During this year, the governors have continued to scrutinise the integrated report
on quality, finance and performance. The governors welcomed the improved
openness and transparency of the Trust’s reporting arrangements, particularly the
public Board of Directors sessions and high level of executive involvement in the
Council of Governors meetings and director/governor working group meetings. As
in previous years, the governors and directors will have the opportunity to discuss
together, the Trust’s quality performance at the governor/director working groups.
We will continue to monitor the Trust’s progress towards the aims which it has set
itself, and offer necessary but constructive challenge if we consider that this is not
progressing as planned. Governors will also work hard to ensure that the Trust
membership is kept informed and engaged in progress against these objectives.
Governors were pleased that the Trust achieved a number of its quality account
metrics, but are disappointed that aims for improvement in some areas which are
particularly important to our patients and public experience, have not been fully
achieved in this year. Although governors recognise the especially challenging
healthcare environment in which the Trust operates and our generally excellent
patients outcomes, the Trust must ensure that quality account aims are delivered to
plan.
Governors welcomed the quality priorities which the Trust has set out for the
forthcoming year.

9.21

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning
Group statement on the quality account 2014/15
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) has
reviewed the quality account produced by Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust (CUHFT) for 2014/15.
The CCG and CUHFT work closely together to review performance against quality
indicators and ensure any concerns are addressed. There is a structure of regular
meetings in place between the CCG, CUHFT and other appropriate stakeholders to
ensure the quality of CUHFT services is reviewed continuously with the
commissioner throughout the year. In addition, the CCG has carried out announced
and unannounced visits to CUHFT to observe practice and talk to staff and patients
about quality of care, feeding back any concerns so the Trust can take action where
required.
These visits included a review of processes for ensuring patients are discharged
from the hospital in a smooth and timely way. There were some issues raised about
the systems in place on the day of discharge and the Trust has been working to
improve these. One of CUHFT’s five key priorities is delay-free care and the Trust is
part of a whole system focus on delayed transfers of care. A new priority to manage
the number of days lost to assessment for patients medically fit to leave has been
added for 2015/16. The Trust also needs to continue its focus on discharge process
as highlighted by feedback from patents, and aim for a significant improvement in
this area following action taken over the past two years.
Capacity and increasing demand has also been highlighted as a concern in the
CUHFT quality account and the CCG has been working with the Trust to address
these issues. The Trust was unable to meet the national target for patients seen in
the emergency department within four hours in the last two quarters of 2014/15.
This remains a priority for 2015/16. There were also issues identified in relation to
waiting times in orthopaedics and ophthalmology.
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CUHFT is monitored by both the Care Quality Commission and Monitor, independent
regulators of NHS Trusts. The Trust is compliant with all Care Quality Commission
requirements. An announced inspection is planned for April 2015. In summer 2014,
Monitor agreed the Trust was no longer in breach of its authorisation. However, the
regulator is now reviewing further information following breaches of the emergency
department, cancer and referral to treatment targets and deterioration in the
Trust’s financial position. The CCG is working with CUHFT to drive improvements
and continues to monitor how the Trust is addressing the required improvements.
In autumn 2014, CUHFT started the implementation of its eHospital electronic
patient record system. Considerable planning and training had been carried out to
minimise disruption in the implementation period. Unfortunately, significant
performance and quality concerns were raised with targets not delivered in several
areas including venous thromboembolism assessment, outpatient bookings,
emergency department waiting times, and referral to treatment times. In addition
GPs reported an increase in inaccurate and incomplete discharge summaries, and
problems with pathology services.
There have also been concerns in relation to safeguarding children training, and the
Trust has put in place systems to improve access to this training, including a new
eLearning package. CUHFT faced a significant safeguarding children incident in
regards to a member of staff. The
Trust responded appropriately and is continuing to seek to learn from the incident
in order to ensure that as far as they are able children are safeguarded when
attending the Trust.
CUHFT has put in place a detailed action plan to recover from the eHospital
implementation problems and increase support for staff. The CCG is working with
the Trust to support recovery and has carried out a series of visits which gave
assurance that quality of care has not been compromised by the eHospital
problems. The Trust is one of the first healthcare providers to carry out such a
significant change and the new system will be a driver for improvements in patient
care. The Trust will also be able to share the learning from their implementation
with other providers who are moving towards an eHospital system.
The statement of the chief executive acknowledges the importance of the staff in
the work of the Trust, and this is emphasised in a range of national reports,
particularly in relation to safe staffing. The requirement to report staffing ratios on
ward and carry out regular workforce establishment reviews was introduced in
2014, and CUHFT has implemented these requirements, setting up a system of
monitoring and escalation to ensure safe staffing. The safe staffing levels have been
affected by increases in capacity driven by urgent care pressures and a high
vacancy rate for registered nurses. The Trust is implementing a range of options to
manage staffing levels but these are unsustainable in the longer term, and the
capacity issues need to be addressed urgently.
There are also systems to support engagement of staff and allow staff to raise
concerns. However, the results of the 2014 national staff survey showed a
significant fall in the overall staff engagement score. The survey was carried out
between September and November 2014 which overlapped with the launch of
eHospital and the Trust feels that the results reflect the associated capacity
pressures caused by this implementation. The Trust is engaging with staff to
identify and implement improvements at organisational, divisional and service level.
A new Workforce Experience Committee has been established to co-ordinate the
Trust’s approach to improving staff experience and engagement. CUHFT has set
additional priorities for 2015/16 focusing on the ‘Workforce as Partners’ key priority
stream which should provide assurance as to the success of the measures being put
in place to improve staff engagement.
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CUHFT’s priority to ensure patients suffer no avoidable harm includes a focus on
hospital-acquired Clostridium difficile. The Trust set a local ceiling for this infection
of 50 for 2014/15 which was achieved. However, there were some concerns about
the timeliness of isolation and prompt sending of specimens and the Trust
continues to monitor processes to ensure compliance and improvement. The ceiling
set for Clostridium difficile for 2015/16 is 49; however, the CCG would expect the
Trust to aim for a more significant reduction in cases.
The CUHFT quality strategy set out priorities for 2014/15 which covered improving
patient experience, staff engagement, safety and reliability of care, eliminating
avoidable harm and providing clinically effective care. Eight of the fourteen
priorities were achieved in full. The majority of these priorities have been carried
forward into 2015/16. However, most targets have not been changed from the
2014/15 levels (with several of these also not increased from those for 2013/14).
The CCG would like to see the Trust set more stretching targets to drive
improvement, rather than aiming for a static position.
The quality account sets out three positive initiatives that will support quality
improvement going forward; a monthly programme of safety and quality learning,
the establishment of a quality and safety academic unit, and looking at global
comparators for quality. The CCG applaud these projects and look to the Trust to
ensure learning from these is fed into the health economy and drives improvement
in care.
Quality accounts offer a transparent way for trusts to report on innovation,
education and research. CUH’s account shows the strength of the Trust’s
partnerships for research, and the range of education initiatives for clinical
professionals. There are good examples of the way the Trust has learnt from its
clinical audit programme. However, learning from the incidents reported in the
Trust is not included.
The CUHFT quality account is presented in an understandable and consistent
format. The priorities for the Trust are set out clearly, with rationale for inclusion
for the 15/16 goals. The report includes all the nationally mandated sections.
However, a list of services and specialties provided by the Trust is not given or
signposted. The CCG has reviewed the data presented in the quality account and
this appears to be in line with other data published.

9.22

Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee statement
on the quality account 2014/15
No statement was received.

9.23

Cambridgeshire Healthwatch statement on the quality account
2014/15
The Trust continues to deliver generally good quality care for patients and takes
prompt action when concerns are raised. As a world leader in many fields the Trust
is to be commended for its outstanding performance in various specialisms.
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire has a positive relationship with the Trust and we are
pleased with the priority placed upon patient experience and person centred care.
In previous quality accounts, Healthwatch Cambridgeshire has highlighted the
benefits that could be gained from deeper analysis and year on year comparisons of
both PALS and complaints data. The Trust could do more to demonstrate this and
how learning from feedback takes place.
The rollout of the EPIC eHospital system has been difficult for staff and patients,
despite the planning and training that was put in place, it has impacted upon
communications with patients. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire stresses the need for
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the Trust to be certain that it is addressing all areas requiring improvement.
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is also concerned that delays in elective care will
inevitably increase waiting times.
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is aware that the Trust has shortages of staff in many
areas. The Trust’s workforce do a wonderful job, very often under difficult
circumstances, and all staff are thanked for their commitment to patient care. The
25% return rate for the staff survey is very low and the Trust needs to take steps
to ensure morale does not slip further.
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is pleased that an NHS organisation successfully
tendered for the Older People’s and Community Services contract and looks forward
to the Trust playing a significant role in integrating services in the coming year.

9.24

Healthwatch Suffolk response to the quality account 2014/15
Addenbrooke’s Hospital has an outstanding reputation for delivering high quality
care, which is safe and evidenced based. Seen by the public as a ‘specialist’ hospital
many patients feel safer just knowing they are attending this hospital above other
local providers.
This perception of exceptional care is for the most part reflected in the evidence
highlighted in the quality account. Whilst challenging, the introduction of eHospital
is now functional and will add value to the patient experience in a variety of ways.
It is pleasing to read that you are no longer in breach with Monitor, demonstrating
the commitment made to drive up standards in the Trust.
Whilst the priorities and targets set in the quality account were identified in
partnership with directors and senior staff, there is no evidence of involving other
staff at lower grades whose experience and knowledge could prove valuable.
The Trust has proved it can provide safe care, as highlighted by the safety
thermometer results, harm rates and infection rates and the HSMR (Hospital
Standardised Mortality Ratio) although there is still room for improvement and
three ‘never events’ were logged. It would be interesting to know what action was
taken as a result of these never events and any learning that resulted.
The increasing demand for service and delayed discharges are a concern and this is
reflected in some of the negative comments raised by patients who report delays in
accessing treatment (waiting longer than the 18 weeks RTT) and delayed
discharges or inappropriate discharges resulting in stress to the patient and their
family/carers, particularly when the discharge has not been properly planned or
communicated to all who need to know.
The cancer urgent referral waiting times are disappointing, given that any potential
for a diagnosis of cancer will undoubtedly impact on the patient’s mental health and
ability to function whilst waiting for a diagnosis, prognosis and treatment.
Patient experiences of out-patient clinics appear to be very positive overall, as
shown in the results of the outpatient survey, which shows that the vast majority of
patients are satisfied with the care they receive.
Whilst complaint levels remain low and well within the Trust’s target level, 465
formal complaints should still be seen as a concern as this is likely to be the tip of
the iceberg, with many other complaints being verbal or not raised with the hospital
at all. For a hospital that prides itself on its reputation, complaint handling should
be a priority.
Staff turnover is higher than the Trust would like to see, as is sickness levels. There
is also a low response to staff surveys. This may reflect a workforce that is
overstretched and attention needs to be given to ensuring staff are treated fairly,
supported and well led. Whilst 90% of staff would recommend the hospital as a
place to receive treatment, only 61% recommended it as a place to work.
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There is evidence of annual appraisals, but this provides only statistical information.
It is unclear how staff view the quality of the appraisal process and there is no
evidence of more regular supervision and support for staff. A healthy workforce is
essential for delivering the targets set by the trust and it would be good to see a
commitment from the Board to ensure that all staff receive support and guidance at
all stages of the employment.
Most complaints relate to staff attitudes and the public’s perception of whether or
not staff are caring, compassionate, empathetic and do what they say they are
going to do. Complaints are therefore often about individual staff rather than
system failures and as such all staff need to share the pride of the Trust and uphold
its values and standards.
Anecdotal reports to Healthwatch Suffolk have indicated patients who have had
positive experiences of their care. One individual reports the staff in A+E as lifesavers, however, the person was subject to many procedural difficulties, such as
being moved after three hours and 59 minutes to ensure A&E was not in breach,
only to be pushed around the hospital on a bed for some time until a bed was
available in coronary care.
One individual made a formal complaint about the care they received, which should
have been kept confidential, but was disclosed to the next doctor who was treating
them and this resulted in a further negative experience.
On the whole the Trust is proving itself to attract local, regional, national and
international recognition and praise. At a time of increasing demands and
reductions to funding, the Trust is providing care that most people would regard as
good or very good.

9.25

Our 2015/16 priorities in detail
Person-centred
Every patient is treated as a person, not a number, with dignity and respect, and is
fully involved in their treatment and care. “No decision about me without ”PersonThis will be measured through:

Inpatient experience
We survey in one month each quarter using a 24-point questionnaire to seek views
of the care received. The questions cover topics that include infection control,
cleanliness, privacy, safety, nursing and medical care received, being informed and
involved in the care provided, and food.
Our aim is that over 90% of patients who respond to the surveys rate their
experience as at least 7/10.

Outpatient experience
We survey patients who attend outpatients on a six monthly basis using a 23-point
questionnaire to seek views of the care received. The questions cover the quality of
experience pre, during and post appointment. Topics include timeliness, information
provided, clarity about next steps etc.
Our aim is that over 88%% of patients would recommend our clinics.
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Friends and family test
This is an NHS wide initiative to gather feedback about patients’ experiences. In
simple terms it is seeking to answer the question ‘is the care I received good
enough for my friends or family?’ The rating system uses a score out of 100.
Our aim is to that our score is greater than 65.

Patient complaints
We always welcome complaints as these often help identify areas where we can
improve and are a way of measuring the level of quality we are delivering. We will
measure the complaint rate as a percentage of patient contacts each month,
patient contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day case and
emergency department attendances.
Our aim is that the number of formal complaints received should be less than
0.1% of patient contacts.

Staff values and behaviours
This is a new measure for 2015/16 and recognises the reaffirmation of the Trust’s
values Together – safe, kind and excellent. We will use the staff survey to gain
staff’s views as to whether they treat patients in a way that is consistent with our
values and behaviours.
Our aims are that in 2015/16 90% of staff report they are aware of the trust’s
values and behaviours an increasing proportion of staff feel they are able to deliver
the Trust’s values and behaviours in their work. The survey result in 2015/16 will
establish an initial figure.

Workforce as partners
A fully engaged, skilled, trained and competent workforce delivering care of the
highest quality. An organisation that is well-led at all levels.
This will be measured through:

Workforce engagement
The Trust takes part in the annual NHS staff survey.
Our aim is to have a 2015/16 engagement rate above that of 2014/15.

Staff ‘Friends and Family’ test
One of the key elements of the national ‘Friends and Family’ test is to ask our staff
their views regarding the care delivered at the hospital in which they work. In
simple terms is its good enough for them or their family. We will measure this using
the staff survey.
Our aims are that in 2015/16:
an increasing proportion of our workforce recommend us as a place to work
an increasing proportion of our workforce recommend us as a place to receive
treatment
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Leadership
This is a new measure for 2015/16. We want those who lead and manage our
workforce to have the confidence of the staff they lead and manage. We will
measure this via the staff survey.
Our aims are that in 2015/16:
an increasing proportion of staff have confidence in the people who lead CUH
an increasing proportion of staff have confidence in the people who lead their
area of work

Workforce planning
This is a new measure for 2015/16. Ensuring we have sufficient staff now and in
the future is crucial to delivering the high quality care we aspire to. We have
identified two measures, the first relates to nurses and health care assistants, the
second to medical staff.
Our aims are that in 2015/16:
we have a maximum vacancy rate of 5% for registered nurses and 8% for HCA
we have a robust plan by in place by the end of 2015/16 to mitigate the risks
regarding junior doctor rotas

Harm-free
Patients will suffer no avoidable harm.
Patients will suffer no avoidable harm.
T
This will be measured through:

Safety Thermometer
The Safety Thermometer is a nationally mandated method of assessing the safety
of care provided in hospitals. It uses an audit of every inpatient once a month to
assess four elements of care to determine how many patients have received ‘harm
free care.’ The four elements are:
the existence of pressure ulcers
urine infections in patients with catheters
falls within the last 72-hours
a venous thromboembolism
Our aim is that care received in hospital, as measured by the monthly audit should
be 98% harm-free.

Harm rates
The hospital has in place a well-developed incident reporting process which requires
staff to report incidents, irrespective of whether harm occurred. We recognise that
the system does rely on identifying that an event which is reportable has taken
place, and reporting it, however around 10,000 patient-related incidents were
reported in 2012. Good reporting is viewed as an indication of a positive safety
culture. We will measure the rate of harm as a percentage of patient contacts each
month. Patient contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day
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case and emergency department attendances.
Our aim is that less than 0.2% of patient contacts should result in an incident
report where patient harm is recorded.

Minimising infection
We will work with our partners strive to reduce the number of avoidable infections
and the harm they cause and in particular to keep the number of patients who
acquire C. difficile or MRSA in hospital to a minimum. By reducing the numbers of
affected patients to a minimum, we will reduce the need for a prolonged length of
stay, surgery, admission to an intensive care unit, or causing serious harm. During
2014/15 we will continue to focus on cleaning standards, antibiotic prescribing and
staff education as part of the programme to help reduce and prevent healthcare
associated infections.
Our aim is to minimise the number of avoidable hospital acquired infections and to
meet our contractual ceilings for these infections during 2014/15. The ceiling for
hospital acquired MRSA bacteraemia is zero and for hospital-acquired Clostridium
difficile cases is 61.

Hospital standardised mortality ratio (HSMR)
This is a nationally calculated ratio prepared by Dr Foster,
(http://www.drfosterhealth.co.uk/) where a score of 100 would mean actual deaths
were in line with expected. An HSMR of less than 100 indicates less patients than
expected died, a figure of greater than 100 indicated more than expected died.
Our aim is have an aggregate hospital HSMR of less than 85.

Improve how we share learning
This is a new measure for 2015/16. Although CUH has a positive reporting culture
and investigation process, we recognise that we can improve the way we learn to
minimise the risk of recurrence. Therefore we will develop a Trust-wide programme
of learning.
Our aim is that a monthly programme of safety and quality learning will commence
by June 2015.

Delay-free
Care delivered on time and to time cost efficiently, meeting or exceeding all
national standards in relation to providing timely care.

This will be measured through:

Emergency department waiting time
In excess of 102,000 patients attended the emergency department at
Addenbrooke’s in 2014/15. There is a nationally mandated target to see 95% of
patients within four hours.
We have agreed a recovery trajectory with our clinical commissioning group to
return to this performance level by August 2015.
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Referral to treatment
92% of our patients waiting on a referral to treatment pathway will have waited
less than 18 weeks. A referral pathway refers to the time from a referral being
received to consultant-led treatment starting.
We have declared to Monitor that we will return to this performance level by
Quarter 4.

Treatment within 62 days of an urgent cancer referral
We recognise the importance for patients of being treated in a timely manner
following urgent referral by their GP where cancer is suspected.
Our aim is that 85% of patients are treated within 62 days of referral.
We have agreed a recovery trajectory with our Clinical Commissioning Group to
return to this performance level by Quarter 2.

Cancelled operations
Once a date is set for an operation, we will do our best to ensure that date is kept
to, while recognising there will be occasions when emergencies impact on routine
operating.
Our aim is that the number of operations cancelled on or after the day of
admission is less than 1%.

Bed days lost to assessment for patients who are medically fit to leave
Minimising the number of patients who are medically fit to leave, but who remain in
our care is important. It is in patients interests to be cared for in the most
appropriate care setting , and for CUH it is a significant factor in being able to admit
and treat patients requiring inpatient hospital care
Our aim is that the number of bed days lost to assessment for patients medically
fit to leave is less than 20 per week.

Clinically Effective
Care that achieves the best outcome possible for each patient and which is
delivered using the latest evidence based techniques.

This will be measured through:

Patient-related outcome measures (PROMS)
These are nationally mandated and provide a patient perspective of the
effectiveness of the care they received, in simple terms the health gain or loss
following the procedure. They cover surgery undertaken in respect of hips and
knees, groin hernia and varicose veins.
Our aim is that for 2015/16 our results are above the national average.

Care of the frail elderly
The Trust is seeing and admitting an increasing number of frail elderly patients
(those aged 75 and over). Cambridgeshire local authority population forecasts
predict a 3.6% year on year growth of the population aged 85+, which equates to a
doubling over the next 20 years. We recognise that developing services to better
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serve this group of patients is central to improving both quality of care and
developing sustainable services for the future.
A key element of their admission is that they undergo a proper screening using the
clinical frail score tool within their first 72 hours in hospital to identify their
treatment requirements.
Our aim is that at least 85% of patients aged 75 and over, admitted as
emergencies will have a CFS screen performed within 72 hours of admission.

Improve the identification and treatment of patients with sepsis
Sepsis is a time-critical condition that can lead to organ damage, multi-organ
failure, septic shock and eventually death. It is caused by the body’s immune
response to a bacterial or fungal infection. There is considerable evidence that
clinical staff may fail to recognise sepsis, underestimate the severity of the illness
and the initiation of treatment is frequently delayed.
Our aim is to achieve at least 90% compliance with the sepsis antibiotic bundle.
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National quality indicators – 2014/15 performance national quality indicators

9.26
Indicator

Summary HospitalLevel Mortality
Indicator (SHMI)

Note 100 = average
performance

2013/14
(or previous reporting
period to latest available)
85.6 from July 2012 to June
2013 placing the Trust in
Band 3

CUHFT considers that this
data is as described for
the following reasons…

85.5 from July 2013 to
June 2014 placing the
Trust in Band 3

The Trust has a robust
process for clinical coding
and review of mortality data
so is confident that the data
is accurate.

The Trust reviews SHMI data and
always looks at how it can be reduced
further.

The Trust has a robust
process for clinical coding
and review of mortality data
so is confident that the data
is accurate.

The Trust percentage is better than the
national average so no further action is
being taken at present.

The Trust has processes in
place to ensure that relevant
patients are given
questionnaires to complete.
However it has no control
over their completion and
return.

The use of PROMS data within the
Trust is reviewed and reported in the
Integrated Report to the Quality
Committee each month. Where our
data is applicable, the Trust is better
than the national average in the latest
reporting period.

17 Trusts were in Band 3

15 Trusts were in Band 3

9 Trusts were in Band 1

9 Trusts were in Band 1

14.2%

21.0%

July 2012 to June 2013

July 2013 to June 2014

% of patient deaths
with palliative care
code
The national average is
20.3%

The national average is
24.6%

April 2012 to March 2013

April 2013 to March 2014

Trust 0.106

Apr – Sep 14

PROMS relating to:

Groin hernia

CUHFT intends to take/has taken
the following actions to improve
this proportion/ score/rate/number,
and so the quality of its services,
by…

2014/15
(or latest reporting
period available)
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2013/14
(or previous reporting
period to latest available)
Ave

0.085

2014/15
(or latest reporting
period available)

Knee
replacement
surgery

Readmission within
28 days of
discharge (i) aged
0-14

0.081

Trust N/A

Apr – Sep 14

Ave

Trust N/A

0.09

Ave
Hip
replacement
surgery

CUHFT intends to take/has taken
the following actions to improve
this proportion/ score/rate/number,
and so the quality of its services,
by…

Trust 0.086
Ave

Varicose vein
surgery

CUHFT considers that this
data is as described for
the following reasons…

Primary –

Revision –

Trust 0.460

Trust N/A

Ave 0.438

Ave 0.272

Primary –

Revision –

Trust 0.323

Trust N/A

Ave 0.319

Ave 0.251

Trust rate was 8.36% for
2011/12 placing the Trust in
band B1, meaning
significantly better than the
national average at the
99.8% interval.

0.09

Apr 13 –
Mar 14

Apr 13 –
Mar 14

Primary –

Revision –

Trust 0.437

Trust N/A

Ave 0.436

Ave 0.255

Apr 13 –
Mar 14

Apr 13 –
Mar 14

Primary –

Revision –

Trust 0.310

Trust N/A

Ave 0.323

Ave 0.245

No further update
available. Trust rate was
8.36% for 2011/12
placing the Trust in band
B1, meaning significantly
better than the national
average at the 99.8%
interval.
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The Trust has a robust
process for clinical coding so
is confident that the data is
accurate.

The Trust rates for 0-14 and 15 plus
ages re-admissions show some
improvement on last year and are both
better than the national average.
The Trust looks at how it can be
reduced further.

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

Indicator

Readmission within
28 days of
discharge (ii) aged
15 or over

2013/14
(or previous reporting
period to latest available)

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
2014/15
(or latest reporting
period available)

National average rate was
10.01%

National average was
10.1%

Trust rate was 10.64% for
2011/12 placing the Trust in
Band B1

Trust rate was 10.64% for
2011/12 placing the Trust
in Band B1

National average was
11.45%

National average was
11.45%

Trust score was 70.5 in
2012/13

Trust score was 72.1 for
2013/14

National average was 68.1

National average was
68.7

Trust achieved 98.7% in
2013/14

Trust achieved 90.7% in
2014/15

CUHFT considers that this
data is as described for
the following reasons…

Undertaken independently
as part of the annual national
inpatient survey.

The score for 2014/15 is an
improvement on 2013/14 and has
improved relative to the national
average. We continue to use feedback
from surveys and complaints to
address areas of performance which
fall short of our standards.

The Trust has a robust
process assessing VTE risk
assessment of patients and
this is also part of the
monthly Safety Thermometer
audit. Compliance levels did
drop (from above 96% to
80%) when we implemendet
eHospital in October 2014.
However we have seen an
improvement since, with

The Trust remains vigilant to ensure
that this performance is sustained.

Responsiveness to
inpatients’ personal
needs

% risk assessed for
VTE
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the following actions to improve
this proportion/ score/rate/number,
and so the quality of its services,
by…

It is monitored by the Trust’s VTE
Committee.
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2013/14
(or previous reporting
period to latest available)

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
2014/15
(or latest reporting
period available)

CUHFT considers that this
data is as described for
the following reasons…

CUHFT intends to take/has taken
the following actions to improve
this proportion/ score/rate/number,
and so the quality of its services,
by…

85.9% in month of March.
Acute Trust average was
95.8%

Acute Trust average was
95.9%

Trust rate was 23.5 in
2012/13

Trust rate was 15.9 in
2013/14

(73 cases)

(50 cases)

Acute Trust average was
17.3

Acute Trust average was
14.7

(i) Trust number for October
2012 to March 2013 was
5,955

(i) Trust number for
October 2013 to March
2014 was 6,218

(ii) Rate per 100
admissions

(ii) Rate was 9.09

(ii) Rate was 9.6

(iii) Number and
percentage resulting
in severe harm/death

(iii) 21 resulted in severe
harm/death, 0.35% of
incidents

(iii) 19 resulted in severe
harm/death, 0.31% of
incidents

Note: these figures relate to
incidents reported via the
Trust incident reporting
system which relies on the
reporter identifying that an
incident has occurred

83% in 2013 survey, placing

76% in 2014 survey,
placing Trust in best 20%

Undertaken independently
as part of the annual national

Cases of C.difficile
infection per
100,000 bed days

Patient safety
incidents
(i) Number

Friends and Family
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The Trust has in place
robust mechanisms to record
cases of C. Diff

A number of wide ranging actions
involving both the Trust and wider
health economy are in place.

Data is submitted to the
National Reporting and
Learning System in
accordance with national
reporting requirements.

The Trust has a positive reporting
culture.
Reducing harm to patients is a one of
the key elements of our quality account
and quality strategy.

Already in the top 20% and looks to at
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Indicator
Test – Staff
% of staff
recommending the
trust to family or
friends
Friends and Family
Test – Patient
(not statutory)

2013/14
(or previous reporting
period to latest available)

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
2014/15
(or latest reporting
period available)

CUHFT considers that this
data is as described for
the following reasons…

Trust in best 20% of trusts

of trusts

staff survey.

Acute trust average 64%

Acute trust average 65%

Inpatient Net Promoter
Score for March 2014 is
49.4. This is based on 785
responses and the score is
an increase from 45.1 in
February. The score for the
overall 2013/14 financial
year is 51.7.

Inpatient Net Promoter
Score for Feb 2015 is
61.1. This is based on
803 responses and the
score is an increase from
45.1 in Feb 2014. The
score for the overall
2014/2015 financial year
to date is 61.1.
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CUHFT intends to take/has taken
the following actions to improve
this proportion/ score/rate/number,
and so the quality of its services,
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Quality account indicators 2014/15 performance

OUR PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT - How are we doing?

As at the end of MARCH 2015

PERSON CENTRED
Improving the experience of our patients
How we measure this

Our target

How are we doing?
Last month
Year to

(comparison to last
month)

date

Inpatient experience (data from July 2014 patient survey)

90%



94.6%

Outpatient experience (data from February 2015 patient survey)

90%



90.0%

Friends and family test (Patient survey)

>57

60.6



61.1

0.10%

0.06%



0.06%

Patient complaints (data to end of February 2015)

STAFF AS PARTNERS
Ensuring an engaged and well managed workforce
How we measure this

Our target

How are we doing?
Last month
Year to

(comparison to last
month)

Staff turnover (12 month cumulitive to February 2015)

Appraisal rate (for current year)
Participation in staff engagement survey (Participation rate for
survey that closed on 1 December 2014)
Sickness absence rate (rolling 12 months)
Friends and family test (included in 2014 survey)
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reduce by
10% on
2013/14

date



13.0%

90%



96.5%

55%



25%

<2.85%

3.00%



3.00%

Implement

Complete



Complete
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HARM FREE CARE
Improving safety and reducing harm
Our target
/ ceiling

How we measure this
Care delivered Harm Free (Safety Thermometer)

How are we doing?
Last month
Year to

(comparison to last
month)

date

98%

98.4%



98.4%

< 0.2%

0.16%



0.14%

Minimise Infection - MRSA

0

0



0

Minimise Infection - Clostridum Difficile

61

4



54

Harm Rates (as reported on incidents)

DELAY FREE CARE
Improving the reliability of care
How we measure this

Our target

How are we doing?
Last month
Year to

(comparison to last
month)

date

Emergency Department waiting time (4hr target)

95%

75.9%



83.7%

Admission within 18 weeks of GP referral

90%

76.4%



87.30%

Seen within 62 days of urgent cancer referral (February 2015
data)

85%

80.8%



82.90%

< 1%

0.62%



1.34%

Cancelled operations

CLINICALLY EFFECTIVE CARE
Improving the effectiveness of care
How we measure this

Our target

How are we doing?
Last month
Year to

(comparison to last
month)

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) (latest month
available is December2014)
Patient Related Outcome based on health gain
(above national average or not)
(data to end of March 2014)

< 90
Hip
Knees
Hernia
Varicose Veins

Clinical Frailty Score for patients aged 75 or above

85%
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94.3
CUH 21.3

84.8

Nat Av 21.3

CUH 15.3
CUH 0.1

date

Nat Av 16.2

Nat Av 0.09

Insufficient procedures performed

88.60%



86.50%
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CQUINs 2014/15 performance 31March 2015
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National Targets – 2014/15
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Specialties at Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
There are five clinical divisions each of which manage individual specialities through
clinical directorates as set out below.

Division A
Musculoskeletal

Digestive Diseases

Intensive Care Unit /
Perioperative services

Rheumatology

Upper Gastrointestinal

Trauma and
Orthopaedics
Pain Management
Hand and Plastics
Orthogeriatrics

Lower Gastrointestinal

John Farman Intensive Care
Unit
Neurosurgery Critical Care
Unit
Operating Theatres
Anaesthetics

Intestinal Failure
Endoscopy
Gastrointestinal Medicine

Division B
Cancer

Laboratories

Imaging

Clinical Support

Urology
Haematology
Oncology
Oncology
Oncology Plastics

Genetics
Histopathology

Radiology
Nuclear
Medicine

Pharmacy
Outpatients

Breast Unit

HaematoOncology
Diagnostic
Services
Microbiology

Gynaecology
Oncology

Blood Sciences
Virology

Occupational Health
Medical Physics /
Clinical engineering
Medical Photography

Therapies & Dietetics

Tissue Typing

Division C
Acute Medicine

Inflammation/ Infection

Transplant

Emergency
Department
Acute Medicine
Clinical Pharmacology
Department of
Medicine for the
Elderly
Palliative Care

Genito-Urinary Medicine

Nephrology

Infectious Diseases
Immunology
Respiratory Medicine

Transplant Surgery
Hepatology
Hepatobiliary Surgery

Allergy
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Division D
Neuro-science

Ear Nose Throat/ Head &
Neck/ Plastics

Cardiovascular /
Metabolic

Rehabilitation
Neurology
Stroke medicine
Neurosurgery
Opthalmology
Psychiatry
Psychology

Dermatology
Ear Nose Throat
Oral / Maxillofacial
Plastics

Orthotics
Diabetes / Endocrine
Metabolic Medicine
Medical Genetics
Podiatry
Vascular Surgery
Medical Haematology
Cardiology

Division E
Paediatric
Medicine

Paediatric Critical
Care

Paediatric Surgery

Obstetrics &
Gynaecology

Diabetes &
Endocrine
Acute Medicine

Paediatric
Intensive Care
Acute Neonatal
Transport Service
Neonatal Intensive
Care

Ear Nose Throat

Foetal Medicine

Orthopaedics

Obstetrics

Paediatric Surgery

Maternal Medicine

Cleft

Gynaecology

Opthalmology

In Vitro Fertilisation
(IVF)

Allergy
Respiratory
Medicine
Gastroenterology
Neurology
Haematology
Oncology
Rheumatology
Cardiology
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Glossary of terms used in quality report
C. difficile
A clostridium difficile infection (CDI) is a type of bacterial infection that can affect
the digestive system. It most commonly affects people who are staying in hospital.

CFS (Clinical Frailty Score)
An assessment tool used to determine the frailty of patients aged 75 and over
admitted as emergencies. The assessment tool uses a 9 point scoring system

CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) indicators
The CQUIN payment framework enables commissioners to reward excellence, by
linking a proportion of English healthcare providers' income to the achievement of
local quality improvement goals.

DTOC (Delayed transfer of care)
Medically fit patients who cannot be discharged from hospital until there are
arrangements in place for their continuing care and support.

Dr Foster
Dr Foster Intelligence is a joint venture with the Department of Health. They have
developed pioneering methodologies that enable fast, accurate identification of
potential problems in clinical performance and also in areas of high achievement.

eHospital
eHospital is an exciting programme that is changing the way we work and how we
care for our patients using latest technology. Every member of staff has access to
the information they need, when they need it, without having to look for a piece of
paper, wait to use a computer or ask the patient yet again. It went live in October
2014.

HSMR (Hospital standardised mortality ratio)
This is a nationally calculated rate prepared by Dr Foster
http://www.drfosterhealth.co.uk/ where a score of 100 would mean actual deaths
were in line with expected. An HSMR of less than 100 indicates less patients than
expected died, a figure of greater than 100 indicated more than expected died.

HQIP
The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) was established in April
2008 to promote quality in healthcare, and in particular to increase the impact that
clinical audit has on healthcare quality in England and Wales.

HRG (Healthcare Resource Group)
Within the English National Health Service (NHS), a Healthcare Resource Group
(HRG) is a grouping consisting of patient events that have been judged to consume
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a similar level of resource. For example, there are a number of different kneerelated procedures that all require similar levels of resource; they may all be
assigned to one HRG.

Joint Commission International
Joint Commission International (JCI) works to improve patient safety and quality of
health care in the international community by offering education, publications,
advisory services, and international accreditation and certification.

Monitor
The Foundation Trust regulator.

MRSA (meticillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus)
MRSA is a type of bacterial infection that is resistant to a number of widely used
antibiotics. This means it can be more difficult to treat than other bacterial
infections. The full name of MRSA is meticillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus. You
may have heard it called a superbug.

National quality indicators
NHS England has mandated that all organisations providing NHS commissioned
care are required to review their performance against a common set of measures
across the new NHS Outcomes Framework, these measures are outlined below.

‘Never event’
A 'never event' is defined as serious, largely preventable incident that should never
happen if the right measures are in place. A defined list of Never Events is
published annually by the Department of Health.

NHSBT
NHS Blood and Transplant (NHSBT) is a Special Health Authority who manages
blood and organ transplantation.

Palliative care
Palliative care focuses on the relief of pain and other symptoms and problems
experienced in serious illness. The goal of palliative care is to improve quality of
life, by increasing comfort, promoting dignity and providing a support system to the
person who is ill and those close to them.

PROMS (Patient reported outcome measures)
These are nationally mandated and provide a patient perspective of the
effectiveness of the care they received – in simple terms the improvement gain or
loss following the procedure.
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10. Annual governance statement for
the year ended 31 March 2015
10.1

Scope of responsibility
As accounting officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS
foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

10.2

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of
Cambridge University NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in
place in Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended
31 March 2015 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
The system of internal control integrates a number of individual controls as
described in other sections of this statement, and other key policies and procedures
such as the standing orders, identification of matters reserved to the Board,
standing financial instructions and scheme of delegation used to govern the Trust’s
activities, together with checks and balances provided by board oversight, and
internal and external audit reviews.

10.3

Capacity to handle risk
The Board of Directors leads the management of risk within the Trust. The Board
Assurance Framework provides clarity by identifying risks to the Trust’s
organisational objectives, together with key controls and assurances and gaps in
those controls and assurances. It is reviewed monthly in a peer review process by
the executive directors who are leads for each risk and jointly at the senior
management team meeting, and is then considered at the Board, noting
movements in risk and mitigating actions being taken. It is reviewed by each
executive director leading on each risk then jointly at the senior management team.
All entries on the BAF are now considered by the relevant Board assurance
committees. During the year it has undergone a full review. The Trust has also
reviewed the BAFs of partners in the wider health care system (County Council,
Cambridgeshire Community Services and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical
Commissioning Group) to triangulate the BAF with strategic risk identified by those
partners in regional system transformation.
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The Board has previously considered and agreed the principles regarding the risk
that the Board is prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in the pursuit of its
objectives, and key principles determining the Trust’s risk appetite were determined
as reported in our annual report 2013/14 which remain in place. The key principles
are due to be reviewed in 2015/16.
The Board and Board committees receive a monthly integrated report providing
detailed information on the Trust’s performance against key quality, operational
performance, finance and workforce metrics, both national and local.
Never events and clinical and non-clinical events which are significant enough to be
classified as serious incidents are identified by the head of patient safety and are
reported immediately to the executive directors and to the Trust’s lead
commissioner. The incidents are detailed in the corporate section of the monthly
integrated report. All incidents are subject to a root cause analysis and learning is
shared with the divisions and through the organisation. Themes are identified in the
integrated report and the Quality Committee receives a detailed quarterly report on
themes identified and actions taken.
The operational responsibility for risk management work is managed locally by the
relevant division. The divisions are required to have a process in place by which
risks are identified, verified, mitigated and managed at a local level, and
responsibility for these processes rests with the divisional director supported by the
divisional associate director of operations and divisional head of nursing. divisional
red risks are reviewed by executive directors at divisional performance meetings. .
The process is intended to facilitate a seamless risk management system from
Board to ward as the director of corporate affairs is responsible for the maintenance
of the Board Assurance Framework. Work is ongoing to improve the linkage
between the risk register and the BAF. The Trust will implement the DATIX system
of risk management in 2015/16 which is expected to improve the clarity and ease
of use of risk reporting systems, together with the quality of risk assessments.
Following an internal audit report on risk management systems in 2013 a number
of recommendations have been implemented, including the improvement of
escalation and review of risk within divisional quality meetings as part of the
agenda. Information on incidents is included in the divisional scorecards included in
the monthly integrated report.
The principles of risk management are included as part of the mandatory corporate
induction programme and guidance and training are provided to staff through the
annual refresher programme, risk management training, Trust-wide policies and
procedures and feedback from audits, inspections and incidents
The Trust also learns from good practice through a range of mechanisms including
those mentioned together with clinical supervision and reflective practice, individual
and peer reviews, performance management, continuing professional development
programmes, clinical audit and application of evidenced based practice.

10.4

The risk and control framework
The risk management strategy sets out the key responsibilities for managing risk
within the organisation. The strategy and associated risk management policy are
being reviewed during 2015 to reflect current organisational arrangements. The
strategy is available to all staff via the staff intranet site. The organisation is
supported by a quality and safety support team. Each division captures risks and
has access to a dedicated safety and quality assurance managers to help in
investigating incidents and implementing plans to deal with them. Safety issues
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identified by divisions are reported to the Board via the monthly integrated
performance report against a quality scorecard, against the priorities included in
the quality report, including incident reporting.
Corporately risks are broadly divided into operational, strategic and risks relating to
major projects. Operational risks are captured on an electronic risk register, whilst
strategic risks are captured on the board assurance framework. The Trust has
recognised the need for developing its risk management system, subsequent to
actions recommended by its internal auditors and an external quality governance
review carried out by Deloitte. During the year under report the system has been
reviewed with the intention of creating a system which ensures that operational
risks are identified, quantified recorded and continually managed, and can be
aggregated or categorised to provide a meaningful overview of organisational or
strategic risk. From April 2015 the DATIX risk management system will be
introduced to capture both operational and strategic risks which will provide an
audit trail of the management of risk and will be used for safety reporting,
compliance, complaints and PALS management. The DATIX system will be
functional from July onwards.
The Board has previously agreed the principles regarding risk which the Trust is
prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in pursuit of its agreed objectives. The
principles regarding risk are focussed on quality, finance and value for money,
innovation, commercial opportunities, compliance and regulatory framework,
reputation and workforce and were set out in detail in our annual report 2013/14
The Board has a collective responsibility for quality and has taken a number of
measures to ensure that quality forms an integral part of the Trust’s activities.
There is a clear quality governance structure within the organisation which has
been reviewed during the year against Monitor’s quality governance framework.
The Quality Committee provides assurance to the Board regarding the delivery of
high-quality care to our patients. The committee oversees the implementation of
the Trust’s quality strategy and its ongoing development, and reviews progress
against the strategy at each meeting. It oversees the development of and agrees
priorities for the Trust’s annual quality account. The committee reviews the quality
of care delivered to patients by means of the monthly integrated performance
report and other relevant data, with specific attention to ensuring that:
staff are valued and supported in their work
patients enjoy the best possible experience while in our care
patients receive safe, effective and timely care
The committee oversees the Trust’s compliance with its own internal clinical
standards and the requirements of its external regulators. It reviews the Trust’s
clinical audit programme, compliance with the requirements of the Care Quality
Commission, and Trust preparedness for inspection, compliance with the Monitor
quality governance framework, which was externally reviewed during 2014/15 and
the requirements of the Trust’s commissioners
It also oversees the Trust’s overall programme for continuous clinical quality
improvement, to ensure that the Trust learns, shares and takes appropriate action
in respect of safety reporting, and prospective and proactive patient safety risk
detection; information and experience from outside of the Trust; external reviews
of Trust activity and the results of clinical audit.
The Quality Committee leads on the development of the quality account, which the
Trust publishes annually, as described below.
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The Trust has in place an information governance policy which sets out the Trust’s
commitment to ensuring that information is efficiently and effectively handled,
managed and safeguarded. The policy establishes a robust information governance
framework which includes up to date policies, procedures and accountabilities.
Managers within the Trust are responsible for ensuring that the policy and its
supporting standards and guidelines are built into directorate processes and that
there is on-going compliance.
The Trust complies with the requirements of the ‘Connecting for Health Information
Governance Toolkit’ for the management and control of risks to information. The
chief operating officer is the Trust’s senior information risk owner, reporting to the
Board, and Phillip Johnston, consultant in trauma and orthopaedics is its Caldicott
Guardian. Senior managers across the trust are information asset owners
accountable for a particular group of information assets, under the information
governance policy and management framework. The information governance
steering group is chaired by the SIRO and reports periodically to the Board through
the Quality Committee.
The BAF sets out the principal risks to the delivery of the Trust’s strategic
objectives. The executive director with delegated responsibility for managing and
monitoring each risk is clearly identified. The BAF describes controls in place to
manage each of the risks and explains how the Board is assured that those controls
are in place and operating effectively.
At 31 March 2015 the Trust sees its major risks as:
Insufficient bed and theatre capacity to deliver required clinical activity
resulting in a poor care environment for patients (eg outliers); lack of isolation
facilities, a poor patient experience, missed targets and reduced income.
Vulnerability heightened by population growth, an ageing demographic and
limited control over community provision.
Unable to maintain safe nurse staffing levels because of increased activity,
reduced nurse staffing levels with use of contingency wards, and inability to
recruit nurses.
Failure of the TPP Joint Venture to achieve intended benefits as set out in the
business case. 12 to 18 month delay on the delivery of the transformation
programme which is the driver for delivery of financial savings and efficiencies.
The age of the hospital and its buildings, the historic under investment in
planned maintenance and non-availability of spare capacity to to enable the
release of areas for significant refurbishment is making it increasingly difficult
to meet the NHS Constitution requirement to ensure that ‘services are provided
in a clean and safe environment that is fit for purpose, based on national safe
practice’; and compliant with relevant health and safety requirements. It also
leads to increasing unpredictability in the demands on the response
maintenance and capital budgets.
Lack of capital to invest in medical equipment, resulting in increasing failure
rates and the inability to invest in new service developments.
Failure to further reduce the incidence of HCAIs leading to unnecessary harm to
patients.
Financial sustainability.
The Trust has identified mitigations and assurances on controls, together with
control and assurance gaps, and the Board receives regular reports to assure itself
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that mitigations are operating where this is within the Trust’s ability to do so and
that those mitigations are effective.

10.5

Risks to foundation trust governance
During 2013/14 the Trust was licensed with enforcement undertakings with regard
to delivering a sustainable financial position, compliance with operational targets
set by Monitor and board effectiveness and governance. Following the actions taken
described in the AGS 2013/14, an application was made on 28 April 2014 for the
enforcement notice to be lifted and Monitor lifted the notice on 03 July 2014.
The Board is responsible for setting the vision and values and the strategic
objectives of the Trust. The Trust’s governance documents establish the roles and
responsibilities of directors and other trust officers. For 2015/16, the Trust has
identified ten organisational objectives and will review the principles regarding risk
in the light of those objectives. The organisational objectives relate to harm free,
delay free, person centred and clinically effective care, research and development,
education and development, workforce as partners, strategic developments, being
operationally effective and financially sustainable.
The Audit Committee is the committee with primary responsibility for overseeing
the Trust’s governance and assurance process and in particular for independently
reviewing the effectiveness of risk management systems and ensuring that all
significant risks are properly considered and communicated to the Board.
The Finance and Performance Committee, the Quality Committee and the
Workforce and Education Committee provide independent and objective oversight
of the Trust’s performance in these areas, reporting to the board with assurances it
needs on financial and operational performance, clinical quality and effective
management of the workforce.
The divisions meet with the executive team monthly to allow interrogation of
divisional performance and to ensure accountability of the divisions to the Board.
Each division provides a balanced scorecard of performance information which is
included in the integrated report interrogated monthly by the Board of Directors.
The Board Assurance Framework, considered monthly by the Board, provides
information on the Trust’s strategic risks.
A risk assessment against the Monitor license is carried out annually.

10.6

Involvement of stakeholders in risk
The Trust endorses three principles which underpin the quality framework:
quality is at the heart of all that the Trust does
there is an open and transparent culture to facilitate a learning organisation
the organisation will work collaboratively with stakeholders to ensure the
quality and safety of services and demonstrate commitment to continual
improvement
Governors’ activities on behalf of members are reported under the council of
governors’ section. A number of focus groups have been held throughout the year,
where members and/or recent patients/carers are invited to attend and provide
their opinions on key issues relating to either the organisation broadly, or specific
departments.
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The Patient Experience Committee, which monitors the activities relating to patient
experience, has governor representation to ensure that the views of members and
the public are heard.
ACTIVE (the children and young people’s board at Addenbrooke’s Hospital)
continues to meet every six weeks. The activities of ACTIVE are reported in detail
under section 6.6.
The Patient Experience Committee reviews the quarterly patient experience data.
This includes complaints & concerns, local & national patients survey results, focus
group activity, and other sources of feedback that have happened in the quarter.
The aim is enable easy identification of themes, along with areas for improvement
and put in place a plan to address these so we continue to improve our patients’
experience.
The ‘Friends and Family’ recommender score has in the last year been rolled out to
include outpatients and children’s services.
The Trust informs and engages with its commissioners throughout the year in
relation to risk through regular meetings to review contract/clinical quality matters
and to engage with them on the development of the Trust’s quality account. In
addition, the Trust engages with public stakeholders and the local Healthwatch in
discussions including consideration of risk which impact upon them. Governors are
also involved about those risks which impact upon the public and members through
regular meetings at which the integrated report is presented and discussed, and
they are fully involved in the development of our annual plan and quality account.
The Trust is required to be registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and
declare compliance with the essential standards of quality and safety.
The overall executive director lead for CQC compliance is the medical director.
The foundation trust was fully compliant with the registration requirements of the
Care Quality Commission during the reporting period.
The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its
current registration status is registered without any compliance conditions. The
Care Quality Commission has not taken any enforcement action against CUH during
2014/15.
CUH has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the Care
Quality Commission during the reporting period.
The Trust continues to monitor compliance against all of the CQC essential
standards of quality and safety on an ongoing basis. The Board of Directors and the
quality committee are updated monthly via the integrated quality report.
A CQC planned inspection of CUH is scheduled to take place in April 2015.

10.7

Other control measures
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme,
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within
the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in
accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension scheme records are
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under
equality, diversity and human rights are complied with.
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The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and carbon reduction
delivery plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil
contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure
that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the
adaptation reporting requirements are complied with.

10.8

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of
resources
The Trust’s annual plan for 2014/15 was approved by the Board of Directors
supported by the Council of Governors. The annual plan was submitted to and
accepted by Monitor. The plan incorporates projections for the following two years.
To achieve the annual plan, cost improvement plans must be achieved during the
financial year.
Progress against the delivery of the annual plan is monitored by the Finance and
Performance Board. Progress against cost improvement plans is monitored
throughout the year by the Transformation Board which reports monthly to the
Finance and Performance Committee and Board of Directors. All cost improvement
plans are assessed for their quality impact, and the Trust’s Quality Committee
provides oversight through their consideration of quarterly reports on those
assessments.
The objectives set out in the Trust’s internal audit plan include ensuring the
economical, effective and efficient use of resources and this consideration is applied
across all audits. The findings of internal audit reports are reported to the Audit
Committee. Non-financial audits relating to quality are considered by the Quality
Committee.
The process to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and
effectively across clinical services include divisional reviews and the regular
monitoring of clinical indicators covering quality and safety.

10.9

Information governance
The Trust complies with the requirements of the ‘Health & Social Care Information
Centre Information Governance Toolkit’ for the management and control of risks to
information. The chief operating officer is the Trust’s senior information risk owner,
reporting to the Board, and Phillip Johnston is its Caldicott Guardian. Senior
managers across the trust are information asset owners accountable for a particular
group of information assets, under the information governance policy and
management framework. The information governance steering group is chaired by
the SIRO and reports periodically to the Board through the eHospital operational
board. Current level of compliance with information toolkit is 84%, satisfactory
score.
Information on serious incidents (SIs) involving data loss or confidentiality
breach
For 2014/15 any serious incidents relating to information governance including data
loss or confidentiality breach. As a minimum this includes details of any incidents
classified as Level 2 or above in the information governance incident reporting tool.

130

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Table 27
Information governance incidents
Date of
Incident

Nature of
incident

Nature of data
involved

April 14

Handover sheet

April 14

Patient data to
wrong patient
Fax sent to
wrong address
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Letter
contained
another
patients data
Patient data to
wrong patient
Baby notes to
wrong patient
Handover sheet

Patient clinical
data
Patient clinical
data
Patient clinical
data
Patient clinical
data
Patient clinical
data
Patient
demographics

April 14
May 14
May 14
May 14

May 14
June 14
June 14
June 14
June 14

Medical records
left in reception
area
Package sent to
wrong patient

Number of
people
potentially
affected
30

Notification
steps

Action taken

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

2

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

2

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

9

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

2

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

30

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

2

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

Patient clinical
data

1

ICO/CCG

Full
investigation/ICO
audit
Full
investigation/ICO
audit
Full investigation

Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data

June 14

Patient data to
wrong patient

Patient clinical
data

2

ICO/CCG

June 14

Fax sent to
wrong address
Patient data to
wrong patient

Patient clinical
data
Patient clinical
data

2

ICO/CCG

1

ICO/CCG

July 14

Handover sheet

clinical

44

ICO/CCG

July 14

Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to

Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient

Full
investigation/ICO
audit
Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

4

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

June 14

July 14
Aug 14
Sept 14
July 14
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Oct 14
Dec 14
Jan 15
Mar 15
Mar 15
Mar 15

wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient
Patient data to
wrong patient

data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data
Patient
data

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

clinical

1

ICO/CCG

Full investigation

Incidents classed at a severity rating of 1
Category
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I
J
K

10.10

Nature of incident
Corruption of inability to recover electronic data
Disclosed in error
Lost in transit
Lost or stolen hardware
Lost or stolen paperwork
Non secure disposal – hardware
Non secure disposal – paperwork
Uploaded to website in error
Technical security failing (including hacking)
Unauthorised access/disclosure
Other

Total
0
105
0
7
26
2
2
0
0
0
58

Annual quality report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare quality accounts for each
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the
form and content of annual quality reports which incorporate the above legal
requirements in the ‘NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual’.
The Board of Directors has agreed that the quality report will be considered and
recommended by the Quality Committee of the Board. The Quality Committee was
also responsible for deliberating on priorities to be included in the quality report,
including representation of clinical colleagues’ views. Discussions also took place
with governors at a specially convened meeting, when they endorsed items for
inclusion in the report, and selected indicators for audit as they are required to do.
External stakeholders including the Trust’s lead commissioners were also involved
in the development of the Trust’s priorities.
The medical director is the executive lead for quality reporting.
Information to support the quality metrics used in the quality report are held in a
number of Trust information systems including the EPIC system introduced in
October 2014 and the risk management system and are supported by analysis of
reporting, and national returns.
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The assessment of quality indicators is integrated into the Trust’s performance
management system, and hence they are subject to review by operational and
managerial staff on a monthly basis in a structured framework of performance
review initially within divisions and then at Board Committee and Board level
through the integrated report which is also interrogated by governors at regular
quarterly meetings. The reliability of the data is periodically audited by the Trust’s
internal auditors. A data quality audit covering data capture, validation and
reporting of key performance indicators was completed and reported to the Audit
Committee in October 2014 and recommendations actioned. The Trust was rated
amber/green in this area. The data used in the quality account is subject to
external and internal audit processes.
The Trust’s priorities for 2014/15 were identified in support of the Trust’s quality
strategy which has five aims, to:
improve the experience of our patients through person-centred care
improve our staff experience through treating staff as partners
improve safety through harm-free care
improve our reliability through delay-free care
provide clinically effective care
In 2014/15 we identified between four and six targets aligned to achieve each of
these priorities. We reported monthly to the Quality Committee on the achievement
of these targets.
The Trust’s quality report included within the annual report reports on our
performance against the priorities and targets selected.

10.11

Annual quality report
As accounting officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit, and the
executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality report attached to this
annual report and other performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter
and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the results of my
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board of
Directors, the Audit Committee, the Quality Committee, the Finance and
Performance Committee and the Workforce and Education Committee and the
internal auditors and plans to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.
My review is also informed in a number of ways. The role of the Board and of the
Audit Committee are described in the risk and control framework section above. As
previously described, the Board committees review risks to the Trust’s objectives
through monthly monitoring and discussion of the integrated report, which reports
performance in the areas of quality performance finance and workforce. The risks
can then be addressed in a timely manner. The Board Assurance Framework is also
reviewed monthly and the Board committees have carried out ‘deep dives’ to
understand the following risks and mitigations during the year under report. I have
also been informed by the work of the internal auditors during the year, working to
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a risk-based plan agreed by the Audit Committee, and the action plans resulting to
address areas for improvement.
The head of internal audit’s opinion has provided significant assurance on the
adequacy of our risk management, governance and control processes.
The result of the external auditors’ work on the annual accounts and annual report
are also a key assurance.
Other external assurance is provided by CQC intelligent monitoring reports, clinical
governance reports including the information included in the monthly integrated
report and outcome of the clinical audit programme, and the results of inspections
by external organisations

10.12

Significant control issues
As in previous years, capacity remains a risk and control issue for the Trust, which
impacts on, amongst other things, its ability to deliver its targets (cancer 62-day,
18-week referral to treatment and A&E four-hour waits), the quality of patient care
and its financial position. 2014/15 has seen significant demand growth which has
exacerbated these issues and has resulted in unprecedented levels of cancellation
of elective activity, which in turn has adversely impacted on the Trust’s financial
position.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the overall framework for internal control, and
has recommended this statement to the Board of Directors.

10.13

Conclusion
No significant control issues (ie issues where the risk could not be effectively
controlled) have been identified in respect of 2014/15. I am satisfied that all
internal control issues raised have been, or are being, addressed by action plans
and that these action plans are subject to appropriate monitoring.

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive
21 May 2015
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11. Regulatory report
11.1

Monitor’s regulatory ratings
Monitor award NHS foundation trusts regulatory ratings based on self-certification
received from trusts in their annual plan, in-year quarterly submissions and any
exception reports, including any latter from third parties.
These ratings for CUH over the last two years are summarised in the tables 28 and
29 below.
The ratings awarded at the start of each year are based on expected performance
at the time of the annual risk assessment in our annual plan. The quarterly ratings
are based on actual performance reported to Monitor via the in-year submissions.
The Risk Assessment Framework replaced the Compliance Framework on 1st
October 2013, and therefore the new continuity of services risk (financial) and
governance ratings were assigned to foundation trusts from quarter 3 2013/14
onwards.

Table 28
Regulatory ratings 2014/15 – under the Risk Assessment Framework
2014/15

Annual
Plan
2014/15

Q1 2014/15

Q2 2014/15

Q3 2014/15

Q4 2014/15

Continuity
of service
rating
Governance
rating

3

2

2

2

1

Red

Green

Green

Considering
investigatio
n

TBC

Table 29 outlines the ratings received during 2014/15.
In our annual plan although we declared no risks against any of the targets, the
Trust highlighted a risk regarding reporting of Referral to Treatment (RTT) and
Cancer targets when it migrates to the Epic system. In addition we also outlined
execution risks associated with delivering the eHospital programme. We were
awarded a red rating for governance from Monitor as there had been no change in
their regulatory approach given that we were still in breach of our licence conditions
at that time.
In July 2014, Monitor announced that the Trust was no longer in breach of its
licence to provide healthcare, following enhancement of the executive and clinical
leadership, and improved operational and financial performance.
However since autumn 2014, bed capacity has been a major issue for the Trust,
leading to cancellations of elective surgery due to insufficient bed capacity and high
throughout winter 2014/15. Combined with the administrative and clinical impact of
eHospital implementation, this has led to deterioration in performance across all
key operational performance standards. Detailed recovery plans are in place to
secure improvements.
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In quarter one, we were non-compliant against the four-hour wait in A&E target.
In quarter two we were non-compliant against the RTT admitted wait, cancer 62day screening wait and four-hour wait in A&E targets.
For quarter three the Trust was non-compliant against the RTT admitted patient
pathway, RTT non-admitted patient pathway, RTT incomplete pathways, cancer 62day urgent wait, cancer 31-day subsequent treatment for surgery, cancer 31-day
wait for first treatment, cancer 2-week wait and four-hour wait in A&E targets. The
Monitor relationship team is reviewing the position and considering the proposed
regulatory approach. The quarter three governance rating was changed to 'Monitor
is requesting further information following multiple breaches of the A&E target and
in quarter breaches of cancer and referral to treatment targets before deciding next
steps.'
In quarter four we declared non-compliance against the RTT admitted patient
pathway, RTT non-admitted patient pathway, RTT incomplete pathways, cancer 62day urgent standard and screening waits, cancer 31-day subsequent treatment for
surgery, cancer 31-day wait for first treatment, cancer 2-week waits and four-hour
wait in A&E targets. Monitor has yet to feedback their position on the governance
rating for quarter four.
The planned CSRR of 3 assumed that the Forum development would be concluded
by the end of the financial year, but this proved not to be possible. Had the deal
reached financial close in 2014/15 cash would have been higher by £10m and the
financial deficit would have been lower by £4.4m, resulting in a CSRR of 2.

Table 29
Regulatory ratings 2013/14 – change in regulatory regime
2013/14

Annual
Plan
2013/14

Q1
2013/14

under the Compliance Framework
Financial
2
2
risk rating
Governance
risk rating

Red

Red

Q2
2013/14

Q3 2013/14

Q4 2013/14

2

3

Red

Red

2

Red

under the Risk Assessment Framework
Continuity
of service
rating
Governance
rating

Table 29 outlines the ratings received during 2013/14.
In our annual plan we declared a risk against the Clostridium difficile objective and
four-hour wait in A&E target. Normally this would equate to an expected amber-red
rating for service performance. However because the Trust was found in breach of
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its licence conditions in November 2012, a red rating was assigned to us by
Monitor.
Actual performance ratings for governance were rated red throughout the year due
to the Trust continuing in breach of its licence conditions and subsequent
enforcement undertakings by Monitor. In quarter one we were non-compliant
against the Clostridium difficile objective only. In quarter two we were noncompliant against the Clostridium difficile objective only.
Following a change in regulatory regime, the Risk Assessment Framework replaced
the Compliance Framework from 1st October 2013. Two new ratings assigned to
foundation trusts: the continuity of services risk rating (financial) and the
governance rating. There are three categories to this governance rating applicable
to all foundation trusts. Where there are no grounds for concern at a trust, a green
rating will be assigned. Where a concern is identified but Monitor has not yet taken
action, a written description stating the issue at hand and the action Monitor are
considering will be given. Where Monitor has already begun enforcement action, a
red rating will be assigned.
For quarter three we were non-compliant against the Clostridium difficile objective
and four-hour wait in A&E target, mirroring the risks declared in the annual plan. In
quarter four we were non-compliant against the Clostridium difficile objective,
cancer 31-day subsequent treatment for surgery, RTT admitted wait and four-hour
wait in A&E targets.
The Trust achieved a year end continuity of service risk rating (CSRR) of 3, which
was better than planned.
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12. The staff survey
The Trust participates in the annual national NHS staff survey which measures
levels of staff satisfaction and engagement. The Trust also conducts its own local
surveys to measure levels of staff engagement. The results are shared with all
levels of the organisation. Results from both surveys inform change at a corporate
and local level with close involvement of our staff side representatives.

12.1

Summary of performance – results from the national NHS staff
survey 2014
Table 30
Participation
Response rate 2013

Response rate 2014

47% (460 staff)

25% (2,000 staff)

(460 of the 850 randomly selected
contracted staff invited, in accordance with
national guidance)

(For the first time, all CUH contracted staff
invited to participate which has resulted in the
largest number of participants since the
introduction of this national initiative)

Table 31
Staff engagement
CUH
Staff Engagement
score (max/best 5)

3.86

2013
National
average
3.74
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CUH
3.69

2014
National
Average
3.74

improvement/
deterioration
since 2013
deterioration
since 2013
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The Trust’s top and bottom ranking key finding scores are set out below.

Table 32
Top ranking key findings
2013

Top 5 ranking Key
Finding (KF)
scores for 2014

KF 7 Percentage
of staff who had
receive an
appraisal in
previous 12
months
KF 16 Percentage
of staff
experiencing
physical violence
from patients,
relatives or the
public in previous
12 months
KF 18 Percentage
of staff
experiencing
harassment,
bullying or abuse
from patients,
relatives or the
public in previous
12 months
KF 20 Percentage
of staff feeling
pressure in last 3
months to attend
work when feeling
unwell
KF 24 Percentage
of staff who would
recommend CUH
as a place to work
or receive
treatment

2014

(2013 scores for Top
Ranking Key Findings
in 2014)
CUH
National
average

2014
improvement/
deterioration

CUH

National
average

CUH

93%

84%

95%

85%

Improvement in
results compared
to 2013

11%

15%

12%

14%

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013

23%

29%

25%

29%

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013

28%

28%

23%

26%

Improvement in
results compared
to 2013

3.93

3.68

3.75

3.67

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013
(maximum score 5)
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Table 33
Bottom ranking key findings
2013

Bottom 5 ranking
Key Finding (KF)
scores for 2014

2014

(2013 scores for
bottom ranking Key
Findings in 2014)
CUH
National
average

CUH

National
average

2014
improvement/
deterioration

KF1 Percentage of
staff feeling
satisfied with the
quality of work
and patient care
they are able to
deliver
KF2 Percentage of
staff agreeing that
their role makes a
difference to
patients
KF4 Percentage of
staff who agreed
that there was
effective team
working

84%

79%

73%

77%

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013

92%

91%

87%

91%

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013

3.63

3.74

3.65

3.74

Slight
improvement in
results compared
to 2013

KF5 Percentage of
staff who agreed
they worked extra
hours over their
contract
KF10 Percentage
of staff who had
received health &
safety training in
the previous 12
months

73%

70%

79%

71%

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013

72%

76%

65%

77%

Deterioration in
results compared
to 2013

(maximum score 5)

(*note: CUH has in
place a 2 yearly
requirement rather
than annual; launch
of eHospital impacted
on staff availability
for training in 2014)
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Statement of key priority areas
To support improved staff engagement and experience, the target areas are:
to ensure that staff feel confident to raise concerns
to ensure leader visibility in terms of putting patients first and acting on staff
and patient concerns
to ensure effective communication to keep people informed and involved
to ensure that staff feel valued and appreciated
to tackle rudeness, blame and negativity where it exists
to ensure staff involvement in service improvements
to provide appropriate education, training & development
to promote race equality
to improve staff health and wellbeing.

12.2

Monitoring
Improvement activity will be monitored by the Workforce Experience
Committee, chaired by the director of workforce.
Performance will be monitored upon receipt of national staff survey 2015
and local staff engagement results to determine levels of improvement.
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13. The equality and diversity report
13.1

Overview
The Trust is committed to tackling inequality of opportunity and eliminating
discrimination both within the workforce and in the provision of services. The Trust
has a legal responsibility under the Equality Act 2010 to:
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation
advance equality of opportunity
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant characteristic and
those who do not. The nine protected characteristics are:
o age
o disability
o ethnicity
o gender
o gender reassignment
o marriage & civil partnership
o pregnancy & maternity
o religion or belief
o sexual orientation
publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general duty at least
annual
prepare and publish equality objectives every four years
The Trust uses the NHS EDS as a tool to help fulfil and show compliance with the
public sector equality duty; to engage with patients, staff and the community to
review our service and employment equality performance and to identify future
priorities and actions for the Trust’s equality objectives. The Trust’s directors each
have responsibilities for equality and diversity. As a result of the January 2014 EDS
rating green achieving for all outcomes, the Trust agreed equality objectives and an
EDS improvement plan to address the gaps identified with agreed actions for each
director has been the focus of the Trust’s equality and diversity activities in
2014/15.
The Trust aspires to excellence as part of its values and in this context it means
that it aims to go beyond the minimum threshold of legislation by being an
exemplar of best practice. The Trust recognises that a richly diverse workforce
representative of the population we serve will better identify the needs both of our
staff and patients and that staff perform best at work when they can be
themselves.
This reports sets out the Trust annual progress report and actions to promote
workforce and service equality and diversity across the Trust.

13.2

Leadership and management of equality and diversity
A number of working groups drive equality activity in the Trust. They are:
Equality, Diversity and Dignity Steering Committee: chaired by the
director of operations, the steering committee is responsible for leading,
monitoring and evaluating equality and diversity work within the Trust. The
committee reports to the Trust board and the Quality committee. The steering
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committee meets quarterly and standing items include review of all patient
complaints which highlight equality, diversity and dignity issues experienced by
patients; workforce equality monitoring data; review of implementation and
progress on the Trust’s NHS equality delivery system (EDS) improvement plan
and feedback from the equality and diversity staff group meetings.
Equality and diversity staff group: responsible for identifying and
addressing staff and service issues in relation to equality, diversity and dignity.
This is a staff equality network whose members are self-nominated with the
support of their line manager originally established as a BME staff network in
2001 but broadened in scope to cover all equality protected characteristics. The
group is chaired by the E&D lead, meets bimonthly and reports to the equality,
diversity and dignity steering committee on issues and recommendations.
Recent equality and diversity staff group activity includes:
o

Organising events in the Trust for NHS Equality and ‘Human Rights Week’ 12
to 16 May 2014 launched by the Trust chair and chief executive including
‘In My Shoes’ disability awareness stand; gender and domestic violence
session with Cambridge Women’s Aid and Corporate Alliance Against
Domestic violence to launch both the service and staff policies to support
survivors of domestic violence; Faith talks in the chapel and encouraging
staff to sign up to the NHS ‘Personal, Fair and Diverse’ champions.

o

Campaigning on disability access issues and facilities in CUH.

o

Engagement on career development and leadership opportunities for BME
staff.

o

Speakers from various equality and diversity campaigning organisations and
working in partnership with organisations including: Stonewall; ‘Changing
Faces’ ; ‘Time to Change’ campaign; the Carers’ Trust; Cambridge Ethnic
Community Forum (CECF)

o

Staff engagement in the NHS equality delivery system process.

o

‘Faith in Hospital’ talks 10-week series April to July 2014 hosted in the
Chapel.

LGBT and straight alliance: this staff group of LGBT and straight allies
campaigning for LGB inclusion in the workplace was launched on International
Day Against Homophobia and Transphobia (IDAHOT) 17 May 2013 and meets
quarterly. Since its launch, the chair Stephen Pye, Monica Jacot E&D lead and
alliance have organised various events for the alliance. Activity this year
includes:
o

Organising all staff events including: Rainbow flag raising on 14 May with
the Chair and director of workforce and a film evening showing ‘Milk’ for
International Day Against Homophobia and Transphobia; it has collaborated
with Encompass network to to promote the Cambridgeshire LGBT History
month celebrations; organises LGBT history film nights eg showing of
‘Wilde’ in February 2015 and with the sister E&D staff group held World
AIDS day information stands and film showing of ‘Philadelphia’.

o

The Chair and E&D lead completed the Stonewall WEI index 2015 survey
for the Trust for the 5th year running promoted the Stonewall staff survey.
In January 2015 the Trust joined the Stonewall Diversity Partners
programme.

o

“It’s Not Just You” staff group for mental wellbeing and resilience plans
campaign against mental health stigma and for the fourth year running
organised events and talks for the Trust’s mental health week for ‘World Mental
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Health’ day 10 October and for ‘Time To Change’ national ‘Time To Talk’ day on
5 February.
Learning and disability working group: chaired by deputy chief nurse.
Membership includes the Trust's learning disability specialist nurse, patients
with learning disabilities and their carers with other external agencies including
the Learning Disability Partnership and Voiceability advocacy service. The group
works to improve services for patients with learning disabilities.
Vulnerable adults working group: chaired by deputy chief nurse to ensure
needs of vulnerable adults and those with dementia cared for appropriately.
This group involves carers and ‘Voiceability’ representatives.
Dementia strategy group: chaired by deputy chief nurse and
multidisciplinary professional representation; carer representatives; external
partners and representatives from groups such as Dementia UK and
Alzheimer’s society.

Table 34
Staff profile as at 31 March 2015
Age Group
<19
19-25
26-35
36-45
46-50
51-55
56-60
61-65
Over 65
Grand Total

Headcount
37
1,012
2,456
2,379
925
827
609
240
79
8,564

Ethnic Origin

Headcount

White - British
White - Irish
White - Any other White background
Mixed - White & Black Caribbean
Mixed - White & Black African
Mixed - White & Asian
Mixed - Any other mixed background
Asian or Asian British - Indian
Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian
background
Black or Black British - Caribbean
Black or Black British - African
Black or Black British - Any other Black
background
Chinese

144

%
0.4%
11.8%
28.7%
27.8%
10.8%
9.7%
7.1%
2.8%
0.9%
100.0%

%

5,474
137
1,017
22
26
43
50
428
59
23
309

63.9%
1.6%
11.9%
0.3%
0.3%
0.5%
0.6%
5.0%
0.7%
0.3%
3.6%

Cambs
populatio
n 2011
census
85.4%
0.80%
*7.10%
0.4%
0.2%
0.6%
0.5%
1.20%
0.40%
0.40%
1.10%

42
163
21

0.5%
1.9%
0.2%

0.30%
0.60%
0.20%

98

1.1%

1.10%
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Any Other Ethnic Group
Not Stated
Grand Total

108
544
8,564

1.3%
6.4%
100.0
%

*Note: Any other white background Cambs census population %
White Gypsy /Irish traveller

includes 0.2%

Gender
Female
Male
Grand Total

Headcount
6,477
2,087
8,564

%
75.6%
24.4%
100.0%

Employees declaring a disability
No
Not Declared Yes or No
Yes

Headcount
4,493
4,003
68

%
52.5%
46.7%
0.8%

8,564

100.0%

Grand Total

Religious Belief
Atheism
Buddhism
Christianity
Hinduism
I do not wish to disclose my
religion/belief
Islam
Judaism
Other
Sikhism
Undefined (not asked)
Grand Total

Headcount
719
28
2,310
71
505
57
10
392
5
4,467
8,564

1.50%
-

%
8.40%
0.33%
26.97%
0.83%
5.90%
0.67%
0.12%
4.58%
0.06%
52.16%
100.00%

14 faith groups including different Christian denominations are represented in the
Cambridge City population

Sexual Orientation
Bisexual
Gay
Heterosexual
I do not wish to disclose my sexual
orientation
Lesbian
Undefined ( not asked)
Grand Total

Headcount
21
27
3,637
288
19
4,572
8,564

%
0.25%
0.32%
42.47%
3.36%
0.22%
53.39%
100.00%

It is estimated that 6% of the UK population are either: lesbian, gay or bisexual
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Table 35
Patient Profile
Number of Patients accessing services by ethnicity/race between 1 April 2014
and 31 March 2015
Ethnicity
Ethnicity/Race

Inpatients

Day
cases

Outpatients

Total

%

Asian Bangladeshi

196

497

1805

2498

0.28%

Cambs
population
2011
census
0.40%

Asian Indian

502

721

5516

6739

0.70%

1.20%

Asian Pakistani

219

540

2204

2963

0.31%

0.40%

Any other Asian
background
Black African

384

771

3892

5047

0.52%

1.10%

291

226

2321

2838

0.29%

0.60%

Black Caribbean

132

459

1713

2304

0.30%

Any other Black
background
Mixed White and
Asian
Mixed White and
Black African
Mixed White and
Black Caribbean
Any other mixed
background
Chinese

136

291

1101

1528

0.24%
0.16%

161

113

1460

1734

0.18%

0.60%

82

82

515

679

0.07%

0.20%

108

363

865

1336

0.14%

0.40%

308

225

2074

2607

0.27%

0.50%

318

635

3171

4124

0.42%

1.10%

Any other Ethnic
group
White British

417

448

3757

4622

0.48%

1.50%

44460

82662

504450

631572

65.47%

84.5%

White Irish

368

835

4492

5695

0.59%

0.80%

White other

3571

4358

29347

37276

3.86%

7.10%*

Not stated

4302

4595

39858

48755

5.05%

Unknown

13353

16980

172060

202393

20.98%

Grand Total

69308

114801

780601

964710

0.20%

*Any other white background Cambs population % Note includes 0.2% White Gypsy /Irish
traveller

146

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Patients accessing services 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 by gender
Gender

Inpatient

Daycases

Outpatients

Grand
Total

Female

39023

51152

430151

520326

Male
Not
Known
Grand
Total

30284

63649

350449

444382

1

2

780601

964710

1
69308

114801

Patients accessing services from 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 declaring
a disability
Type of disability

Inpatient

Daycases

Outpatients

Grand Total

Blind

77

90

1065

1232

Deaf

345

491

3628

4464

Learning Disability

290

305

1505

2100

Grand Total

712

886

6198

7796

Patients accessing services from 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 by age
band
In Patient

Day
case

OP

Grand
Total

0-4

9296

2065

27719

39080

5-11

1706

1997

27081

30784

12-18

2331

2335

35335

40001

19-25

4546

3532

39671

47749

26-35

9208

6145

77756

93109

36-45

6415

8719

83378

98512

46-50

3212

8191

53342

64745

51-60

6460

14445

114288

135193

61-70

8374

22683

145831

176888

71-80

8168

27418

113284

148870

81-90

7346

16345

55326

79017

91+

2243

926

7589

10758

Age Group

Unknown

3

Grand Total

69308
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4
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Patients accessing services from 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 by religion
Religion

Inpatient

Outpatient

141

Day
case
438

2264

Grand
total
2843

Agnostic
Anglican

86

146

1665

1897

Atheist

126

164

2175

2465

Baha’i

3

1

60

64

Baptist

234

739

2415

3388

Buddhist

45

234

763

1042

Christadelphian

11

8

63

82

Christian

1963

2343

21173

25479

Christian Scientist

4

2

27

33

Church in Wales

4

9

86

99

Church of England

14564

33702

182655

230921

Church of Ireland

11

36

186

233

Church of Scotland

130

401

1465

1996

Churches of Christ

1

2

48

51

Congregationalist

24

11

227

262

Episcopalian

1

0

9

10

Free Church

6

17

132

155

Greek Orthodox

35

115

353

503

Hindu

161

320

1863

2344

Humanist

13

55

341

409

Jehovah’s Witness

83

379

1029

1491

Jewish

80

239

936

1255

Lutheran

0

0

20

20

Methodist

320

1032

4076

5428

Moravian

4

0

21

25

Mormon

10

5

83

98

Muslim

407

1047

3665

5119

Non-Conformist

20

32

141

193

None

5219

8795

56677

70691

Orthodox

40

36

401

477

Other

216

676

2292

3184

Other Free Church

78

62

890

1030

Pentecostal

19

15

214

248

Plymouth Brethren

3

17

21

Presbyterian

15

1
181

340

536

Protestant

1

3

30

34

Quaker

18

41

301

360

20

23

0
2827

3
5899

30001

37667

Rastafarian
Roman Catholic
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Salvation Army

41

43

342

426

Seventh Day Adventist

4

2

41

47

Sikh

32

32

417

481

Spiritualist

28

16

347

391

Unitarian

6

5

75

86

United Reform

46

49

574

669

Unknown

42228

57465

459681

559374

69308

114801

780601

964710

Grand Total

13.3

Employment equality monitoring
As required by the public sector equality duty, the Trust’s workforce equality
monitoring information is published on the CUH public website.
This includes:
the profile of our staff by age band, disability, race, religion, sex, sexual
orientation and marital status
ethnic profile of our staff compared to the local population
recruitment data by age band, disability, race, religion, sex, sexual
orientation and marital status (those applying, shortlisted and appointed)
staff in post by pay band by age, disability, race, sex and sexual orientation
the number attending training courses by age band, disability, race and sex
the number of leavers by age band, disability, race and sex
employee relation cases (disciplinary, capability, performance and sickness
bullying and harassment) cases by age band, disability, race and sex
Our patient profile by ethnicity compared to the local population is table 33.
The annual equality monitoring report was submitted to the Workforce and
Education Committee and to the Equality and Diversity steering committee in .

13.4

Key equality and diversity activities for training, service
equality and workplace
Training and awareness
Equality and diversity training is included in corporate induction and qualified
nurse orientation.
E-learning module on equality and diversity is included as part of annual elearning refresher training introduced in 2010.
Understanding equality half day workshops for line managers to discuss
practical equality day to day issues that can arise in the workplace using case
studies.
Half-day disability awareness workshops.
In 2013 the Trust has worked in partnership with the EACH project hosting
workshops on cultural awareness and working with interpreters.
Learning disability specialist nurse who provides training for clinical teams on
the needs of learning disability.
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Dementia awareness training programme for staff has been in place since
2011 and during 2014–15 was expanded to include showing of ‘Barbara’s
story’ for staff in post and at corporate induction.
Mental health first aid training for staff is provided by the Trust’s specialist
mental health nurse and we are one of just two acute trusts to provide this
with over 400 employees having attended this training.
The Ormiston Trust has provided Gypsy/Traveller cultural competence
training for clinical staff in the Emergency department.
A number of resources, and how to guides and training materials are
available for staff.
The Trust hosts the Diversiton Diversity calendar and the Intranet staff
Connect home page features cultural logos on key cultural and religious days
as a simple way to promote understanding of different cultures and religions.
The Trust also promotes events that other organisations are holding in
Cambridge for example for International Women’s day WOW Cambridge
festival.

13.5

Service equality
Key activities to improve service equality include
January 2015 saw the launch of inclusive hospital picture/photo menus which
are accessible for all patients to easily choose menu options who have
communications disabilities or difficulty speaking English. These clearly show
Halal and Khosher food options and images to denote whether menu contains
beef or chicken or pork ; vegetarian and vegan options and any allergens
gluten, dairy, nut
Adult ‘Changing Places’ facility was opened in early 2015 in outpatients for
adult patients and public with severe disabilities who require adult size
changing table for a carer to change incontinence pads. This is featured on the
‘Changing Places’ website.
Development of additional dementia friendly wards C6 and others.
Dementia wrist band and ‘Forget-me-not’ symbols used to identify patients with
dementia or delirium.
The learning disability patient passport and hospital communication book (from
the ‘Easy Health’ website as recommended in the Michael’s Inquiry Report
Health care for all continue to be used.
Regular audits of the patient passport carried out to check they are in use for
patients with a learning disability whilst in hospital.
Alert codes on the hospital information system for certain disabilities are used
to highlight whether a patient is deaf, or has a learning disability or is a
speaker of another language and requires an interpreter so when we are
informed at the point of referral from the GP, reasonable adjustments can be
made at the time of booking an outpatient appointment.
Patient information ‘Easy Read’ leaflets and information in other languages are
available on the Trust website.
Patient information audio leaflets on Trust website.
Personal listeners for communicating with patients with hearing loss with or
without a hearing aid are available to use booked from the medical equipment
library which maintains them
Dementia care programme on medicine for the elderly ward.
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Use of Addenbrooke’s Arts funding by the Trust’s falls coordinator to fund
dance and movement classes on ward J2 day room for patients with
cognitive impairment and / or mobility problems.
In 2013 the Trust appointed a dementia specialist nurse dementia VERA
posters introduced to promote awareness.
Vulnerable adult link nurses in place medicine, surgery and neurosciences
clinical divisions.
Dementia champions ‘This is Me’ dementia passport is used, completed with
patient and carer to assist staff caring for patients with dementia
Dementia screening for all patients over 75.
Total older people assessment service TOPAS in place to assess and manage
admission and discharge of older patients.
Specialists midwives in place: for maternal mental health; learning disability;
teenage parents and mothers who use substances in pregnancy
Online multi-faith resource for healthcare professionals.
DH Ramadan health guide for health care professionals and the public is
distributed and promoted each year at the time Ramadan.
The Trust’s privacy and dignity policy includes an appendix on service
equality the various reasonable adjustments required for each disability
including guidance for health professionals on caring for patients with autism
from the National Autistic Society and on providing dignity and care for
patients with gender variance/transgender from Gender Identity Research
and Education Society (GIRES).
ACTIVE board member Jessica Platt’s ‘Teens in Hospital’ training booklet and
DVD for clinical staff about the needs of teens and a staff card badge with
key actions to think about when caring for teens which slips inside staff ID
badge holder.
The PALS complaints equal opportunities pro-forma ensures that we monitor
complaints from people from all protected characteristics.
The Trust is grateful for the support ACT gave to purchase the following
equipment to support patients with disabilities:

13.6

o

65 light-weight STAXI wheelchairs at various pick up points for patients,
the public on the campus: multi-storey car park; outpatients; the
treatment centre; main reception

o

30 personal listener devices to book from the medical equipment library,
for use on wards and clinics to use for hearing impaired patients

Workplace
All employment policies reflect the requirements of the Equality Act 2010:
equal opportunities in employment; dignity at work procedure; recruitment
and selection procedure; flexible working procedure; organisational change
policy.
The Trust held staff and public listening events and as a result the Trust have
been refreshed to ‘Together - Safe, Kind, Excellent’ and a revised behaviour
standard and new leadership standards have been launched with equality
and diversity included.
April to July 2014 a series of ‘Faith in Hospital’ talks were hosted by the
chaplaincy team with different faith leaders discussing their faith and the
impact in a health care setting to promote cultural understanding.
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11-15 May 2014 for NHS ‘Equality and Human Rights Week’ was launched by
the chair and CEO who signed up to be NHS personal, fair and diverse
champions; events were held in the Trust each day that week focusing on a
different protected characteristic .
The Trust was just the second NHS organisation to sign the ‘Changing Faces’
charity ‘Face Equality at Work’ charter in April 2011.
Entered Stonewall ‘Workplace Equality Index’ for the fifth year running in
September 2014.
CUH is a Stonewall Diversity partner.
The Trust has been a ‘Mindful Employer’ since 2009 and reviewed its charter
commitments in 2011 and 2014.
Since September 2011 when the Trust’s chief executive signed the ‘Time to
Change’ campaign organisational pledge board (just the second acute Trust
to do so) to pledge to end mental health stigma and discrimination, the Trust
has organised mental health awareness and resilience weeks in recognition
of the fact that one in four people will experience mental ill health and to
encourage a workplace environment where staff can talk about mental
health.
06-10 October 2014 the fourth annual mental health week of activities took
place to promote mental resilience understanding of mental health in the
workplace and as a service provider to meet patients’ needs and campaign
The week of events included talk on 10 October ‘World Mental Health Day’ by
guest speaker Dr Guy Meadows on ‘How to sleep well’; 9 October talk ‘What
works well for your mental health’ with guest panel: Lisa Rodrigues. CBE
previous NHS CEO Sussex Partnership FT and mental health anti-stigma
campaigner; Henry Stewart Founder of Happy Ltd author of the ‘Happy
Manifesto’; Marion Janner, OBE and Founder of Star Wards mental health
charity; the event launched the CUH Brief Encounters guide for Easier
relationships for emotionally vulnerable patients– in an acute ward setting
The week promoted the five healthy behaviours for good mental health:
Connect; keep active; keep learning; take notice; give. The week included a
mindfulness sand sculpture labyrinth; free come and try Tai chi; meditation
sessions ; patchwork quilting session run by John Lewis haberdashery; visit
from the Pets as Therapy dog; with External mental health organisations; the
Richmond Fellowship;
World AIDS day stall selling red ribbons for National Aids Trust with
DHIVerse.
February 2015 LGBT history film night showing of ‘Wilde’.
5 February 2015 CUH ‘It’s Not Just You’ group and mental health first aiders
took part in the ‘Time to Change Time To Talk Day’ to break down mental
health stigma and with tea cake and information logged as many five-minute
conversations about mental health and promote support for staff in the
Trust.
Used NHS change day to promote staff to sign up to the national NHS
‘Personal Fair and Diverse’ campaign and encourage them to be PFD
champions.

13.7

Public engagement activities on equality and diversity
The Trust engages with a range of public groups on equality and diversity issues
and Foundation Trust governors also attend public meetings.
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Age
COPE Cambridgeshire Older People’s Enterprise
Teenage Cancer Trust
Age and Disability
Deaf Children’s Society
Pinpoint Cambridgeshire
Race
Cambridgeshire Human Rights and Equality Support Service (CHESS)
Cambridge Ethnic Community Forum
EACH Project – hosted by EELGA
Cambridge Punjabi Cultural Society
Disability
VoiceAbility Cambridgeshire
Learning Disability partnership
SCOPE
Rowan Humberstone
Alzheimer’s Society
Dementia UK
Cambridgeshire Hearing Help
Action on Hearing loss
CAMSight
DHIVerse – AIDS HIV charity
National Aids Trust
Changing Faces
The Papworth Trust
Richmond Fellowship
Shame No More
Make, Do and Mend
Time to Change
Pets as Therapy
National Autistic Society
Gender
Women’s Aid and Refuge in conjunction with Cambridgeshire Domestic abuse and
sexual violence partnership
Carers
Cross Roads Care Cambridgeshire now known as Carers Trust
Sexual Orientation
Encompass network
SexYouality
Stonewall
Religion
Chaplaincy team liaise with all different faith groups.
The Trust held staff and public listening events in march and April 2014 Hundreds
off patients and members of the public attended ‘In My Shoes’ consultation listening
events and as a result the Trust have refreshed the Trust values. The refreshed
values of ‘Together – Safe, Kind, Excellent’ with a revised behaviour standard and
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new leadership standards were launched in February 2015 with equality and
diversity behaviours included.

13.8

NHS equality delivery system (EDS)
The EDS has been developed by the NHS Department of Health Equality and
Diversity Council to improve equality and diversity practice in the NHS as a tool to
embed equality and diversity practice to meet the public sector equality duty.
The EDS contains 18 outcomes grouped under four goals. The four goals are:
1. Better health outcomes for all
2. Improved patient access and experience
3. Workforce – the NHS as a fair employer
4. Inclusive leadership at all levels
The 18 outcomes can be found in table 46 in this document.
Continuous improvement is prompted by a grading system, and many aspects of
the EDS require NHS organisations to embed equality into mainstream business.
The grading system is red (underdeveloped), amber (developing), green
(achieving) and purple (excelling) RAGP rating system.
A core part of the EDS is engagement with local interest groups. It is these local
interests that grade how well they think the Trust is doing as an organisation.
These grades are then published on the Trust website.
The EDS formed the majority of the work undertaken so far in 2014/15. The EDS
rating template and annual equality objectives to address the gaps are published on
the Trust website.
EDS rating 2015
For the fourth year since the introduction of the NHS EDS in 2011, the Trust has
engaged with patients, staff and the public and was rated as green achieving by a
panel of community representatives on 24 March 2015. This was a joint NHS EDS
rating event at Arbury Community Centre with other NHS organisations in
Cambridgeshire organised by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG.
Rating – ‘Green’ achieving – what it means
The RAG rating panel rated CUH’s equality performance for service and workforce
over the past year.
The Trust was rated ‘Green- achieving’ for all 18 EDS outcome measures.
For a Trust to measure ‘Green achieving’ evidence needs to be available to show
that between 6-8 protected characteristics fare well and are engaged with or other
disadvantaged groups who fall into what is termed ‘Inclusion health groups’ that
have difficulty accessing and benefitting from the NHS, defined by a DH and Social
care task force publication in 2010, such as the homeless; people: who live in
poverty; who are long term employed; who misuse drugs; in stigmatised
occupations (such as men and women in prostitution); with limited family or social
networks; or who are geographically isolated.
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The CUH EDS grading template showing our ‘green’ ratings for each outcome and
our equality objectives and EDS improvement plan is published on the CUH

website.

The fifth annual EDS annual improvement plan is being agreed for 2015/16 to
implement the EDS objectives which will form the work for the Trust for the year
ahead to be included in the quality account and the business plan.

13.9

Equality delivery system – goals and outcomes
Table 35
CUH EDS annual objectives for 2014/15
For Goal 1
Better health outcomes for all
Objective

Improve transition care for admission and discharge of those patients
with special complex needs
For Goal 2
Improved patient access and experience
Objective

To improve the patient experience continuing to focus on those with
special complex needs; older people; patients with dementia; patients
with a learning disability and patients with autism spectrum disorder;
Deaf and hearing impaired patients; and meeting the religious and
cultural needs of patients.
For Goal 3
Empowered, engaged and well supported staff
Objective

Review of equality and diversity awareness training to ensure all staff
(including medical and dental) are culturally competent and targeted to
address the areas highlighted as gaps from the workforce equality
monitoring data and for meeting goals 1 and 2
For Goal 4
Inclusive leadership at all levels
Objective

To support improvements in health outcomes, patient access and a
diverse inclusive workforce for all; papers that come before the board
and other major committees identify equality –related impacts
including risks and say how these risks are to be managed
Objective for Goals 1, 2 and 3
Improvement on the collection of data on protected characteristic:

for patients at referral so adjustments to services can be made;

patient complaint data;

workforce data

155

Annual Report & Accounts 2014/15

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

14. The sustainability and climate
change report
14.1

Overview
Sustainability is about our ability to indefinitely look after the environmental, social
and financial resources that we all depend upon for our wellbeing and quality of life.
This report summarises the Trust’s 2014–15 contribution to the environmental side
of sustainability and how this is so essentially tied into the financial and social
aspects of securing long-term safe, kind and excellent healthcare delivery.
The challenge is to bring the value of our natural environmental resources (air,
water, land, minerals, biodiversity and energy) into the Trust’s day-to-day business
decision-making.
Even though it is well recognised that the quantity of the environmental resources
we take (and how we use them and what we do with them afterwards) affects our
ability to keep on consuming them, they are rarely valued in ways that secure their
long term availability for the health and healthcare of generations to come.
Despite some progress, these resources remain under massive threat. They are
being compromised by over-exploitation and the impact of the excessive man-made
carbon emissions that are beginning to destabilise the global climate .
Everything the Trust uses to deliver quality healthcare to its patients comes from a
supply chain. A chain that begins with someone taking something useful from the
natural environment, then someone else makes it into something we need, our staff
then use it do their jobs, and subsequently throw away what’s left over when the
jobs done. All these ‘things’, be they natural land, minerals, energy and water, or
manufactured materials, equipment and food, have a vital value – a value to our
health, a value within our environment, a value in our finances, and a value in
keeping our society together. The problem is that our current supply chains can
throw away the vast majority of this value without much of a thought as to how to
‘sustain’ it (and still turn a profit). With populations expanding, living longer and
becoming more affluent we must retain this value as there are simply not enough
‘new’ resources to go around. The ability to do this is ‘sustainability’.
CUH’s size, profile and relationships provide significant opportunities to influence its
supply chains:

Alongside the tried and tested sustainability actions of delivering efficiency
improvements, finding recycling channels and establishing low carbon energy
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sources, there is a new approach that is starting to have an
impact within healthcare. This is the idea of a ‘circular
economy’ which looks for innovative ways to turn all the
waste products back into raw materials somewhere in the
supply chain.
Too much of the energy and natural resources put into
products and utilities is lost or downgraded to a low level of
value. This means ‘new’ energy and virgin natural materials
are required to keep providing the products. These resources are limited and
becoming more expensive.
Organisations that find new ‘circles’ to hold value in their supply chains will be
taking important steps to reduce costs and improve long-term resilience.

14.2

Our approach to delivery
The Trust’s approach to fulfilling its sustainability and climate change
responsibilities is formally established in the Board-adopted sustainable
development management plan 2013–2020 (SDMP):
‘CUH will aim to understand the impact the organisation has on the environment
and local community and will develop strategies to reduce its carbon footprint’.
CUH has been working for several years to handle its core sustainability
responsibilities by reducing the environmental, social and economic costs of the
energy, waste, water and transport needs that underpin its healthcare delivery.
From this strategic position a first stage SDMP work plan has been implemented for
the period 2013-15. The opening approach has been a conventional one:
reduce utility demand by improving the efficiency of equipment in use (from
heat exchangers to lighting and water pressure)
recover energy on site wherever possible (from combined heat and power plant
to incineration and ventilation)
find recycling routes for all our waste streams (from plastic to plasterboard and
from single use instruments to coffee grounds)
provide lower carbon and more active travel choices for staff, visitors and
patients
This approach has continued to deliver good results in 2014-15 – saving resources,
money and carbon. It has brought further local, regional and national recognition of
achievement in the form of: CUH’s Divisional Excellence Award, Anglian Water’s
Drop Carbon, Travel for Cambridgeshire’s Diamond Award for Travel Planning,
CIWM’s People’s Peel Cup, and the Carbon Trust’s Waste Standard.
The above four elements of delivery remain a firm foundation for action, however,
the sustainability agenda continues to develop in ways that more expediently match
sustainability outcomes with our local campus development and the wider drivers of
economic growth.
Over the past 12 months, three new drivers have emerged to strongly enhance the
Trust’s approach and push it to the next level:
A more formally structured and active approach to partner integration across
the rapidly expanding Cambridge Biomedical Campus (CBC) under the auspices
of Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP). Effective collaboration lies at
the heart of sustainability’s shared agenda. This new partnership is important
and the setting up of a distinct Transport, Travel and Sustainability work
stream has taken delivery forward alongside longstanding affiliations with
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organisations such as Cambridge Cleantech, Travel for Cambridgeshire, our
local authorities and the NHS Sustainable Development Unit.
A major review of the campus’s core energy strategy: 2014-15 saw delivery
partners step away from existing proposals for a new energy centre following a
recognition that they no longer fully addressed the growing needs of the Trust
over the next 25 years.
The wider emergence of full life cycle costing within the new ‘Circular Economy’
model for delivering sustainability and economic growth within a resource
constrained world. As introduced above, designing waste (and so unnecessary
carbon emissions) out of a supply chain is a daunting task when taken as a
whole. However, breaking it down into elements (see diagram below), relating
these to existing experience, and working collaboratively with established and
new partners means that the Trust can rapidly pick-up on this transition to
driving waste out of our supply chains and boosting value.
The diagram below illustrates the range of delivery elements contained within the
circular economy model and which will be integrated within the Trust’s new SDMP
Work Plan 2015-2017. Some are already well exercised and all will add value and
resilience to our supply chains for all goods, materials, equipment and utilities.

Table 36
Developing elements of a circular economy: CUH 2013-2020

14.3

Targets
The SDMP's core targets are tied to reducing the Trust's carbon footprint (a
measure of its contribution to man-made climate change expressed in terms of
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CO2e emissions – or carbon emissions for
short). Actions to reduce these emissions fall
roughly into two categories:
those arising directly from our service
delivery on or around campus (eg heating,
electricity and travel – known as Scope 1
and Scope 2 carbon emissions); and,

SDMP Core targets
Reduce Scope 1 & 2
carbon emissions by 40%
by 2017
Reduce Scope 1, 2 & 3
carbon emissions by 34%
by 2020

those embedded in the off-site
manufacture and disposal of all the goods we purchase (eg pharmaceuticals,
instruments, linen etc – known as Scope 3 emissions).
As introduced in the previous section, the Trust has far more direct control of (and
ability to accurately measure) its Scope 1 and 2 emissions than it does for its Scope
3 emissions. This is an important distinction and one that requires very different
approaches to managing effective reductions.
For the essential energy, waste, water and transport elements of the Trust's
operational infrastructure that we have reasonably direct control over, then we are
in a position to sustainably manage them through applying reduce, recover, recycle
and ‘smarter choices’ thinking. We can readily calculate consumption and carbon
footprints because we directly pay for the metered gas, electricity, diesel, water,
and petrol that we use in and around campus to run the organisation. With better
and smarter metering we can identify specific properties, equipment or processes
that will benefit the most from taking up sustainability options.
When we buy goods in from our
however, then the energy, waste,
and transport involved in their
production and delivery is not in
our direct control and so
calculating the carbon, footprints
becomes more speculative.

suppliers,
water

These footprints are however
hugely significant. The NHS
Sustainable Development Unit
has estimated that Scope 3
emissions account for at least
60% of a Trust's carbon footprint. This is calculated by applying a carbon intensity
value to every pound sterling spent on a specific product type. This allows us to
identify where the big carbon costs are but does not provide us with a means for
illustrating sustainability improvements, bar spending less on a product. In order to
help tackle Scope 3 emissions the NHS SDU has commissioned detailed life cycle
assessment work to look at a range of key care pathways. The Trust has been an
active contributor to this process and findings are due to be published in May 2015.

14.4

2014-15 delivery
The Trust, like much of the healthcare sector and hospitals in particular, is a highly
intense consumer of natural resources. In any one day over 8,700 staff work across
260,000m2 to treat and provide the essential support services for over 700
inpatients, 2,500 outpatients, 170 ED attendances and 120 operations alongside
hosting thousands of visitors and providing first class teaching and research
facilities. This is all done in carefully managed conditions of infection control,
deploying the best technology, equipment and materials whilst administering oneto-one patient-centred treatments with a myriad of medicines, instruments,
furniture, linen, food, and extensive laboratory, office supply and information
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technology services plus thousands of units of electricity and heat and thousands of
litres of water, that in turn all require fully maintained distribution, transport,
purchasing and waste disposal services.
We recognise that this associated and essential energy, waste, water and travel
intensity is part of the UK's over-consumption of natural resources – an overconsumption that means we would need around three planet Earths if everyone in
the world lived this way. Our responsibility and commitment is to make sure that
we are playing our part to design waste out of our systems and find alternative
more sustainable means of provision that ensure we are on the road to delivering
‘one planet’ kind, safe and excellent health and care.
The table below provides a numeric summary of our environmental sustainability
performance for 2014-15. The following four sections provide the essential
narrative required to give the numbers meaning and to generate a more tangible
understanding of our performance.

Table 37
Summary performance table – energy, waste, water and travel

Total gross internal floor space
Energy:
Total Grid electricity consumed
Total Grid CO2 emissions
Total on-site CHP electricity consumed
Total on-site CHP CO2 emissions
Total gas consumed
Total gas CO2 emissions
Total oil consumed
Total oil CO2 emissions
Total CO2 emissions
Waste:
Clinical waste incineration with energy
recovery
Landfill disposal waste
Waste Recycling
Water:
Water Volume
Travel:
Car single occupancy commute
Bus commute
Bicycle commute

Units
2
m
Units
MWh
tCO2
MWh
tCO2
MWh
tCO2
MWh
tCO2
tCO2
Units

2012/13
257,056
2012/13
26,333
14,354
4,600
846
50,272
9,312
228
58
24,570
2012/13

2013/14
261,665
2013/14
21,678
11,817
8,634
1,589
44,788
8,296
303
77
21,779
2013/14

2014/15
266,797
2014/15
28,565
14,119
2,536
467
43,122
7,978
391
99
22,663
2014/15

tonnes

2,026

2,134

2,022

tonnes
tonnes
Units
3
m
Units
% staff
% staff
% staff

675
834
2012/13
395,072
2012/13
30
24
30

803
1,008
2013/14
443,308
2013/14
29
26
30

824
1,063
2014/15
418,499
2014/15
25
25
33

In many ways, 2014-15 can be seen as a year of significant transition in stepping
up the Trust’s response to sustainability and climate change agenda.
We have put in place better integrated management arrangements for operational
activities and capital project development which all provide further room for
manoeuvre in delivering more sustainable outcomes.
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A robust and creative process has been fully established to formulate a clear core
energy strategy and implementation programme (concluding October 2015) that is
carefully tailored to the complex current and future demands of the site.
The realities of campus expansion and the arrival of new organisations has fostered
a reinvigorated sense of collaboration – especially through Cambridge University
Health Partners (CUHP).
New demand for services has also been matched through the regional and national
picture of stretched NHS capacity as hospitals across the country evolve to meet
the extended demand – creating both sustainability pressures and opportunities.
In the light of these shifting circumstances, this is a timely moment for the Trust’s
existing SDMP Work Plan 2013-15 to be reviewed,
reshaped and renewed to cover the coming two to
three years.

14.5

Integrated sustainability
The Trust’s formally adopted Sustainable Development
Management Plan (2013-2020) makes it very clear
that the route to reducing environmental impact,
cutting resource and carbon costs whilst securing longterm health and wellbeing is a shared one in which everybody has a role to play –
sustainability is for everyone.
Since 2007, this essential collaboration has been expressed site-wide through
CUH’s distinct ‘Think Green’ identity. Numerous projects and initiatives have since
been brought forward and delivered. This year has seen four very productive ‘Think
Green’ collaborations:
working alongside our clinical colleagues, Medirest and Compass in expanding
the dry-mixed recycling service into the majority of ward, clinic, theatre and
public areas
working with the outstanding young volunteers from ACTIVE to promote a full
range of environmental messages around NHS ‘Sustainability Day’ and
culminating in a brilliant set of displays and activities for the on-site ‘Science
Festival’ day with a focus on health and wellbeing and countering the endemic
rise of the ‘disposable’ coffee cup
working across the whole Trust to successfully run our first year of the
new ‘Think Green Impact’ (TGI) programme. TGI is the Trust’s
tailored version of the National Union of Students popular
accreditation scheme that encourages pro-environmental behaviours
by staff in teams. It empowers sustainability champions, providing
them with a framework of practical actions, helping them gain
recognition for their environmental efforts, whilst playing on the
competitive spirit of people working together in teams. Auditing of the
registered teams first year check-books is currently underway
working with the Trust’s ‘Our Way Annual Awards’ team to present the Frank
Lee Centre and pharmacy with their ‘Think Green’ awards for, respectively,
being outstanding in linking customer care with environmental care, and, for
maintaining a long and dedicated track record of cutting waste out of their
delivery system. The estates and facilities’ energy and sustainability team were
also very proud to receive the ‘Divisional Excellence Award’ for corporate
services 2014 at the same event.
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As introduced above, developing practical responses to the fact that the majority of
a large organisation’s environmental impact is external to their main business (i.e.
derived from the goods it purchases and waste it generates) is receiving concerted
attention and finding a strong ally in the previously introduced innovative ‘circular
economy’ models for sustained growth. The Trust has been working to support the
NHS SDU in a challenging piece of work that is examining the sustainability impacts
of a range of patient care pathways. This is founded on rigorous life cycle
assessments of all the resources deployed and waste generated in each pathway.
CUH provided valuable contributions through a series of workshops, our ‘Green
Theatres’ project and wider procurement and activity data.
The sustainability team have also been working with procurement colleagues and
the national ‘Waste and Resources Action Programme’ (WRAP) to develop a
practical approach for integrating sustainability criteria within tender briefs and
assessments.

14.6

Energy and water
This year has seen a significant shift in CUH’s strategic position for energy supply
and distribution across the campus. With a recognition that the proposed new
energy centre was no longer going to adequately meet site expansion and
development needs, the Trust has taken forward a robust review and is rapidly
transforming this into a revised business case. This will take a holistic view of
current and future energy needs and its options for the core supplies and
associated delivery network. This highly influential body of work will guide and
inform decision-making for a five to ten year period to meet key objectives of
capacity, resilience, efficiency, maintenance, compliance and carbon reduction.
Conventional energy related carbon emissions have marginally increased over last
year’s as illustrated in the graph below. This partially reflects a significant change to
the existing energy generation plant. In October the Trust’s combined heat and
power unit was
taken off-line as
30000
Annual Energy-based carbon emissions (Scopes 1 & 2)
its high pressure
gas main was cut
25000
58
and capped in
99
77
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development to
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Grid electricity
14354
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increasing our
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grid electricity
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and reducing the
efficiency of
supply to the campus energy network. The future of the existing older gas turbine
plant, potential options for replacement, and restoring the efficiency gains are being
managed through the revised energy strategy work currently in train. The Trust
continues to run with a low carbon grid electricity supply through its contracted
energy supply tariff.
The careful management of energy conservation, efficiency and generation across
the Trust’s properties continues to be at the heart of its success in reducing our
directly controllable Scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions.
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The foundation of this success is the careful monitoring and control of all the plant
and equipment that provides for and distributes heat, power, cooling, ventilation
and lighting from the gas, electricity, oil and sunshine supplied to the site. Combine
these supplies with an estate comprising numerous wards, clinics, theatres, offices,
laboratories, kitchens, seminar rooms, plant rooms, rest areas and residences that
have been significantly expanded, reshaped, and refurbished in many and varied
ways since opening in 1962 and you have a very complex terrain. The challenge
has been to overlay this physical complexity with the modern technology required
to provide effective integrated energy management.
Over the past six years the energy and sustainability team, working in close
partnership with our maintenance and project team colleagues and alongside
quality contractors have successfully installed an integrated Building Energy
Management System (BEMS) across Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie. A system of over
800 controllers now centrally communicate with, and most importantly, remotely
control, thousands of ‘set points’ within energy delivering equipment across over
50% of the site (with another 20% able to communicates what it is doing but
without a control function). The control provided is the major driver behind
reducing the Trust’s Scope 1 and 2 carbon emission figures. 2014-15 has seen
close collaborative working with our colleagues at Carillion who manage the
Addenbrooke’s Treatment Centre facilities. Detailed review work has led to a
significant improvement in energy delivery performance and reporting.
The Trust has also continued to deliver a range of ‘invest-to-save’ energy efficiency
projects. These are designed to upgrade the energy efficiency of existing plant and
equipment within time frames that provide a full pay-back on the investment –
typically within three to five years. The Trust investment is supplemented by an
ongoing public-sector only Salix fund which secures the re-investment of energy bill
savings in further projects to cut consumption and carbon emissions.
Seven projects were brought forward under the Salix supported funding stream in
2014-15 at an investment cost of £129,000. From year 1 these projects will reduce
the Trust’s energy cost by £47,000 and its carbon footprint by 219t CO 2 per annum
– over 20 years the saving equates to approximately £906,000 and 4,140t of CO 2.
Collaboration with the capital projects team also continues to ensure that energy
efficiency is priority issue in all major refurbishments and extensions.
As the pressure to urgently slow the concentration of CO 2e in the atmosphere has
built, so the legislative pressure and fiscal incentives upon business to reduce
Scope 1 and 2 emissions has become deeper and increasingly complex. Legislation
that came into effect last year has allowed the Trust to opt-out of the burden of
surrendering allowances and third party verification for hospitals and smaller
emitters (so long as the Trust stays below certain emission and thermal input
thresholds and meets very specific annual reduction targets). Simplification of the
Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme (CRC) has also meant
that the Trust, as a registered EU ETS site, has just benefited from its first year of
exemption.
In support and development of all the above activities, work has begun on meeting
the ISO 50001 standard for energy management systems.
Water consumption remains steady, with carefully monitored pressure control to
maximise efficiency. The Trust were proud to receive a high commendation from
Anglian Water for its carbon reduction work at their ‘We love what you do’ business
awards.
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Waste management
2014-15 has
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Trust’s 11
tonnes of daily ‘waste’ are as sustainable as possible. Recycling rates remain
strong, healthcare waste is safely incinerated with heat recovery to warm the
hospital and the majority of the waste that we cannot channel for re-use and
recycling on-site is now processed, by our contractor Amey Cespa in Waterbeach,
through a mechanical and biological treatment plant so that it is not consigned to
landfill.
The environmental services team have been doing this
job effectively and efficiently year-in-year-out for as
long as anyone can remember. The quality of this
service has now been independently assessed under the
Carbon Trust’s challenging ‘Waste Standard’ and scored
at 89% – the highest bench-marked assessment of any
organisation in the country. Continuous improvement is
part of the ‘Waste Standard’. Despite there always being
more to do in staying on top of our waste streams
(encouraging reduction, finding new ways to reuse and
recycle, and making sure that all staff know how and where to dispose of ‘waste’
and understand the importance of compliance) this is a remarkable achievement.
To improve the resilience of the service there been some restructuring – most
significantly with waste collection becoming part of Portering and Logisitics. Work
has been underway throughout the year to improve recycling rates by: rolling-out
additional dry-mixed recycling bins across wards, clinics and theatres; improving
facilities for internal public spaces, and; developing options for external areas.
Beyond recycling, more redundant but still very useable equipment and supplies are
either auctioned, or put forward for charitable re-use via Addenbrooke’s Abroad,
according to suitability. Two recent shipments have been sent to Syria as part of a
relief package.
The majority of our waste starts with what we buy. Our procurement department
have continued to expand and develop their materials management service to
minimise over-stocking and waste. The Trust’s re-drafted procurement policy
includes specific reference to the importance of life cycle assessments so that end
of life costs are accounted for in purchasing decisions.
CUH’s two waste incinerators continue to provide significant financial and
sustainability benefits through both heat recovery and not having to send clinical
waste off-site for disposal. Incineration is a very closely regulated process with
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appropriately stringent operational and emissions standards. The Environment
Agency periodically carry out exacting operator monitoring assessments and it was
the Trust’s turn this year – the audit was passed with one of the highest scores
ever awarded at 86%. This technical success had been earlier supplemented with a
highly commended award in the coveted Chartered Institute of Waste
Management’s People Peel’s Cup for team performance and high quality operation
of a waste management plant. The incineration team are not ones to rest on their
laurels and in the last quarter of the year have implemented a major upgrade of
No.2 Plant which is now running with enhanced efficiency – saving both money and
carbon in significantly reduced gas consumption.

14.8

Transport and travel planning
Facilitating and supporting sustainable travel links to and from our site is a campuswide project. This is why our 2014-17 travel plan was called ‘Access to
Addenbrooke’s Plus’, the ‘plus’ being used to express a widening of the remit to
include as many adjacent and embedded partner organisations as possible.
2014-15 has seen this collaborative approach taken further forward under the
auspices of the Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP). This formally brings
together NHS, University and a range of Cambridge Biomedical Campus (CBC)
partners (such as Astra Zenica, the Medical Research Council, the Forum and
Cambridge Medipark Ltd) to work on shared goals with shared capacity and
capability. Travel to-and-from the CBC that reduces congestion, improves health
and cuts carbon emissions has been agreed as one such shared goal through the
CUHP travel, transport and sustainability workstream.
This very positive move has already seen an agreed reallocation of resources to
facilitate a fully collaborative approach and the establishment of a distinct project
group to take forward the development and implementation of an on-line site
journey planner. The planner aims to bring together the very diverse strings of
travel mode and mapping information into one easily accessible source that anyone
can use to select their most sustainable travel choices. The Trust has a longrunning and very successful on-site travel planning track record and so has been
asked to take a lead role in broadening this experience, with partner input, across
the whole Biomedical Campus. This is a tremendous opportunity to further reduce
lone driver car trips to the site and boost the cycling, public transport and walking
options.
This year’s site travel survey has shown a further improvement in these figures:
Staff Journeys to Work - Survey percentages by
mode 2012-2014
Walk
Bus
Car (sharing)
Car (lone driver)
Motorcycle
Bicycle
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2013
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We continue to work with the campus staff, site visitors and the local community to
improve access to from and across the site. With the resources available and the
numerous parties involved this is often a lengthy process but useful progress has
been made.
The planned extensive development to the west of the campus is now underway
and concerted efforts are being made to minimise disruption for walkers, cyclists
(including cycle parking) and public transport users as the necessary changes to
circulation are implemented. All the development companies have been requested
to sign up to the industry-led ‘Construction Logistics and Cyclist Safety’ standard
(CLOCS) to manage work related road risks as the new build phases progress.
Contract provision of CUH’s business car pool has been successfully re-tendered.
This will see the existing pool cars progressively swapped out for high efficiency,
hybrid and electric vehicles – all with carbon
dioxide emissions below the 100g/km target.
The Trust was proud to be only one of two
winners of the prestigious Travel for
Cambridgeshire ‘Workplace Travel Plan
Diamond Award’.

14.9

Being prepared for the impacts of climate change
The cumulative concentration of excessive greenhouse gasses in the atmosphere
from human activity has already committed us to experience a significant degree of
climate change. In Cambridge the most immediate of these is likely to be felt
through building overheating from summer heat-waves. In 2013 a hot spell in
England was estimated to have caused 650 premature deaths. The 2003 heat-wave
led to over 2,000 premature deaths in England and Wales i. Surface water flooding
from more frequent and intense storm events is also an anticipated outcome of
climate change.
A comprehensive review of the site’s existing cooling capacity has been included in
the important and ongoing energy strategy and business case development work.
The CUHP travel, transport and sustainability workstream has included in its work
plan a campus-wide review of the complex issue of surface water drainage
capacities and management practices

14.10

Looking forward
The pressure to deliver healthcare in increasingly sustainable ways, and also
respond to the urgent demands of the climate change agenda, are major challenges
for all NHS Trusts.
CUH has been responding well to these challenges and is now well placed to push
on even further. Continuing the work reported in the above sections will be crucial
but it will also require an even more concerted effort to work closely with the staff
(and patients and visitors) across all our wards, clinics, theatres and departments –
sustainability is for everyone. The continued delivery of the ‘Think Green Impact’
programme will be an important vehicle for achieving this and securing important
financial savings.
Our experience increasingly tells us that the concept of environmental sustainability
(living within the limited capacity of the earth’s natural resources) must be made to
work hand-in-hand with the realities of financial sustainability (working within
limited budgets and the goal of economic growth).
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This means working even harder to reduce consumption and eradicate waste. By
examining the life cycles of everything we use we should be able identify where
value is being lost. Each point of loss creates room for business innovation.
The continuing expansion of the campus will also provide new challenges, benefits
and partnership opportunities, not least of which will be those arising from our new
energy strategy and cross partner collaborative work arrangements. These have
both been carefully conceived and are now heavily pregnant with opportunity.
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Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of Cambridge
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS
Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for
the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of
proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officers’ Memorandum issued by
Monitor.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006, Monitor has directed Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis
set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and of its
income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the
financial statements;

•

Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities
and guidance; and

•

Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable him to
ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting
Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in
Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
Signed

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF CAMBRIDGE
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ONLY
Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit
1

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the
year ended 31 March 2015 set out on pages 9 to 41. In our opinion:
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March
2015 and of the Trust’s income and expenditure for the year then ended; and
the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15.
2

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements the risks of material misstatement that
had the greatest effect on our audit were as follows:
NHS Income Recognition - £557.8 million
Refer to Audit Committee Report, page 13 (accounting policy – note 1.3) and pages 23 to 24 (financial
disclosures – note 2).
The risk: The main source of income for the Trust is the provision of healthcare services to the public
under contracts with NHS commissioners, which make up (96%) of income from activities. The Trust
participates in the national Agreement of Balances (AoB) exercise for the purpose of ensuring that intraNHS balances are eliminated on the consolidation of the Department of Health’s resource accounts. The
AoB exercise identifies mismatches between receivable and payable balances recognised by the Trust and
its commissioners, which will be resolved after the date of approval of these financial statements. For
these financial statements the Trust identifies the specific cause, and accounts for the expected future
resolution, of each individual difference. Mis-matches can occur for a number of reasons, but the most
significant arise where:
the Trust and commissioners record different accruals for completed periods of healthcare which
have not yet been invoiced;
income relating to partially completed periods of healthcare is apportioned across the financial
years and the commissioners and the Trust make different apportionment assumptions;
accruals for out-of-area treatments not covered by direct contracts with commissioners, but
authorised by, for example, GPs on behalf of commissioners, are not recognised by
commissioners; or
there is a lack of agreement over proposed contract penalties for sub-standard performance.
Where there is a lack of agreement, mis-matches can also be classified as formal disputes and referred to
NHS England Area Teams for resolution.
Our response: In this area our audit procedures included:
for estimated accruals relating to completed periods of healthcare, comparing a sample of
accruals to the invoice raised in the new financial year and checking evidence of
payment/acceptance;
for partially-completed periods of healthcare, inspecting a sample of related invoices raised in the
new financial year and related records of patient care to assess the appropriateness of the
apportionment of income between financial years;
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for a sample of out-of-area treatments, inspecting the records of the basis of the referral of the
patient, correspondence with commissioners and records of patient care to make our own
assessment of the appropriateness of income recognition;
for penalties, assessing the reasonableness of the Trust’s assumptions by inspecting a sample of
the Trust’s records relating to the quality and timeliness of the activities in dispute,
correspondence with commissioners and any external legal advice received by the Trust;
for a sample of disputes referred to the Area Teams, we obtained evidence of any agreement that
had been reached after the balance sheet date and for others we inspected the case provided to
the Area Team, considered correspondence from the Area Team and the commissioner and
formed our own view of the appropriateness of any recognition of income; and
considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgements and degree of estimation
involved in arriving at the estimate of revenue receivable and the related sensitivities.
Valuation of land and buildings (including PFI assets) - £329.6 million
Refer to Audit Committee Report, pages 14 to 16 (accounting policy - note 1.7) and pages 31 to 32
(financial disclosures – note 7.1).
The risk: Land and buildings are required to be maintained at up to date estimates of year-end market
value in existing use (EUV) for non-specialised property assets in operational use, and, for specialised
assets where no market value is readily ascertainable, the depreciated replacement cost of a modern
equivalent asset that has the same service potential as the existing property (MEAV). There is significant
judgment involved in determining the appropriate basis (EUV or MEAV) for each asset according to the
degree of specialization, as well as over the assumptions made in arriving at the valuation and the
condition of the asset. In particular the MEAV basis requires an assumption as to whether the
replacement asset would be situated on the existing site or, if more appropriate, on an alternative site,
with a potentially significant effect on the valuation.
For 2014/15 the Trust commissioned a full revaluation of land and buildings from an external valuer.
Our response: In this area our audit procedures included:
assessing the competence, capability, objectivity and independence of the Trust’s external valuer
and considering the terms of engagement of, and the instructions issued to, the valuer for
consistency with the requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;
critically assessing the appropriateness of the valuation bases and assumptions applied to a
sample of higher value assets; and
considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgments and degree of estimation
involved in arriving at the valuation and the related sensitivities.
Accounting treatment of new electronic patients records system (eHospital) - £32.3 million
(intangible assets) and £16.1 million (operating expenditure: supplies and services and
amortisation)
Refer to page Audit Committee Report, page 16 (accounting policy – note 1.8) and page 33 (financial
disclosures – note 8.1).
The risk: The Trust has acquired a new electronic patient records system, called eHospital. Costs
incurred for the acquisition of software for major computer systems may be capitalised, as intangible
assets, if they are an integral part of the system. Costs meeting the relevant recognition criteria are
initially measured at cost and amortised on a systematic basis over their useful lives. The total costs of a
computer system must be reasonable and should accurately reflect the value of the system. Modifications
to existing software and annual costs associated with ongoing maintenance and usage of the computer
system and related infrastructure should be recognised as operating expenditure in the period in which
the costs are incurred. In determining the estimated useful life over which the costs incurred for
computer software will be amortised consideration should be given to the effects of obsolescence,
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technology and other economic factors which may impact on useful life. In addition, impairment in the
value of the cost of computer software can occur when:
computer software is not expected to provide substantive service potential;
a significant change occurs in the extent or manner in which the software is expected to be used;
or
costs developing or acquiring the computer software significantly exceed the amount originally
expected to develop or acquire the computer software.
Our response: In this area our audit procedures included:
for the new electronic patient records system (eHospital), inspecting the contract and assessing
the elements of the system that relate to infrastructure, computer software and other costs;
for computer software costs, inspecting a sample of related invoices to assess the
appropriateness of the apportionment of costs between operating expenditure and capital
expenditure;
critically assessing the appropriateness of the estimated useful life over which the costs that have
been capitalised will be amortised over; and
considering whether there are any impairment factors that may impact on the value of the
computer system; and
considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgments and degree of estimation
involved in arriving at the accounting treatment of the new computer system.
3

Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

The materiality for the financial statements was set at £7,000,000, determined with reference to a
benchmark of income from operations (of which it represents approximately 1%). We consider income
from operations to be more stable than a surplus-related benchmark.
We report to the Audit Committee any corrected and uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
£250,000, in addition to other identified misstatements that warrant reporting on qualitative grounds.
Our audit of the Trust was undertaken to the materiality level specified above and was all performed at
the Trust’s premises in Cambridge.
4

Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts is
unmodified

In our opinion:
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15; and
the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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5

We have nothing to report in respect of the matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Under ISAs (UK&I) we are required to report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired during our
audit, we have identified other information in the annual report that contains a material inconsistency
with either that knowledge or the financial statements, a material misstatement of fact, or that is
otherwise misleading.
In particular, we are required to report to you if:
we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit
and the directors’ statement that they consider that the annual report and accounts taken as a
whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for patients,
regulators and other stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, business model and
strategy; or
the Audit Committee Report does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the
audit committee.
Under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you if in our opinion:
the Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15, is misleading or is not consistent with
our knowledge of the Trust and other information of which we are aware from our audit of the
financial statements.
the Trust has not made proper arrangement for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities.
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Certificate of audit completion
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health
Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.
Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor
As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities on page 2 the accounting
officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our
responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to
comply with the UK Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland)
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on our website at
www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeother2014.
This report is made subject to important explanations
regarding our responsibilities, as published on that website, which are incorporated into this report as if
set out in full and should be read to provide an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we
have undertaken and the basis of our opinions.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with
Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for
our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Stephen Muncey for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Botanic House
100 Hills Road
Cambridge
CB1 2AR
21 May 2015
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (“the Trust”) acts as an acute Hospital and the
main teaching hospital for the University of Cambridge. The Trust serves the local Cambridge area and
also provides specialist services to the wider population throughout the East of England and beyond. The
Trust hosts a number of clinical networks and the Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre.
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015 have been prepared by Cambridge University Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 of the 2006 Act.
Signed

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive
21 May 2015
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000

2
3

707,688
(709,845)
(2,157)

702,673
(698,194)
4,479

6
6
14

139
(8,088)
(154)
(5,409)
(13,512)

140
(7,340)
(116)
(5,555)
(12,871)

Share of (loss) of joint arrangements
(Deficit) from continuing operations

(1,220)
(16,889)

(8,392)

(Deficit) for the year

(16,889)

(8,392)

Revaluation gains on Land and Buildings
Equity investment in joint arrangements

27,185
125

-

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the year

10,421

(8,392)

(16,889)

(8,392)

10,421

(8,392)

Note

Operating income from continuing operations
Operating expenses of continuing operations
Operating (deficit)/surplus
Finance costs
Finance income
Finance expense - financial liabilities
Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions
Public Dividend Capital dividends payable
Net finance costs

Other comprehensive income

Allocation of (losses) for the period
(Deficit) for the period attributable to:
Government
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period
attributable to:
Government

Additional information

Financial Position, as reported:
Operating (deficit)/surplus
(Deficit) for the year
Financial Position, excluding expenditure on
e-hospital:
Operating surplus
Total comprehensive (deficit)/surplus for the year
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Year ended
31 March 2015
£000

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000

(2,157)
(16,889)

4,479
(8,392)

13,161
(1,571)

17,556
4,685
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2015
Note
Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non current assets

31 March 2015
£000

31 March 2014
£000

7
8

363,723
32,303
396,026

340,883
12,192
353,075

10
11
12

12,660
67,792
35,953
116,405

10,716
63,509
62,337
136,562

512,431

489,637

(99,474)
(9,260)
(24,142)
(209)
(133,085)

(96,955)
(5,412)
(23,390)
(239)
(125,996)

379,346

363,641

(147,777)
(3,501)
(151,278)

(147,038)
(2,337)
(149,375)

Total assets employed

228,068

214,266

Financed by:
Taxpayers' equity
Public Dividend Capital
Income and expenditure reserve
Non-controlling interest in joint arrangements
Revaluation reserve
Total Taxpayers' equity

124,649
19,789
125
83,505
228,068

121,268
36,413
56,585
214,266

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

13
13
13
14

Total assets less current liabilities
Non current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non current liabilities

13
14

The financial statements on pages 9 to 41 were approved by the Board on 21 May 2015 and signed on its
behalf by:

Ms Jane Ramsey

Dr Keith McNeil

Mr Paul James

Chairman

Chief Executive

Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Public
Dividend Revaluation
Capital
reserve

£000
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2014

121,268

£000

Non- Income and
controlling expenditure
Interest
reserve

£000

56,585

36,413

Deficit for the year
Public Dividend Capital received
Public Dividend Capital repaid
Transfer of the excess of current cost
depreciation over historical cost
depreciation to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve

(16,889)
3,540
(159)

-

-

-

-

-

(265)

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2015

124,649

Total

£000
214,266
(16,889)
3,540
(159)

-

265

-

125

-

125

27,185

-

-

27,185

83,505

125

Equity investment in joint arrangement
Revaluation gains

£000

19,789

228,068

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014

Public
Dividend Revaluation
Capital
reserve

£000
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2013
Deficit for the year
Public Dividend Capital received

119,210

£000

-

44,514

Total

£000
220,971

-

-

(8,392)

(8,392)

2,058

-

-

-

2,058

-

662

-

(371)

-

Other reserve movements

-
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57,247

£000

-

Transfer of the excess of current cost
depreciation over historical cost
depreciation to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2014

£000

Non- Income and
controlling expenditure
Interest
reserve

121,268

(662)
56,585

36,413

(371)
214,266
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015
Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus from continuing operations
Non-cash income and expense:
Loss on disposal
Depreciation and amortisation
Transfer from the donated asset reserve
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
(Increase) in inventories
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Increase in other liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Other movements in operating cash flows
Net cash generated from operations
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sales of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Public Dividend Capital received
Public Dividend Capital repaid
Loans received from Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Loans repaid to Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Capital element of Private Finance Initiative obligations
Interest paid
Interest element of Private Finance Initiative obligations
Public Dividend Capital dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000

(2,157)

4,479

151
19,667
(5,328)
(1,944)
2,336
752
980
(1,095)
15,519
13,362

(101)
18,767
(371)
(5,455)
(470)
734
4,470
(153)
17,421
21,900

139
(20,893)
(14,976)
147
(35,583)

140
(10,348)
(16,046)
429
(25,825)

3,540
(159)
10,000
(3,548)
(1,865)
(3,599)
(4,489)
(4,043)
(4,163)
(26,384)
62,337
35,953

2,058
40,000
(3,548)
(1,875)
(2,931)
(4,409)
(6,219)
23,076
19,151
43,186
62,337

The Foundation Trust held £5k cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2015 (year ended 31 March 2014,
£4k) which relates to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the
cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
IFRS Accounting Policies
1 Accounting policies and other information
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM
Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
2014/15 NHS Foundation Trust’s Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies
contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s
Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation
Trusts. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material
in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets
and financial liabilities.
1.2 Joint operation
Joint operations are arrangements in which the trust has joint control with one or more other parties and
has the rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The trust
includes within its financial statements its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Where the
joint arrangement is loss making the investment in the partnership is impaired to zero by the losses
made, and remaining losses are recognised as a provision due to the constructive obligation.
1.3 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs. It
is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the trust is
contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.
Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year end is apportioned across the
financial years on the basis of the number of occupied bed days and an average cost per bed day.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is
deferred.
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of
treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an
insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and
Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income
is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for
unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.
1.4 Expenditure on other goods and services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received.
It is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating
expenses except where it results in the creation of a non current asset such as property, plant and
equipment.
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1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to
carry-forward leave into the following period.
Pension costs - NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is
an unfunded, defined benefit scheme (which prepares its own scheme statements) that covers NHS
employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in
England and Wales. As a consequence, it is not possible for the Trust to identify its share of the
underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.
Employers’ pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where
the retirement is due to ill health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged at the
time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.6 Research and development
Expenditure on research is not capitalised and is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
it is incurred. The Trust currently has no development expenditure.
To the extent that income and expenditure is netted off as part of research grant accounting, amounts
are grossed up within the Statement of Comprehensive Income to reflect the gross value of expenditure
on research activity.
1.7 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the
Trust;
it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different
asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful
economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost; representing the cost directly attributable
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
Statement of Financial Position at their revalued amounts; being the fair value at the date of revaluation
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts are not materially different from those that
would be determined at the Statement of Financial Position date.
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Fair values are determined as follows:
Land and non specialised buildings – Modern equivalent asset basis
Specialised buildings – Depreciated replacement cost
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified District Valuers in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The land and buildings valuation
was undertaken as at the prospective valuation date of 31 March 2015, applying the modern equivalent
assets valuation basis (no alternative site) which is consistent with IAS (International Accounting
Standard) 16.
Revaluation
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they
reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case
they are recognised in operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance
for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly
attributable costs are added to the asset’s carrying value. Where subsequent expenditure restores the
asset to its original specification assumed by its useful economic life, the expenditure is charged to
operating expenses.
Depreciation and amortisation
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. Properties under construction
that are not yet being used are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged on a straight line basis to write-off the costs or
valuation of tangible and intangible non current assets, over their current estimated useful economic lives
in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. The estimated
useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes being
recognised on a prospective basis.
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether there is any indication that any of
its tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their fair value over the estimated remaining life of
the asset as assessed by professional valuers.
Equipment is depreciated over the following estimated lives:
Asset category
Plant, machinery & vehicles
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

Estimated life in years
5 - 15
5-8
7 - 10
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Impairments
In accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, impairments that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefits or of service potential in the asset are charged to operating
expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure
reserve of an amount equal to the lower of
(i)
the impairment charged to operating expenses; and
(ii)
the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is
reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals
are recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it
would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the
revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as
revaluation gains.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses as they are incurred.
1.8 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of being sold
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.
They are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service
potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as
part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation
of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised, it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which
it is incurred.
Intangible assets are amortised over the following estimated lives:
Asset category
Purchased computer software

Estimated life in years
2 – 12

Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended
by management.
Subsequently, intangible assets are measured at fair value by reference to an active market or, where no
active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for
relevant price increases as a proxy for fair value. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are
treated in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
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1.9 Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment are capitalised at their fair value on receipt.
The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that
future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor,
in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial
years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as the other
items of property, plant and equipment.
1.10 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM
Treasury’s FReM (Financial Reporting Manual), are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’
by the Trust. In accordance with IAS 17, the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and
equipment at their fair value together with an equivalent finance lease liability. Subsequently, the assets
are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, the finance cost
and the charges for services.
The finance cost is allocated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme. The service charge is
recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
1.11 Leases
The Trust as lessee
Operating lease rentals are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.
The Trust as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Leased land
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component
and the classification for each assessed separately.
Operating leases
Other leases are recognised as operating leases and the rentals are charged to the operating expenses on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the
lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.
1.12 Inventories
Inventories comprise mainly consumable medical products.
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The weighted average cost formula is
used for drugs and the first in first out cost formula for all other inventories. This is considered to be a
reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
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1.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on
notice of not more than 24 hours.
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
1.14 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the Trust becomes party to
the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have
been delivered.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or
the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value and are categorised as loans and receivables based
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets. This is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets. The Trust’s loans and receivables
comprise cash and cash equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income and other debtors.
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. The loss is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of a
bad debt provision.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed. This is through the Statement of Comprehensive Income to the extent that
the carrying amount of the receivable at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed the
amortised cost, had the impairment not been recognised.
1.15 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the Trust becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or
services have been received. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and are all classified
as other financial liabilities.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
1.16 Liquidity risk
The Trust’s net operating costs are mainly incurred under legally binding contracts with local CCGs, which
are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. Under Payment by Results, the Trust is paid
for activity on the basis of nationally set tariffs, which significantly reduces the Trust’s liquidity risk.
The Trust finances its capital programme through internally generated resources and external borrowing.
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1.17 Market risk
Interest rate risk
All of the Trust's financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. In addition, the only elements of
the Trust's assets that are subject to a variable rate are short term cash investments. The Trust is not,
therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
Foreign currency risk
The Trust has minimal foreign currency income or expenditure.
Credit risk
The Trust operates primarily within the NHS market and receives the majority of its income from other
NHS organisations. There is therefore little risk that one party will fail to discharge its obligation with the
other. Disputes can arise, however, around how the amounts owed are calculated, particularly due to the
complex nature of the Payment by Results regime. The Trust does not hold any collateral as security.
1.18 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties, such as money held on behalf of patients, are not recognised in the
accounts since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them.
1.19 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over
liabilities at the time of establishment of the original NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is
not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is paid over to the Department of
Health as Public Dividend Capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury
(currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust. Relevant net assets are calculated as
the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for
(i)
donated assets,
(ii)
average daily balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash
balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and
(iii)
any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the
dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit”
version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net
assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual accounts.
Public Dividend Capital is also available to finance capital expenditure on schemes supported by the
Department of Health’s central budget.
1.20 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non current assets. Where output tax is charged
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.21 Corporation Tax
The Trust does not have a corporation tax liability for the year ended 31 March 2015.
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1.22 Contingent assets and liabilities
The Trust had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2015.
Contingent assets are assets arising from past events, whose existence will only be confirmed by one or
more future event not wholly within the Trust’s control. These are disclosed where an inflow of economic
benefit is possible.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Trust’s control; or
present obligations arising from past events, but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic
benefits will occur or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
1.23 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the Statement of Financial Position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties.
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are
discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rate of 1.8% in real terms.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution
is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Although the NHSLA is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust.
The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is £102.4m
(year ended 31 March 2014, £77.2m). No contingencies or provisions are in the accounts at 31 March
2015 in relation to these cases, even though the legal liability for them remains with the Trust.
Non-Clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and in return
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions and any
‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability
arises.
1.24 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed
funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not
arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.
They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses
and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the NHS
Foundation Trust not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal
revenue expenditure).
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations
register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
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1.25 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued by the IASB but
are not yet required to be adopted.
Change

Published
Financial year for which the change first applies
by IASB

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

May-11

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts
with customers

May-14

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IAS 36 (amendment) – recoverable
amount disclosures
Annual Improvements 2012
Annual Improvements 2013
IAS 19 (amendment) – employer
contributions to defined benefit
pension schemes
IFRIC 21 Levies

Jul-14
May-13
Dec-13
Dec-13

Adoption delayed by HM Treasury. To be adopted from
2015/16.
Not yet EU adopted. Expected to be effective from
2017/18.
Not yet EU adopted. Expected to be effective from
2018/19.
To be adopted from 2015/16 (aligned to IFRS 13
adoption)
Effective from 2015/16 but not yet EU adopted
Effective from 2015/16 but not yet EU adopted

Nov-13 Effective from 2015/16 but not yet EU adopted
EU adopted in June 2014 but not yet adopted by HM
May-13 Treasury

The Trust has not early adopted any new accounting standards, amendments or interpretations.
1.26 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and other
relevant factors. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are continually reviewed and revisions are reflected in the relevant accounting periods.
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
Management have made the following critical judgements in applying the Trust’s accounting policies.
The most significant estimate within the account is the value of land and buildings. The land and
buildings have been valued by the District Valuer on a modern equivalent asset basis as at 1 April 2015.
The District Valuer is independent of the Trust and is certified by the Royal Institute of Chartered
surveyors. The valuer has extensive knowledge of the physical estate and market factors. The value
does not take into account potential future changes in market value which cannot be predicted with any
certainty.
The Trusts PFI scheme has been assessed and accounted as on-Statement of Financial Position under
IFRIC 12. The PFI scheme has been valued by the District Valuer on a modern equivalent asset basis as
at 1 April 2015. The £8.9m unitary charge is based on actual charges made by the PFI provider. The
Department of Health model has been used to determine the apportionment between the repayment of
the liability, financing costs, the charges for services and lifecycle maintenance.
In order to report within the government guidelines, the value of patient care activity for the year ended
31 March has been estimated based on data available as at 1 April 2015.
Income for an inpatient stay can be recognised from the day of admission, but cannot be precisely
calculated until after the patient is discharged. For patients occupying beds as at 31 March 2015, the
estimated income from partially completed patient spells was £5.989m (year ended 31 March 2014,
£5.787m).
The Trust has a financial liability for any annual leave earned by staff but not taken by 31 March 2015, to
the extent that staff are permitted to carry leave forward in to the next financial year. The estimated
costs of untaken annual leave as at 31 March 2015 was £1.225m (year ended 31 March 2014, £1.588m).
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Assumptions around the timing of cash flows relating to provisions are based on information from the
NHS Pensions Agency, expert legal opinion within the Trust and external advisors regarding when the
legal issue may be settled.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimations as to the recoverability of receivables and the valuation of inventories has been made in
determining the carrying amounts of these assets, no significant variations are expected.
No key assumptions concerning the future have been required and there are no key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the financial year end. There is no significant risk of a material adjustment to the carrying
value of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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2. Operating income
IFRS 8 requires the disclosure of results of significant operating segments; the Trust considers that it
only has one operating segment, healthcare.

2.1 Operating income

Commissioner Requested Services
Non-Commissioner Requested Services

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
574,241
133,447
707,688

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
553,338
149,335
702,673

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000

2.2 Operating income (by classification)

Income from activities:
Elective income
Non-elective income
Outpatient income
A&E income
Other type of activity income
Private patient income
Other non-protected clinical income
Total income from activities
Other operating income
Research and development
Education and training
Received from charities
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income in respect of staff costs where accounted on gross basis
Other income
Total other operating income
Total operating income

123,452
111,191
117,919
12,821
206,001
5,100
2,857
579,341

134,580
110,305
121,422
12,501
171,148
6,026
3,382
559,364

48,709
33,170
1,178
10,627
2,175
32,488
128,347
707,688

56,750
37,867
11,615
3,437
33,640
143,309
702,673

The statutory limitation on private patient income in section 44 of the 2006 Act was repealed with effect
from 1 October 2012 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

2.3 Operating income (by type)

Income from activities
NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
CCGs and NHS England
Department of Health
Local Authorities
Other Government bodies
Other NHS bodies
Non NHS - Private patients
- Overseas patients
- NHS injury scheme
- Other
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Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
2,552
3,003
549,321
6,000
906
3,692
835
5,100
623
2,234
5,075
579,341

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
4,719
3,969
535,321
1,763
3,771
8
6,026
438
2,944
405
559,364
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2.4 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the Foundation Trust)

Income recognised this year

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
623

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
438

Cash payments received in-year (relating to invoices raised in
current and previous years)

245

438

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (relating
to invoices raised in current and prior years)

334

-

3. Operating expenses
3.1 Operating expenses comprise:
Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
Employee expenses - Staff
Employee expenses - Executive Directors
Employee expenses - Non-Executive Directors
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general (e-hospital)
Supplies and services - general
Drug costs
Grossing up consortium arrangements
Premises and energy
Premises - business rates payable to local authorities
NIHR Infrastructure
Administration
Clinical negligence
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease receipts
Patient travel
Consultancy costs
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Increase in provision for impairment of receivables
Audit services - statutory audit
Other auditor's remuneration
Other

377,533
1,177
85
106,117
200
15,318
8,655
81,269
4,107
49,562
959
12,740
9,979
7,659
6,101
2,643
1,054
18,862
805
437
82
146
4,355
709,845

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
(Restated)
364,590
1,391
86
106,874
312
12,765
8,630
75,677
5,747
53,847
216
13,242
9,918
7,832
6,311
2,527
992
18,513
254
544
76
190
7,660
698,194

Grossing up of research and consortium arrangements; these arrangements exist where we receive ring
fenced funding for research and development, or external funding for hosted consortia arrangements. In
these situations income is often received in advance of expenditure being incurred. At year end unspent
costs are accrued so that expenditure matches income for the year.

Limitations on auditor's liability

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
1,000

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
1,000

The engagement letter states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners and staff (whether in
contract, negligence or otherwise) in respect of services provided in connection with or arising out of the
audit shall in no circumstances exceed £1million in the aggregate in respect of all such services.
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3.2 Whole government accounts analysis

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from Department of Health
Services from Public Health England
Services from Health Education England
Services from CCGs & NHS England
Services from Special Health Authorities
Services from NDPBs & Skipton Fund
Services from other WGA Bodies
Services from Local Authorities
Purchases from non-NHS bodies

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
7,138
5,534
69
660
3
265
7,659
118
66,470
959
620,970
709,845

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
10,561
6,538
4,181
6
489
7,832
115
60,397
608,075
698,194

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
146

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
190

3.3 Other auditor's remuneration

Tax advisory and tax compliance

The majority of tax fees take the form of a ‘gain share’ arrangement where the financial benefit to the
Trust significantly exceeding the fees paid.
4. Arrangements containing an operating lease
4.1 Minimum lease payments
Year ended
31 March 2015

Minimum lease payments

Buildings
£000
919

Year ended
31 March 2014

Plant and
machinery
£000
5,182

Buildings
£000
961

Plant and
machinery
£000
5,350

4.2 Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases
Year ended
31 March 2015

Future minimum lease
payments due:
not later than one year;
later than one year and not
later than five years;
later than five years.
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Year ended
31 March 2014

Buildings

Plant and
machinery

Buildings

Plant and
machinery

£000
126

£000
174

£000
133

£000
522

675
801

2,635
1,381
4,190

675
808

1,587
1,760
3,869
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5. Employee costs and numbers
5.1 Employee costs

Permanently employed
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pensions Agency
Other
Agency and contract staff

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
299,296
25,489
35,089
18,836
378,710

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
291,102
25,030
35,083
14,766
365,981

5.2 Average number of persons employed

Medical and dental
Administrative and estates
Healthcare assistants and other clinical support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Agency and contract staff
Other

Medical and dental
Administrative and estates
Healthcare assistants and other clinical support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Agency and contract staff
Other
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Year ended
31 March 2015
Number
Permanent
1,191
1,535
211
3,439
1,034
115
7,525

Year ended
31 March 2015
Number
Other
68
211
2
472
753

Year ended
31 March 2014
Number
Permanent
1,112
1,583
286
3,287
1,199
118
7,585

Year ended
31 March 2014
Number
Other
53
157
7
365
582
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5.3 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers (April - March 2014/15)

A. Remuneration

Name and title
Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive
Dr Jag Ahluwalia
Executive Medical Director
Ms Jane Ramsey
Chair
Mr Paul James
Chief Financial Officer from 28/07/2014
Mr David Smith
Executive Director of Finance to 31/08/2013
Mr Richard Eley
Interim Chief Finance Officer from
02/09/2013 to 27/07/2014
Dr Karen Castille
Chief Nurse to 31/05/2013
Mr Steven Hams
Interim Chief Nurse from 01/06/2013 to
23/06/2013
Ms Ann-Marie Ingle
Chief Nurse from 01/03/2014
Mrs Frances Cousins
Chief Operating Officer
Mrs Oonagh Monkhouse
Interim Director of Workforce to 31/03/2014
Mr Martin St. Clair Armitage
Executive Director of Corporate
Development to 21/06/2013
Mr David Wherrett
Director of Workforce from 01/04/2014
Dr Pat Troop
Non-Executive Director
Ms Lynne Berry
Non-Executive Director
Dr Michael Knapton
Non-Executive Director
Mr Peter Southwick
Non-Executive Director
Mr Matthew Bullock
Non-Executive Director to 01/08/2013
Dr Mike More
Non-Executive Director
Professor Martin Bobrow
Non-Executive Director to 31/08/2013
Dr Andy Richards
Non-Executive Director from 29/05/2014

Year ended 31 March 2015
Salary
Other
remuneration
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000

Year ended 31 March 2014
Salary
Other
remuneration
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£000
£000

260 - 265

-

260 - 265

-

75 - 80

130 - 135*

75 - 80

130 - 135*

55 - 60

5 - 10***

55 - 60

5 - 10***

120 - 125

-

-

-

-

-

65 - 70

-

105 - 110

-

125 - 130

-

-

-

20 - 25

-

-

-

5 - 10

-

130 - 135

-

115 - 120**

-

140 - 145

-

145 - 150

-

-

-

95 - 100

-

-

-

30 - 35

-

140 - 145

-

-

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

10 - 15

-

-

-

5 - 10

15 - 20

-

5 - 10

-

-

-

5 - 10

-

10 - 15

-

-

-

*Other remuneration for the Medical Director relates to his contract as a Neo-Natal Consultant.
**Interim Chief Nurse remuneration was by salary recharge from Papworth NHS Foundation Trust.
*** Hospital accommodation benefit as agreed by Council of Governors and incurs tax and national
insurance.
Salary and pensions entitlements of senior managers do not include any remuneration paid to NonExecutive Director Professor Patrick Maxwell, the Regius Professor of Physic of the University of
Cambridge, as he is paid directly by the University of Cambridge. The Trust paid £14k to the University
of Cambridge in recognition of his time spent at Board meetings.
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B. Pension Benefits

Name and title

Dr Keith McNeil
Chief Executive Officer
Dr Jag Ahluwalia
Executive Medical Director
Mrs Frances Cousins
Chief Operating Officer
Ms Ann-Marie Ingle
Chief Nurse from 01/03/2014
Mr Paul James
Chief Finance Officer from 28/07/2014
Mr David Wherrett
Director of Workforce from 01/04/2014

Total
Real
accrued
increase in pension and
Cash
pension and related lump equivalent
related lump sum at age
transfer
sum at age
60 at 31
value at 31
60
March 2015 March 2014

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 31
March 2015

(bands of
£2,500)
£000
2.5 - 5

(bands of
£5,000)
£000
5 - 10

£000
70

£000
65

£000
135

7.5 - 10

200 - 205

931

70

1000

7.5 - 10

130 - 135

438

41

479

120 - 122.5

120 - 125

-

545

545

0 - 2.5

0-5

-

19

19

172.5 - 175

170 - 175

-

769

769

The real increase in cash equivalent transfer value is calculated in proportion to time in post.
The above information is based on that provided by the NHS Pensions Agency.
5.4 Median pay
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The actual remuneration of the highest-paid director in Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust in the financial year was £262,600 (year ended 31 March 2014, £260,000). This was 11.7 times
(year ended 31 March 2014, 11.6) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £22,509 (year
ended 31 March 2014, £22,636).
This calculation is based on full-time equivalent staff pay, excluding overtime and other non-standard
payments of the staff at the reporting period end date on an annualised basis.
No employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director (year ended 31 March 2014,
nil). Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind.
It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.
5.5 Retirements due to ill-health
This note discloses the number and additional pension costs for individuals who retired early on ill-health
grounds during the year. There were 9 retirements, at an additional cost of £0.5m borne by NHS
Pensions.
This information has been supplied by NHS Pensio
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5.6 Staff exit Packages
Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Redundancy costs are recognised within other expenditure in note 3.

Year ended 31 March 2015
Number of
compulsory
redundancies
Number
7
10
4
5

Exit package cost band
Up to £10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
Total Number of exit strategies by
type

26

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies
£000
48
163
151
336

Number of
other
departures
agreed
Number
-

698

Cost of agreed
departures
£000
-

-

Total number
of exit
packages by
cost band
Number
7
10
4
5

-

Total cost of
exit packages
£000
48
163
151
336

26

698

Year ended 31 March 2014

Exit package cost band
Up to £10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
Total Number of exit strategies by
type

Number of
compulsory
redundancies
Number
4
7
4
4
1
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Cost of
compulsory
redundancies
£000
18
116
147
275
136
692

Number of
other
departures Cost of agreed
agreed
departures
Number
£000
1
6
3
121
9
673
13

800

Total number
of exit
packages by
cost band
Number
5
7
7
13
1
33

Total cost of
exit packages
£000
24
116
268
948
136
1,492
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6. Finance income and expense
6.1 Finance income

Interest on deposits and receivables

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
139

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
140

Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
3,599
2,990
1,499
8,088

Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
2,931
3,088
1,321
7,340

6.2 Finance costs - interest expense

Loans from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Main finance costs in PFI obligations
Contingent finance costs in PFI obligations
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7. Property, plant and equipment
7.1 Property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2015

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2014
Additions - purchased
Additions - assets purchased
from cash donations
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Disposals
At 31 March 2015

Land

Buildings

£000

£000

PFI
asset
£000

Assets under
construction
£000

Plant and
machinery
£000

Transport
equipment
£000

Information
technology
£000

Furniture
& fittings
£000

Total
£000

62,248
-

219,503
7,741
2,619

60,607
582
-

624
1,635
-

80,792
2,098
-

46
-

21,174
-

8,105
129
11

8,107
70,355

4
(26,971)
202,896

1,304
62,493

22
2,281

77
(2,522)
80,445

46

(80)
(59)
21,035

(23)
(122)
8,100

453,099
12,185
2,630
(17,560)
(2,703)
447,651

33,908
9,990
(37,726)
6,172

5,599
1,420
(7,019)
-

-

53,006
5,093
(2,224)
55,875

31
5
36

14,947
1,602
(59)
16,490

4,725
752
(122)
5,355

112,216
18,862
(44,745)
(2,405)
83,928

62,248
70,355

185,595
196,724

55,008
62,493

624
2,281

27,786
24,570

15
10

6,227
4,545

3,380
2,745

340,883
363,723

Net book value at 31 March 2015:
Owned
70,355
Donated
Government granted
70,355

181,784
14,940
196,724

62,493
62,493

2,281
2,281

23,623
881
66
24,570

10
10

4,529
16
4,545

2,589
148
8
2,745

347,664
15,985
74
363,723

Depreciation:
At 1 April 2014
Provided during the year
Revaluations
Disposals
At 31 March 2015
Net book value:
At 1 April 2014
At 31 March 2015

-

No assets were held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts, with the exception of the PFI asset, which is financed by an on-Statement of Financial Position PFI
contract.
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7.1 Property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2014

Cost or valuation:
At 1 April 2013
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
Transfers
Disposals
At 31 March 2014

Land

Buildings

£000

£000

Assets under
construction
£000

Plant and
machinery
£000

Transport
equipment
£000

Information
technology
£000

Furniture
& fittings
£000

Total
£000

3,096
265
(2,737)
624

82,799
1,683
3
(3,693)
80,792

57
(11)
46

21,223
511
4
(564)
21,174

7,905
219
27
(46)
8,105

441,262
16,099
52
(4,314)
453,099

-

50,918
5,453
(3,365)
53,006

38
4
(11)
31

13,739
1,772
(564)
14,947

4,016
755
(46)
4,725

97,689
18,513
(3,986)
112,216

204,139
12,609
52
2,703
219,503

60,220
387
60,607

24,788
9,120
33,908

4,190
1,409
5,599

61,823
62,248

179,351
185,595

56,030
55,008

3,096
624

31,881
27,786

19
15

7,484
6,227

3,889
3,380

343,573
340,883

Net book value at 31 March 2014:
Owned
62,248
Donated
Government granted
62,248

172,666
12,929
185,595

55,008
55,008

624
624

26,559
1,144
83
27,786

15
15

6,206
20
1
6,227

3,206
163
11
3,380

326,532
14,256
95
340,883

Depreciation:
At 1 April 2013
Provided during the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2014
Net book value:
At 1 April 2013
At 31 March 2014

61,823
425
62,248

PFI
asset
£000

-
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7.3 Profit on disposals of non-current assets
31 March 2015
£000
147
(298)
(151)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Net book value of property, plant and equipment disposed of

31 March 2014
£000
429
(328)
101

7.4 Capital commitments
Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at the Statement of Financial position date were:
31 March 2015
£000
7,230

31 March 2014
£000
22,400

Purchased
computer
software
£000

Intangible
assets under
construction
£000

Total
£000

3,733
1,462
31,267
(234)
36,228

11,813
19,454
(31,267)
-

15,546
20,916
(234)
36,228

Property, plant and equipment

8. Intangible assets
8.1 Intangible assets as at 31 March 2015

Cost or valuation:
Cost at 1 April 2014
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
Disposals
At 31 March 2015
Amortisation:
Amortisation at 1 April 2014
Charged during the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2015
Net book value:
Purchased net book value at 1 April 2014
Purchased net book value at 31 March 2015

3,354
805
(234)
3,925

379
32,303

-

11,813
-

3,354
805
(234)
3,925

12,192
32,303

8.1 Intangible assets as at 31 March 2014
Purchased
computer
software
£000
Cost or valuation:
Cost at 1 April 2013
Additions purchased
At 31 March 2014

3,703
30
3,733

Amortisation:
Amortisation at 1 April 2013
Charged during the year
At 31 March 2014

3,100
254
3,354

Net book value:
Purchased net book value at 1 April 2013
Purchased net book value at 31 March 2014

603
379

Intangible
assets under
construction
£000
1,495
10,318
11,813

-

1,495
11,813

Total
£000
5,198
10,348
15,546

3,100
254
3,354

2,098
12,192

Intangible assets represent a vision Cambridge University Hospitals (CUH) and Papworth NHS Foundation
Trust share to create a comprehensive electronic patient record which we have called e-Hospital. The
figures shown here only relate to the CUH position.
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9. Investments
£000
125
(125)
-

Carrying value at 1 April 2014
Equity investment
Share of profit/(loss)
Carrying value at 31 March 2015

This investment relates to The Pathology Partnership. The Partnership is a joint venture between CUH
and five other NHS Trusts in the East of England and will transform and modernise pathology services for
hospitals and GP practices, initially across Cambridgeshire, Suffolk, Essex and Hertfordshire.
In its initial set-up period this venture is loss making, thus in accordance with International Accounting
Standards 28 & 39 we have impaired the investment in the partnership to zero by the losses made, and
recognised the remaining loss as a provision due to the constructive obligation.
10. Inventories
10.1 Inventories comprise
31 March 2015
£000
3,469
9,070
121
12,660

Drugs
Consumables
Energy

31 March 2014
£000
1,991
8,487
238
10,716

10.2 Inventories movements

Brought forward
Additions
Utilised

Brought forward
Additions
Utilised
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Drugs
£000
1,991
82,747
(81,269)
3,469

31 March 2015
Consumables
£000
8,487
115,555
(114,972)
9,070

Energy
£000
238
133
(250)
121

Total
£000
10,716
198,435
(196,491)
12,660

Drugs
£000
1,621
75,996
(75,626)
1,991

31 March 2014
Consumables
£000
8,341
106,708
(106,562)
8,487

Energy
£000
284
206
(252)
238

Total
£000
10,246
182,910
(182,440)
10,716
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11. Trade and other receivables
11.1 Trade and other receivables
Financial
assets
31 March 2015

Non-financial
assets
31 March 2015

Financial
assets
31 March 2014

Non-financial
assets
31 March 2014

£000
15,834

£000
-

£000
28,775

£000
-

Amounts falling due within
one year:
NHS receivables
Other receivables with related
parties
Provision for the impairment of
receivables
Prepayments
Accrued income
PDC receivable
VAT receivable
Other trade receivables

6,108

-

5,812

-

(4,521)
21,590
2,427
18,089
59,527

8,265
8,265

(4,380)
18,340
2,206
6,141
56,894

5,570
1,045
6,615

NHS receivables are considered recoverable because the majority of trade is with Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs), as commissioners for NHS patient care services. As CCGs are funded by the government
to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary. Similarly other
receivables with related parties are with other government bodies, so no credit scoring of them is
considered necessary.
Prepayments and accrued income are neither past their due date nor impaired.
Other trade receivables become due immediately as we offer no credit terms.
11.2 Provision for impairment of other trade receivables

Balance at the beginning of the year
Increase in allowance recognised in the income statement
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts reversed
Balance at the end of the year

31 March 2015
£000
4,380
2,643
(296)
(2,206)
4,521

31 March 2014
£000
4,408
544
(572)
4,380

Trade
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000
4,521
4,521

Trade
Receivables
31 March 2014
£000
4,380
4,380

11.3 Ageing of impaired receivables

Less than 1 month
Less than 2 months
Less than 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
Over 12 months
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11.4 Ageing of receivables past their due date but not impaired

Less than 1 month
Less than 2 months
Less than 3 months
3 - 6 months
6 - 12 months
Over 12 months

Trade
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000
14,329
3,535
5,228
3,131
2,539
28,762

Other
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000
51,958
51,958

Trade
Receivables
31 March 2014
£000
20,685
4,102
3,305
2,856
1,981
32,929

Other
Receivables
31 March 2014
£000
30,580
30,580

The Trust recognises impairment losses on other trade receivables when there is a breach of contract.
This is deemed to have occurred if the outstanding receivable has not been settled within 1 year or more
of the invoice date or if a medical insurance company has underpaid.
12. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March 2015
£000
62,337
(26,384)
35,953

Balance as at 1 April
Net change in year
Balance as at 31 March
Consisting of:
Cash with Government Banking Service
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents

34,922
1,031
35,953

31 March 2014
£000
43,186
19,151
62,337

68,547
(6,210)
62,337

13. Trade and other payables
13.1 Trade and other payables
Financial
liabilities
31 March 2015
£000
Amounts falling due within
one year:
NHS payables - revenue
Amounts due to other related
parties - revenue
Other trade payables - capital

Non-financial
liabilities
31 March 2015
£000

Financial
liabilities
31 March 2014
£000

Non-financial
liabilities
31 March 2014
£000

1,956

-

2,737

-

17
739

-

877

-

Other trade payables - revenue
Accruals
PAYE and other social security
costs
PDC Payable
Other

16,994
70,437

-

14,107
70,364

-

321
1,005

8,005
-

983

7,887
-

Total trade and other payables

91,469

8,005

89,068

7,887
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13.2 Other liabilities
Financial
liabilities
31 March 2015
£000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Deferred income
Pension scheme liability
Total other liabilities
-

Non-financial
liabilities
31 March 2015
£000
19,036
5,106
24,142

Financial
liabilities
31 March 2014
£000
-

Non-financial
liabilities
31 March 2014
£000
18,454
4,936
23,390

13.3 Borrowings
Financial
liabilities
31 March 2015
£000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Loans from Foundation Trust
Financing Facility

7,398

Obligations under Private
Finance Initiative contracts

7,398
Amounts falling due in greater than one year:

Loans from Foundation Trust
Financing Facility

94,636

Obligations under Private
Finance Initiative contracts

94,636
102,034

Total borrowings

Non-financial
liabilities
31 March 2015
£000

Financial
liabilities
31 March 2014
£000

Non-financial
liabilities
31 March 2014
£000

-

3,548

-

1,862
1,862

3,548

1,864
1,864

53,141
53,141
55,003

92,034
92,034
95,582

55,004
55,004
56,868

13.4 Borrowings
FT Loan
31 March 2015
£000
Amounts falling due:
In one year or less
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
Over five years
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7,398
7,398
21,695
65,543
102,034

PFI Initiative
31 March 2015
£000
1,862
1,964
5,745
45,432
55,003

FT Loan
31 March 2014
£000
3,548
7,398
22,087
62,549
95,582

PFI Initiative
31 March 2014
£000
1,864
1,862
5,895
47,247
56,868
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13.5 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) scheme
The PFI scheme is to design, build, maintain and operate (through facilities management and related
services) a 128 bed Elective Care, Genetics and Diabetes Centre at the Trust. The centre became
operational in April 2007. The contract start date of the PFI scheme was 13 February 2007 and the end
date is 12 February 2037.
The facilities within the centre include Diabetes Research Facilities which will be utilised by the University
of Cambridge. These facilities are funded by the University of Cambridge and the Medical Research
Council and have no effect on the Trust’s cost structures.
The contract requires the Trust to make a unitary payment that totals £8.9m annually. It is charged
monthly and adjusted for any penalties relating to adverse performance against output measures
describing all relevant aspects of the contract. The Trust has a voluntary break option subject to a 12
months’ written notice.
Under IFRS the £8.9m unitary charge is apportioned between the repayment of the liability, financing
costs and the charges for services. The service charge is recognised in operating expenses under
“Premises” and the finance costs are charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
The Trust has not entered into any ‘off-Statement of Financial Position’ arrangements.
The Trust is committed to make the following payments for ‘on-Statement of Financial
Position’ PFIs obligations during the next year in which the commitment expires:

21st to 25th years (inclusive)

31 March 2015
£000
9,013

31 March 2014
£000
8,632

31 March 2015
£000
2,049
8,719
47,804
58,572

31 March 2014
£000
2,029
8,634
50,817
61,480

Commitments in respect of the service element of the PFI

In one year or less
later than one year and not later than five years
Over five years

13.6 FT loan obligation
The borrowings are an unsecured loan between the Trust and the Secretary of State for Health. The total
facility available is £121.3m all of which has been drawn down.
Loan repayment schedule

Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan
Loan

1
2
3
4
5

Initial loan amount
£21.3m
£10.0m
£10.0m
£30.0m
£50.0m
£121.3m
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Annual repayment dates
June and December
January and July
September and March
April and October
June and December

End of term
2030
2034
2019
2035
2027
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14. Provisions
14.1 Provisions

31 March 2015
£000
162
47
209

Amounts falling due within one year:
Pensions relating to other staff
Legal claims
Amounts falling due in greater than one year:
Pensions relating to other staff
Legal claims
Other
Total provisions

31 March 2014
£000
159
80
239

2,369
37
1,095
3,501

2,267
70
2,337

3,710

2,576

Other

Total

£000
1,095
1,095

£000
2,576
1,207
118
(291)
(54)
154
3,710

209

14.2 Provisions for liabilities
and charges analysis
Pensions
Analysis of provisions
At 1 April 2014
Arising during the period
Change in discount rate
Utilised during the period
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discounts
At 31 March 2015

Expected timing of cash flows:
Not later than one year;
Later than one year and not
later than five years;
Later than five years.

£000
2,426
118
(167)
154
2,531

Legal
claims
£000
150
112
(124)
(54)
84

162

47

-

579
1,790
2,531

37
84

1,095
1,095

1,711
1,790
3,710

The provision for pension costs relates to additional pension liabilities arising from early
retirements. Unless due to ill health these are not funded by the NHS Pension Scheme. The full amount
of such liabilities is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income at the time the Trust commits
itself to the retirement.
Other provisions relate to the joint arrangement in “The Pathology Partnership”. The joint arrangement is
loss making so the investment in the partnership is impaired to zero by the losses made, and remaining
losses are recognised as a provision due to the constructive obligation.

Accounts year ended 31 March 2015

Page 39

15. Financial instruments
15.1 Financial assets

NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets
Non-NHS Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and receivables
31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000
£000
15,834
28,775
43,693
28,119
35,953
62,337
95,480
119,231

15.2 Financial liabilities

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts
NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets
Non-NHS Trade and other payables excluding non financial assets
Provisions under contract

31 March 2015
£000
102,034
55,003
1,956
89,513
3,710
252,216

31 March 2014
£000
95,582
56,868
2,737
86,331
2,576
244,094

31 March 2015
£000
100,938
11,073
27,440
112,765
252,216

31 March 2014
£000
94,719
9,260
28,630
111,485
244,094

31 March 2015
£000
94,636
53,141
3,501
151,278

31 March 2014
£000
92,034
55,004
2,337
149,375

15.3 Maturity of financial liabilities

In
In
In
In

one year or less
more than one year but not more than two years
more than two years but not more than five years
more than five years

15.4 Fair value non current financial liabilities
Borrowings excluding Finance lease and PFI liabilities
Obligations under Private Finance Initiative contracts
Provisions under contract

15. Related party transactions
The Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.
Government Departments and their agencies are considered by HM Treasury as being related parties.
During the year the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with other NHS bodies.
In addition, the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions in the ordinary course of its
business with other Government Departments and other central and local Government bodies. Most of
these transactions have been with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs in respect of deduction and
payment of PAYE, and Cambridge City Council in respect of payment of rates.
Information on directors’ remuneration as required by the Companies Act 2006 and IAS 24 is disclosed in
note 5.
During the year, none of the Board Members, members of the key management staff or parties related to
them have undertaken any material transactions with the Trust.
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16. Related parties

Department of Health
Other NHS bodies
Other WGA/local authority
Other related parties arising
from Ministers and other senior
DH officials

Department of Health
Other NHS bodies
Other WGA/local authority
Other related parties arising
from Ministers and other senior
DH officials

Income
Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
46,376
649,847
-

8,105
704,328
Income
Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
54,531
603,779
-

8,749
667,059

Expenditure
Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
69
21,377
67,429

26,107
114,982
Expenditure
Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
29,722
-

29,892
59,614

Receivables
Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
6,101
25,721
8,935

Payables
Year ended
31 March 2015
£000
467
6,306
13,702

3,903
44,660
Receivables
Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
1,757
39,928
-

17,061
37,536
Payables
Year ended
31 March 2014
£000
50
9,866
-

3,422
45,107

1,926
11,842

17. Losses and Special Payments
31 March 2015

31 March 2015

31 March 2014

31 March 2014

Total number of
cases
Number

Total value of
cases
£000

Total number of
cases
Number

Total value of
cases
£000

Bad debts and claims
abandoned
Compensation under legal
obligation

15

280

-

-

197
212

177
457

197
197

296
296

There were no clinical negligence; fraud cases; personal injury cases; compensation under either legal
obligation cases or fruitless payment cases where the net cash payment exceeded £0.25m.
These amounts are reported on an accruals basis but excluding provisions for future losses.
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